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Chapter VII

ANALYSIS ACCORDING TO LIFE DATA

1. Biases in Recorded Material

Looking at the existing biographical records we find
that they are considerably biased towards certain elements of
the population. The main biases are as follows:

{(a) Against women_and children. The proportion of women and

children to men in the present lists is of the order of 1 : 100,

(b) Against non-Muslims. Here the bias in the recorded

material leads to their almost total neglect, and the handful
of non-Muslims who are mentioned in the chronicles or the
biographical literature find a place as a result of being
outsfanding persons, either through being the leaders of their
communities, such as C.200 and A, 236, or through holding key
professional posts at the amir'!s court such as C, 162, C, 735,
Despite clear evidence for the existence of a Jewish
community in al-Qayrawdn provided by the Cairo genizah1 and
and names of localities in al-Qayrawdn (e.g., Siq al--Yahﬁd),2

and the well-known Jewish physicians which the city either

1 S.D. Goitein, Studies in Islamic History and Institutions,
p. 314, See also Louis Ginsberg, A Commentary on_the
Palestinian Talmud, vol. 1 (intro.) (New York, 1941), pp. 43-44.

2 S.D. Goitein states that despite the mention of Siiq al-Yahid
in Arabic sources there is no mention of it in the genizah
documents. It is possible that the people who used this name
were non-Jews. See A Mediterranean Society, vol. 2 (Berkeley
and ‘Los ;Andeles, 1967), p. 292,
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produced or attracted, the proportion of Jews in the present
lists is very small.

Bad treatment accorded to Jews and Christians is
mentioned in connection with the rule of ziyidat Allih II;
this, however, does not mean that the Muslims escaped this
situation, which led to the rebellion of Manglir al-Tunbudhi
in A,H.,208., The era of Ibrahim II saw maltreatment of the
people as a whole. However, the Jews and Christians suffered
particularly from the religious policy of ‘Abd Allih b, TAalib
(A.222), He forced the people of the Book to wear distin-
guishing marks and not to wear the same clothes as Muslims,
He is said to have marked their houses., All this means first,
the presence of a sizeable community of Christians and Jews,
secondly, that they were indistinguishable from the Muslims
before Ibn T&alib, and thirdly that they were living with the

Muslims in the same quartérs to that their houses had to be

marked.1

The Christian community is mentioned in al-Qayrawin
from the second century of the Hijrah. Qustis al-Nagrani
(C. 200)2 was the head of this community during the early years
of the rule of al-Fagl b, Rawh b, Hitim (A, 63), and he
obtained the permission of the wdlil to build a church, which

was called the church of Qustds (kanisat gustas).3

A building in al-Zayyadiyyah in al-Qayrawan was

known as al-kanisah (the church); in the second half of the

! Al-Maliki, vol., 1, p. 381. For details of the policy of Ibn
Talib towards the Jews and Christians, see M,A, Makki, "Kit3ib
Ahkam al-Siq of Yahya b, ‘Umar" in RIEEI, wol. 4 (1956), p. 128.

2 See Chapter III above and sec. 4 '"Analysis of Religious
Affiliations", below, p. 4590.

3 Ibn al-Raglq, p. 184, For the Christians in Ifrilqiya before
the Aghlabids, see Marston Speight, "Témoignage des sources
Musulmanes sur la presence chrétienne au Maghreb de 26-747 3
184-800" in IBLA (1972), pp. 73-96.
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third century it was mentioned as being a prison (during the
rule of Ibr&him b, Ahmad).

One of the physicians of Yazid b. H&tim al-Muhallabi
(A. 57) was a Christian, by the name of Yuhanni; he secems
to have come from the east with the Muhallabids. During the
life of Sahniin b, Sa‘'id (A. 140) there was some kind of hier-
archical organisation of the Christian faith in al-Rayrawin
Or near it,1 and some authors think that Qayrawdn may have been
the seat of a bishop during the third century of the Hijrah.2

There was a quarter in al-Qayrawan called Hayy al=-Rim
(Quarter of the Byzantines). This may have begun as a
Christian quarter in al-Qayrawdn, as it does not seem to have
been inhabited by Byzantines when it is mentioned in the second
half of the third century of the Hijrah; instead, it was
inhabited by a people called al-Haririyyﬁn.3 Whether they were
originally Byzantines or not is not clear., At all events,
Byzantines must at one stage have been an element in the
population of al-Qayrawan.4

(c) Against the poor and slaves. This bias does not require

elaboration, but may be conveniently exemplified in regard to
monumental inscriptions: the most reliable records available
for the present work are tombstone inscriptions, since there
are original contemporary documents; but any group of tomb-
stones for a particular period is Biased in the sense that
since not every family could afford a tombstone, they only

record the burials of better-off persons,

T A1-ME1iki, vol. 1, p. 268.

2 A,J, Arberry (ed,), Religion in the Middle East, vol, 1
(Cambridge, 1969), p. 283,

3 Al-Miliki, vol. 1, p, 401, The jurist Yahya b, ‘Umar was
critical of some of these people's religious practices,

4 p1-Ya'qibl, Kitdb al-Buldan, p, 348,
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(d) Against vital data which is not connected with law or

theology. The biographers!' interests lay mainly in their
subjects?! contributions to tradition or jurisprudence, and

their life data were not accorded particular importance,

2, Analysis and Identification of Occupations

{(a) Ruling Class

(i) Governors (wdlis and amirs)

There are one hundred and fifteen individuals des-
cribed as governors of one kind or another, The period of

these governors (wdlis, amirs) extends from the beginning of

the conquest to the fall of the Aghlabid state in A.H.296,
Forty-four were governor-generals who were either installed
by the caliph or had his tacit approval in assuming the
governorship. There were several exceptions to this (i.e., of
men defying the caliph and seizing the governorship) but this
only happened during times in which the caliphate itself was

threatened.

The remainder of the individuals mentioned below are
the provincial governors of the various provinces of Ifriqiyi,
especially those on the province's frontiers, e.g., Sicily and
al-zab, There were more than twenty wdlis of Sicily alone
during the Aghlabid rule over the island (A.H.212-296), Other
provinces whose governors are mentioned in the present lists
are; Spain (in the first half of the second century), Tunis,
al-Arbus, Tripoli, al-zZib (Tabnah), Bajah, Zuwaylah, Jerbah,
Milah, Sicily, Wardajah, Tangiers (in the first and the first
half of the second century) and Qaliriyyah (south of Italy), etc.

The provincial governors considered here include the
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Fatimid governors in the early years of the Fatimid state,

The individuals who are described as governors in our present
lists are:

A.2, A.3, A.4, A.8, A9, A, 15, A, 16, A.19, A.20, A.,23, A.24,
A.25, A.,28, A.29, A.30, A.40, A.41, A.42, A,48, A, 51, A.53,
A.,57, A,59, A.63, A.66, A,68, A, 78, A.81, A,87, A,92, A.118,
A,121, A.129, A.130, A.135, A.142, A.150, A.,153, A.,158, A,167,
A,171, A,172, A.173, A.186, A.193, A,196, A,197, A.216, A,257,
A.279, A.200, A.203, A.313, A.362, A.376, A.396,

B.3, B.35, B.31, B.106, B.107,

c.47, C.50, C.69, c,70, C.76, C.77, C.86, C,95, C.96, C, 101,
c.107, Cc.112, C.123, C.127, C.142, C.144, C,146, C.158, C.173,
c.193, C.195, C.199, Cc.228, C.232, C,247, C.254, C.292, C.318,
c.319, C,360, C.366, C.381, C.382, C.387, C.401, C.415, C,436,
c.571, ¢,572, C.587, C.588, C.589, C.592, C.601, C.602, C,604,

c.612, c,613, C.614, C.683, C.684, C,685, C,720, C.726, C,816.

(ii) Ministers and Chamberlains

There are eleven ministers (wazir, pl. wuzari'’) and
thirteen chamberlains (h&jib, pl. hujjab) in the present lists.,
The distinction between the two posts in practice is very small,
The first minister to be heard of in Ifriqiyd was Sa‘id“b.
Hamid (minister of Yazid b, Hatim al-Muhallabi). The post of
minister was occupied by a TamimI family from the beginning of
the third century (see Pedigree No, 44). However, we hear
nothing more about this post after the conflict between the two
Aghlabid brothers Ahmad and Muhammad in which the ministers of
the two amirs played a major part. The aim of Ahmad b,
al-Aghlab was to rid himself of the two ministers of his
brother Muhammad, who were an obstacle between him and the

complete domination of the state.
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The conflict ended in favour of Muhammad b,
al-Aghlab, but from that time until the end of the Aghlabid
state only one minister is mentioned,viz.A,241, The function
of aminister seems to have been taken over .by the chamberlain,

Ministers and chamberlains were chosen mainly from
two categories of people: (i) prominent families of
al-Qayrawan, such as cadet branches of the ruling family, e.g.,
Qurhub, and those families who shared the same tribal origin
as the Aghlabids, i.e., Tamim.1 (ii) Futydn. These werxe
mainly Slavs brought from Sicily and the south of Europe.
Their names are usually given in the simple form of the ism
alone, e.g., Fath, Khigr, ‘Alldn, Hay&at, together with the
function the bearer carried out at the court, such as
al-hijib (chamberlain), al-khddim (servant) or al-gd’id (the
military commander),

The Ministers and chamberlains who are mentioned in
the present lists are:

Ministers: A.,92, A,123, A.126, A.334, A.337, B.66, C,165,
c.182, C.434, C,435, C.593,
Chamberlains: A.231, A.238, C,100, C.413, C,642, C,591, C,776,

c.777, c.788, C€,791, C.795, C.856, C.861,

(iii) Heads of Government Departments (al-Dawawin)

Eighteen individuals who are described as heads of
one of the dawawin of the government, The first diwin in any
new administration in the newly conquered province was that of
the igggz The head of the diwdn of the jund was apparéhtly'

the wdli himself,

1 E.g., the family of Hamid al-Tamimi (Ssee Pedigree No. 44)
and that of Bani al-$amgdmah, the rulers in al-Zab;
M. al-Shabl ’ p . 29 °

2 See below: - , 3. Analysis of the Origins of the Population,
pp. 456-458, '
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The second diwan established in Ifriqiyi was that
of the tithe (al-‘ushr), which developed into the diwin of
al-khardj (land tax). The first Head of the Tithe was A,12,
who was one of the soldiers of ‘Ugbah b, Nifi* al-Fihri, The
second mention of a head of the kharaj is that of Hafg, a
mawld of Himyir (C.64). A Kharijite (C.119), head of the

diwan of al-khardj,was appointed during their brief rule over

al-Qayrawan,

In the Aghlabid period the diwadn continued to exist,
and a certain Hudhayl al-Naf{i held it until his execution1
for which no reason is advanced by the historians, Another
Aghlabid tax official was Ahmad b, ‘All b, Muslim al=-Bakrl
(C.785), whose rank in the diwan is not known, but judging
from his wealth it must have been high.

It seems that the diwdn was not held by any member
of the Christian or Jewish communities in the city, and the
one Christian who was offered the post was offered it on
condition that he became a Muslim. However, at the beginning
of Muslim rule in North Africa the wdlis did not hesitate to

appoint the head of the diwin of al-khardj from the Christians

or the Jews, and the appointment of Ibr&him b, al-Nagrani to
the diwin of the khar3dj of Bargah in A,H.78 is evidence of this,

In the 'Fatimid period, the diwan of al-khardj was

retained and a new diwdn al-khums (fifth) was introduced in

addition. One of the heads of this new diwdn was C.782. The

diwdn_al-barid (post) was held in the Aghlabid period by men

such as A,337 and C.253, Another diwdn was the diwan al-khabar

(information and intelligence). The diwdn al-kashf (finance)

was anew department in the Fitimid state,

1 1bn ‘Idhari, vol. 1, p. 136,
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The heads of the government department of the nmint

(s&hib_al-sikkah) in the Aghlabid period were chosen mainly

from the mawdli of the amir, e.g. Baliagh (C.584), ‘Alliin
(C.348), Jubran (C.416), and Khattib (C.768). The reason
behind this was the personal loyalty the amir commanded among
his futyan.

"The individuals who are described as heads of
governmental departments in the present lists are: A,12, A,302,
A.337, A.405, B.66, C.64, C.119, C,253, C.276, C.416, C,584,

c.768, c.782, C,785, C.786, C.795, C.803, C.807, C.814, C.873,

(iv) Lieutenants of the Amirs or Caliphs (rijil al-amir)

This is a category of men who did not have a fixed
title but were in the service of the amirs, Some of them had
the function of advisers, without the formal title of adviser.
They came from a wide spectrum of the population, with mdhy
mawili and khadam among them, Some of them were from the Arab
aristocracy. A number were given administrative posts after
serving in the court of the amir, One of these was Abidl Harian
Misi, the mawld of Ibrdhim b. al-Aghlab, who was appointed
head of the land tax department. Many of the Arab aristocratic
families played a role in the formation of the amir'!s policies
without actually accepting official posts, One of these
families was that of ‘*Amrilin b. Zurdrah (see Pedigree No, 32),
and another was that ofﬂQadim al-Hanafi (see Pedigree No, 18),
The Aghlabid family itself produced some of these individuals,
€,9.y C.420 who acted as an adviser to the amir.

The lieutenants of the governors of Ifriqiya in the
present lists are:

A.360, A,368, C.23, C.99, C.236, C.276, C.292, C,296, C.410,

C.411, C.539, C.723, C.775, C.920, C.936.
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(v) Secretaries to the Wilis, Amirs, and Caliphs

The first secretary (k&tib) to the wili of Ifriqiya
was the secretary of ‘Ugbah b, Nafi‘' al-Fihri, He was Dujayn
b. ‘Amir al-Hajri (A.10). Being the secretary of the will °
was the starting point for some to attain the governorship,
as in the case of A,16, who was a secretary of al-Hajjaj
al-Thaqafl before his appointment as will of Ifriqiya, and
‘Ubayd Alldh b, al-Habhdb who held the governorship of Egypt
plus thé\whoie of the Islamic west, Most of the early secret-
aries were non-Arabs (mainly Persians), including the secretary
of the Caliph Marwan II, |

In the second century, the number of Arabs who were
serving as secretaries increased. One of these was a Qay;awani
by the name of Kh&alid b, Rabitah al-Ifriqi (C.84). He was the
secretary to ‘Abd al-Rahmin b. Habib al-FihrI (A.40). The |
friendship between Khalid and ‘Abd al-Hamid al-Katlb, the
caliph's secretary, helped to ease the strained relations
between the caliph and ‘Abd al-Rahmin b, Hablb over the latter's
seizure of power in Ifriqiyia. _

The other secretary to have come from al-Qayrawdn was
Dawldd al~Qayrawdni who was the secretary of Muhammad b, Mugitil
al-‘Akki, the wall of Ifriqiya, who was dismissed in A, H.184,
D3wid was involved in the forging of a letter from the caliph
dismissing Ibrdhim b. al-Aghlab, but the forgery was discovered.
Despite this D;wﬁd returned to al-Qayrawan where he was employed
by the Aghlabids, His son (C,350) served as a secretary as well,

Many of the secretaries were also poets and authors.
One of these was Ahmad b, Hayylin al-Baridi (A.224), who was 5
great writer in both poetry and prose. Despite the letter which

he sent from his condemned cell to the amir, IbrZhim II,
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Pleading for his life, and which was considered a fine piéce

of 1iterature,1 he was executed by Ibr&Zhim and was added to

the long list of talented people put to death by this gg;;.z
The secretaries to the governors of Ifriqiy& in the

present lists are:

A, 10, A, 16, A,100, A,349, C,89, C,116, C.164, C.350, C.427,

c.650, C,749, C,755, C.804, C,.883,

(vi) Ambassadors

There are six individuals who are described as
ambassadors or representatives of either the amir of al-Qayrawin
or of the caliph or other foreign states., In addition to the
caliph's ambassadors and the ambassadors of the Aghlabids there
was diplomatic contact with the Frankish empire, which was
strengthened by the emergence of the Umayyad state of Spain,
Muhammad b, Mugdatil al-‘Akki was the first to establish
relations with the Frankish emperor, and he offered him arms.3
However, the people of Ifriqiyd objected to the policy of
al-‘Akki, and al-Bahldl b, Rashid led the opposition against
him, and in the end the garrison of Tunis was quick to depose
him, paving the way for the ambitious Ibr&him b, al-Aghlab,

Ibrshim b, al-Aghlab continued the policy of his

predecessor, and sent a representative with the ambassador

of the Caliph al-Rashid to the court of Charlemagne in A,H,184

(A.D.800-801 ),
1

Ibn al-Khatlb, vol. 3, pp. 30-32,

2 These included the judge ‘Abd Allih b. Ahmad b, Tilib (A.222),
the chamberlain Nagr b, al-$imgamah (A,231), the physician Ishéq
b. ‘Imr3n al-Mutatabib (A.237), the other chamberlain Fath
al-Hijib (A.238), Sawadah al-Nagrdnli (A.236) and a considerable
number of his futyin; see Ibn ‘'IdhXZri, vol. 1, pp. 122-123;

Ibn al-Kha}ib, vol., 3, p. 20,

3 Aba al-‘*Arab, Kitdb al-Mihan, vol, 163a; Abli al-‘Arab is not
sure what the emperor asked of al-‘Akkl; some said it was a
female singer, or copper and iron,

4 Annales Laurissenses, in Carolingian .Chronjicles,. trans. B.W.
Scholz (Ann Arbor, 1970), p.82; N. Daniel, The Arabs and
Medieval Europe (Beirut, 1975), pp. 51-52,
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The ambassadors and the representatives of the
Aghlabids went to the east on several missions, some of which
had the aim of attracting talented people to come to IfrlqiyX,
others the facilitating of the import of manufactured goods
which were only made in the east.1

There was a residence for the ambassador of the

caliph called Qubbat ibn ‘Abd al--Salam.2

The above six individuals who are mentioned in
connection with diplomatic missions are included in the present

lists under the numbers:

c.43, C.287, c.289, C.432, C.682, C,730,

(vii) Chiefs of Police

There are seven individuals who are described as

chiefs of policé (¢dhib al=-shuriah). The wdlis appointed
chiefs of police as far back as the Umayyad period. The first
mention of a chief of police comes from the period of the
Umayyad wdli Hanzalah b, Safwdn al~-Kalbi (A,H.124-126). This
was ‘Abd al~‘Aziz b. Qays b, Muslim al-Kinani (C.91), who was
a member of a prominent family of al-Qayrawdn (see Pedigree
No, 21). He served Hanzalah b, Safwdn and after him ‘Abd
al-Rabﬁan b. Habib al-Fihri, |
The next mention of a chief of police comes from the
period when the Abbasid authority was established over Ifriqiya
by Ibn al~Ash‘ath al-Khuzd'i, His chief of police was C,128,
One of the walis of Ifriqiyad was an ex-chief of police in the
administration of Yazid b. H&itim during his rule over Egypt (B.31).
The first chief of police in the Aghlabid state was

Abli *Azlz (C.297), who succeeded ‘Abb3s b, Tarhin, the chief

1
2

Ibn ‘Idhari, vol, 1, p. 141,
Al-Dabbigh, vol, 1, p. 301,

|

|
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of police of the deposed willi (C.252)., Another Aghlabid chief
of police was ‘Amir b, Mu‘ammar b, Sinin al-Taymi (C.201).
The chief of police during the rule of Muhammad b, al-Aghlab
was a member of the family of Hamzah al-Jarawl (band Hamzah);
his name was Ibn Suli{in (C.426). He enforced the policy of
Ahmad b, al-Aghlab towards the Mu‘tazilites.1

The chiefs of police in the present lists are:

B.29, B.31, c,91, C.128, C.252, C,291, C,297, C.426,

(b) Military Professions

(i) Military Commanders

There are a hundred and ninety individuals who are
described as military commanders (gi’'id, pl. gidah). One
hundred and twenty of these were in service during the first
one and a half centuries, This underlines the fact that the
province of Ifrigiyd was unstable owing to the wars of conquest
and their consequences, and the conflict between the Muslims
and the Byzantines and Berbers and the conflict among the

Muslims themselves.

The Aghlabids were the first to succeed in breaking
the circle of conflict by forming an administration from within
Ifrigiy&i. They phased out the jund (the army of the caliphate)
and overcame the problems which resulted from this step. In
the first and second centuries almost all the military com-
manders were Arabs or mawdlil of Arab tribes, but in the third
century all this changed and the military commanders were either
slaves (khadam who came from the south of Europe) or siiddn who
came from south of the Sahara, Most of these were imported to

replace the Arab army, However, these new recruits did not

T Abd al-‘Arab, KitSb_al-Miban, fol. 73b.
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take long to assimilate into the community and in the end they

led an insurrection against the Aghlabid amir. Despite their

initial success  they were crushed by the army of IbrAihim II

in A,H,277,}
Many of the military commanders came from the rﬁling

families themselves, such as the Muhallabids, the Fihrids, and

the Aghlabids, In the case of the Fajimids the situation was

different, They had the backing of a Berber alliance led by

Kutimah, and most of the military commanders were from this

alliance, After the victory of the Fitimids a number of the

Arab military commanders joined them, such as Khalll b, Ishagq

b. Ward (C,920), known as al=-Shi‘i, who was a descendant of

a member of the Abbasid jund, and ‘Umar b, ‘All al-Balawl (C.816).
The nilitary commanders in the present lists are:

A.2, A.3, A.4, A.9, A,11, A,15, A.20, A,24, A.,25, A.28, A.32,

A,33, -A.34, A,40, A.42, A.48, A.50, A,51, A, 52, A,53, A.54, A,57,

A.62, A.64, A.65, A,68, A.69, A.70, A, 72, A, 77, A.78, A.81,

A.86, A,92, A,96, A,57, A.98, A.,101, A.103, A.104, A,108, A.,110,

A.112, A, 114, A,118, A.121, A,129, A, 167, A.,180, A.,233, A.293,

A.,314, A.315, A.334, A.338, A.366, A,367, A.397, A.,444, A,473,

B.4, B.21, B,25, B.27, B.28, B.34, B,41, B.46,

c. 7, C.14, C,15, C,17, C.18, C.19, C.20, C.21, C,22, C,24,

C.26, C.27, C.30, C.35, C.37, C.38, C.,40, C.41, C.44, C.48,

c.52, ¢c,57, c.68, C.74, C.79, C.80, C,81, C.83, C.,85, C,105,

c.106, C.122, Cc,123, C.124, C.126, C,127, C.,129, C.131, C,133,

c.134, C.135, C.136, C,.137, c.139, C.140, C,141, C.142, C,143,

c.148, C.149, C.150, C.,159, C.174, C.192, C.,194, C.206, C.207,

c.208, C,209, C.210, C,211, C,212, C,213, C,215, C,216, C.217,

C.219, C.220, C.223, C.224, C.225, C.226, C.227, C.229, C.230,

1 They were led by one of their own number who had probably
been an Aghlabid military commander (A.233).

e A AT St s —
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C.232, C.234, C.242, C.249, C.264, C.286, C.288, C.290, C.208,
C.300, C.327, C.334, C.338, C,340, C.341, C.343, C.360, C.364,
c.370, C.380, C.396, C.405, C.431, C,433, C.444, C,449, C.456,
C.457, C.538, C.540, C.599, C.600, C.623, C.659, C.662, C.663,
c.e87, C.716, C. 717, C.739, C.735, C.793, C.797, C,801, C.886,
C.920.

(ii) Soldiers

Those described as soldiers among the individuals of
our present list are few compared with the military cmmanders,
This is one of the most obvious cases of bias in the recording
of names, Ironically the ratio between soldiers and military
commanders is one soldier to every nine commanders.,

During the insurrection of al-Junbudhl he marched on
al-Qayrawan, not to conquer the city but to evacuate the
families of his army who were living in the city, an indication
that the jund, or the majority of them, came from al-Qayrawan.

Some of those mentioned as soldiers in the present
list were not full-time professionals, but volunteers. These

were called al-mur3bi{lin, and. each spent part of the year in

a ribit. The Aghlabid amirs encouraged the building of a chain
of these fortressecs, Ihis is not to say they were entirely
Aghlabid; the rib8t of al-Munastir was built by C.236, The
financing of the building of these fortresses was done by
wealthy people in al-Qayraw&n and the actual building was

supervised by religious devotees (muta‘abbidﬁn).1

The soldiers in the present lists are:
A.12, A.,22, A,39, A,512, A.536, A.554, B.23, B.39, B,70, B.71,
c.t, ¢.5, c.10, Cc.12, ¢.32, ¢c.38, C,78, C.82, C,205, C,273,
c.384, C.678,
T The xib3}s were also called gagr, e.g. Qasr Abi al-Ja‘d

(supervised by A.391), Qagr Ziydad, Qasr Khummah (or Himmah,
later to become al-Mahdiyyah); see al-MAiliki, vol, 1, p, 334.




418

{c) Legal and Religious Professions

(1) Jurists

There are 384 persons described as jurists (fugahi’).
Being a jurist indicated an educational status rather than a
professiop, although it was of course a qualification for all
those who practised legal professions, Most of these persons
described as jurists earned their living from sources which
were(not connected in any way with jurisprudence. ‘TBose des-~
cribed as jurists are given in the lists of the population of
the city under:
A.7, A26, A.35, A.37, A.47, A.55, A.58, A.60, A.71, A.74, A.75,
A.76, A.79, A.80, A.83, A.84, A.89, A.01, A.05, A.108, A.111,
A.113, A.J115, A,122, A,125, A.128, A,133, A,138, A.139, A,140,
A.149, A.154, A.162, A,168, A,174, AJ175, A.179, A.181, A.184,
A.,188, A.189, A.199, A.200, A.209, A.212, A.,213, A,215, A,222,
A.223, A,227, A.228, A,230, A,240, A.242, A.243, A.244, A,246,
A.249, A.250, A.251, A.252, A,254, A.,255, A,256, A.258, A.,260,
A.266, A.268, A.269, A.275, A.280, A.284, A,295, A.296, A,297,
A.299, A.301, A,303, A.éo7, A.311, A,312, A,316, A.320, A,322,
A,324, A,325, A,327, A.330, A.331, A.,332, A.336, A.,339, A.340,
A.342, A.343, A,346, A,347, A.348, A.352, A.353, A.354, A,356,
A.363, A.365, A.369, A.372, A.375, A.377, A.378, A.380, A.381,
A.382, A.384, A,385, A,387, A.388, A,389, A,391, A,392, A,393,
A,394, A,395, A,401, A,402, A,407, A,408, A,410, A.415, A.416,
A.417, A,418, A, 419, A,420, A.421, A.422, A,430, A.435, A.438,
A.430, A.441, A.442, A.443, A.450, A.451, A.457, A.461, A.463,
A,466, A,467, A,468, A.469, A.475, A.478, A.482, A.486, A.487,
A.489, A,496, A.497, A.498, A,409, A.500, A.501, A.507, A.508,
A.509, A,511, A,514, A,517, A,520, A,522, A,523, A,524, A.527,

A.528, A.532, A,534, A,538, A,539, A,540, A,544, A.545, A.546,
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A.547, A.,550, A.,551, A,552, A,553, A.,556, A.558, A;559, 'A,561,
A,562, A,563, A,564, A,565, A,566, A.568, A.,569, A.,570, A.,571,
A,572, A.574, A.575, A.,576, A.577, A.478, A.579, A,580, A.581,
A,.486, A,588, A,589,

B.19, B.22, B.25, B.35, B,.44, B.46, B,57, B.58, B,71, B.80,
B.84, B.87, B.96, B.100, B.108, B.,112, B,113, B,114, B,117, -
c.9, C.34, Cc,39, C.53, C.,59, C.75, C.84, C,90, C.92, C,119,
c.130, C.154, Cc.161, C.163, C.166, C,168, C.171, C.198, C,204,
c.231, c.233, c.,237, C.238, C,239, C,240, C.241, C,243, C,245
C.246, C,250, C,269, C.270, C.272, C,275, C.,277, C.278, C.283,
c.333, C.335, C.342, C.356, C.362, C,366, C,368, C,372, C.378,
c.395, C,400, C.412, C, 417, C.,418, C,424, C,448, C,463, C.467,
C.468, C,469, C,476, C.489, C.496, C,500, C,503, C,507, C.511,
c.516, C.,532, C,533, C.534, C,541, C,563, C.564, C,568, C,573,
c.574, C.577, C.579, C.581, C,583, C,595, C.608, C.609, C.619,
c.620, C,626, C,629, C,641, C,643, C,646, C.647, C.651, C.652,
c.658, C,666, C,667, C,670, C.671, C,672, C,676, C.677, C,693,
Cc.696, C.699, C.705, C.706, C.,709, C.,712, C.713, C.,714, C.715,
c.719, C.722, c.725, Cc.728, C.732, C.733, C.734, C.738, C.,741,
c.757, C.759, C.760, C.763, C,766, C,783, C.878, C.798, C.802,
C.805, C.811,.C.815, c.826, C.827, C.829, C,835, C.839, C,840,
c.842, Cc.849, c.851, c,852, Cc.868, C,870, C.875, C,892, C.893,
c.899, c.,%02, c,907, C.911, C,917, C,922, C,923, C,924, C,925,
c.926, C.929, C,932, C,939, C.940,

In the third century of the Hijrah the differing legal
madhhabs arose with their di}ferént interpretations of
traditions, The man who was instrumental in bringing about the
polarization of legal doctrine between the M3likis and the
Hanafls in Ifxiqiya was Asad b, al-Furat (A,113), Asad studied

both Milik's and Abl Hanifah'!s teachings and came back to
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al-Qayrawan uncommitted to either of them, although in the end

he tended to favour the Hanafi madhhab.1

The Maliki madhhab took longer to come to prominence,
which it eventually did in the person of Sahniin b, Sa‘id
al-Tanikhl (A,140), and in a matter of twenty years after the
death of Asad b. al-Furat the Malikil madhhab had developed to
the point when it was the madhhab of the masses, ranged against
the Aghlabids and against the excesses of their systen,

The majority of jurists in the present lists are of
the MAlikI school, probably because of the bias of the predom~
inantly M&1liki authors; from the second half of the third
century of the Hijrah the Hanafi madhhab began to lose ground
in IfrIqiyd during the F&timid period, but after the transfer
of the caliphate to Cairo the Fit}imid viceroy in Ifrlqiy&
rejected the Fatimid madhhab in favour of the Maliki, The
fourth madhhab was the Ib3agi, which had claimed the allegiance
of a large portion of the population of'thecity,2 especially
among those who came from the area around Mount Awrds and
beyond, They lived in communities in the city, yet they paid
allegiance to the Rustamid state which was centred in T&hirt
(Tiarit) and parts of the south of Ifrigiya.

Forty six per cent of the 384 persons who are des-
cribed as jurists are recorded as having other professions,
These professions will be considered under the appropriate

-

headings.

(ii) Traditionists

Thexre 195 individuals who are described as traditionists,

This does not represent a particular level of education, because

T A1-MAliki, vol. 1, p. 181; al-Dabbigh, vol. 2, p. 5.
2 Ibn Sallim, p. 60; al-Shammikhl, pp. 261-262. a
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in the early days of Islam anyone with a good memory could
be a traditionist, As is clear from the present lists,
traditions (hadith) in the first century and first half of
the second century, give way to jurisprudence (figh) which
required to be studied and which represented a kind of
educational level, As the jurists increased in number so the
traditionists decreased, and in the end towards the third
century all those classed as traditionists were really either
historians or biographers., Jurists can be considered in some

sense traditionists, but not vice versa, Those described as

traditionists are:

A1, A5, A 11, A13, A7, A22, A,31, A.37, A, 49, A,55, A,56,
A,67, A, 73, A,82, A,84, A, 85, A.,89, A,90, A.99,.A.105, A.120,
A.125, A,134, A,138, A.164, A177, A,190, A,195, A.211, A.221,
A,227, A.272, A.276, A.287, A.288, A,298,A,300, A.310, A,318,
A.319, A.426, A.4éz, A.408, A.518, A,524, A.530, A,539, A,.584,
A, 586,

B.8, B,10, B,11, B,16, B.20, B.30, B.33, B.37, B.43, B,45, B,47,
B.51, B.53, B.55, B.59, B.62, B.64, B.65, B,67, B.69, B,70,
B.7f, B.72, B.75, B.76, B,77, B,79, B,81, B.89, B,91, B,92,
B.99; B.102, B,103, B,111,

c.4, .7, C.8, C.,13, C.33, C,34, C.36, C,39, C.65, C,87, C.88,
c.138, c.,168, C,175, Cc,189, C,201, C,202, C,251, C,.256, C.257,
c.258, €.260, C,265, C,271, C,272, C,307, C.309, C.315,vC.320,
c.321, C;323, c.325, C.326, C.329, C,345, C,346, C,347, C,359,
c.374, C,375, C,379, C,385, C,388, C,397, C.404, C,407, C,.408,
C.425, C,.437, C.438, C,443, C,446, C,465, C,481, C,486, C,490,
c.510, C.531, C.534, C.,544, C,546, C,554, C,580, C,582, C,596,
c.597, C.598, C,605, C.616, C,622, C,630, C,640, C,641, C,645,

c.648, C,649, C.658, C,686, C,695, C,708, C,748, C,761, C,762,
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c.773, Cc.,7%6, C,808, C.,812, C.,824, C,858, C,860, C.869, C.884,
c.889, c.890, C,894, C.898, C,899, C,909, C,910, C,916, C,919,
c.921, C,931, C,933, C.934, C.938,

No secular occupation is recorded for the majority
of these 195; it may be assumed that they were engaged in all
sorts of occupations; the secular occupations of those tradition-
ists with recorded occupations are given under the appropriate

headings .

(iii) Judges

There are fifty individuals described as having held
the post of judge in Ifriqiya. These judges fall into three
categories: |

(f) The judges of al-Qéyrawan.< The Judge of al-Qayrawdn had

superior status to the other provincial judges, He usually
appointed the provincial judges and they were accountable to
him, The post of the judge of al-Qayrawan was held mostly by
the Hanafi school, From the twenty;judges to have held the
post only four camé from the Maliki school.1 Before the
introduction of various madhhabs to Ifriqiya, nine judges
served in the post beginning with ‘Abd al-Rahmdn b, Rafi‘
al-Tanikhi, who was called the '"'army judge" (gagi al-jund).
The judges of al=Qayrawan in the present lists are: |

A 21, A26, A.47, A.55, A, 71, A.79, A.168, A, 111, A,132, A,133,
A.,140, A.,212, A,222, A,316, A,322, A.354, A,384, A,387, A, 393,
A.408, A.571,

c.9, C.75, C,92, C,154, C,163, C.,171, C.484, C,902,

1 Muhammad al-=Jidi, Qudit al-Qayrawin, fols, 6a-20a. This
proves beyond doubt the erroneousness of the statement of
Julien to the effect that the Malikl school became dominant
and that most of the judges after Sahniin were Milikis,

A, Julien, p. 46.
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(2) The provincial judges. In choosing these judges the

Judge of al-Qayrawan mostly favoured those who shared his
madhhab., However, this was not always the case for Sahnin
appointed Sulaymdn b, ‘Imrdn as a provincial judge, despite

his having a different madhhab from that of Sahntn, Some of

the provincial judges were later appointed to the post of Judge
of al-Qayrawan. The provincial judges in the presenf lists are:
A175, A,189, A,228, A,224, A,249, A,251, A,259, A.260, A,316,
A.332, A,340, A.382, A,385, A,402, A.408, A,415, A.438, A,500,
A.559, A,565, B,117, C,469, C,629, C,646, C.652, C.677, C.715,
c.798, C,805, C.849, C,911,

All these judges were by implication jurists (fugahid’)
and for most of them the appointment to the post of judge was
the culmination of a long and successful career, not only in
jurisprudence but also in secular occupations which were
necessary for4earning a living., There were many judges who
worked in manual professions, such as Sahnin, who used to work
the plough on his farm, Another judge (A.415) was a cotton
dealer who owned a shop in Sfig al-Ahad., There were two cases
of the post of judge being handed down to the second generation
of the family, such as the cases of A,111 and his son A,116,
and A.175 and his son A.244., This does not necessarily suggest
a lowering of the judge's qualifications, but rathex the
concentration of legal study in a limited number of families.

Some of the judges of al~Qayrawdn were not originally
from the city, although they must have spent part of their
lives in it while pursuing their studies; several of these
judges were forced to accept the post, such as ‘Isi b, Miskin

(A.322) and Ibn Jalib (A.222),

e e oy =
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(3) Mazidlim Tribunal Judges (magistratés)

There are twelve individuals who are described as

mazalim judges (g3di al-mazdlim or hikim al-mazdlim), They

were usually appointed by the Judge of al-Qayrawd&n as deputies,
especially in cases which involved petty offences involving
small amounts of money under 120 g§g§£§.1 The first mazilim
judge was appointed by Sahnin b, Sa‘id. He was Abli Nagr Habib
b. Nagr al-Tamimi (A,266). His court was held in a mosque in
the market of al-Qayrawdn called al-Birkah Mosque), apparently
in the siigq of al-Birkah which was the marketplace for slaves,
After Sahniin, all the judges who followed him made similar
appointments,

The judge of al-maz3lim was called al-hdkim and the

procedure he followed was called al-hukiimah, i.e., he was
first and foremost an arbitrator. The judges of mazdlim were
jurists, and they might be later upgraded to provincial judges,
or even judges of al-Qayrawéﬁ (e.g., A.438 and C,911), The
Jjudges of mazdlim like other jurists came from different
economic backgrounds, They include individuals with the nisbah
al-Zayyat (oil-dealer), al-Khashshdb (timber merchant) etc,

The mazdlim judges are:
A.179, A.261, A,266, A,331, A.438, A,500, A, 568,

c.580, C,620, C,633, C,787, C,911,

(iv) Judges! Secretaries

Fifteen individuals are described as secretary to the
Judge of al-Qayrawdn, In addition to the function for which
they were originally appointed, that is to record the minutes
of the court, they sometimes took the chair themselves in cases

which were not complicated,under the judge's supervision, The

1 ‘Iyag, al-Madarik, vol. 4, p. 370 (M. ed.).
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secretary of the judge ‘Is& b. Miskin (A.322) whose name was
‘Abd Alldh al-Bannid’ (A,385), used to preside over some cases
with the Jjudge péesent and yet not uttering a word.1 The
result was that he was himself appointed judge of a provincial
city., Another secretary was promoted to the post of Judge
of Tunis (A.259). These secretaries came from different
social and geographical backgrounds, We find nisbahs such as
al-Khawldni, al-Siddni, al-F&risi, al-Andalusi, etc,, and
al-Bannd’ (builder), al-Khashshdab (timber merchant), etc.
Those described as secretaries to the Judges of
al-Qayrawan are: | |
A.185, A,243, A,259, A.,274, A.332, A.385} A.419, A;450, A.509,

B.100, C.666, C.669, C.626, C.679, C.868.

(v) Judges!'! Trustees (umand’ al-qugdit)

This poét was introduced by Sahniin b. Sa‘id
al-Taniikhi following his appointment as Judge of Ifri'.qiya.2
Before Sahnin the judge used to be in charge of the properties
of the incapacitated and the under-aged, i.e., he was the ward
of such people and could run their lives financially. One
incident in particular may have been instrumental in cauging
Sahniin to establish this post: the man whom Sahniin suéceeded
had kept some of the money entrusted to him and denied keeping
it, despite his own handwriting in his own register (diwin)
which proved the contrary. When Sahniin became Judge of
Ifriqiyd he took financial matters away from the judge and
entrusted them to a person from outside the court under the

supervision of the judge.

1 Al-pabbigh, vol. 2, p. 316; ‘Iyid, al-Madarik, vol. 4,
p. 337 (Mo edo)o

2 A1-Maliki, vol. 1, p. 277.
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The information about this post is meagre, but we
know that during the term of Sahniin and later the judge's
trustee was chosen from proninent people known for their
integrity. One of these judge's trustees was a member of a
Qurashl family (see Pedigree No., 37), This was Aphmad b.
Yahyd b, Khdlid al-Sahmi (A.465).

The individuals described as judges! trustees in

the present lists are: A.465, A,679.

(vi) Prayer Leaders

The im3m of the mosque of ‘Ugbah b. NAfi‘ had a
position of great importance in al-Qayrawdn, He was usually
appointed by the Aghlabid amir himself with the approval of
the religious leaders of the city. However, after the appoint-
ment of Sahniin as Judge of al-Qayrawdn and with the increasing
influence of the Maliki school, the latter began to contest
the appointment with the Hanafis, In A.,H,254 the Miliki lobby
managed to secure the post of prayer leader for ‘Abd All&h b,
Ahmad b, Talib (A.222), He replaced ‘Abd Alldh b. Abi
al-Haw&3jib al-Hanafli, who was one of the outspoken opponents
of the Maliki school, The importance of the post of the
prayer leader of the mosque of ‘Ugbah was underlined by the
fact that Ibn T&alib (A.222) was promoted from there to the
post of Judge of al-Qayrawdn in A,H.257,

The other M3liki prayer leader whose name is pres-
erved was Muhammad b, Zarqin b, Abi Maryam (known as
al - Tayyarah). He was a prayer leader (imdm) and a preacher
in the mosque of ‘Ugbah b. Nifi*, A third prayer leader (who
was probably Miliki) was Muhammad b. Hafsg al-Fahm. He was a
§ifl, but apart from leading the prayers in ‘Ugbah's mosque,

nothing is recorded of his career.
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There was a prayer leader for every one of the
many mosques in al-Qayrawan.1 Some of these mosques were
private and the prayers were led by the owner. The jurists
who had their own mosques led the prayers themselves,

Prayer leaders in our present lists are:
A222, A,235, A.478, B,108, C.255, C,553, C.764, C.767, C.771,

C.774.

(vii) Muezzins

The muezzin apparently had an additionalrfunction,
that of caretaker. One of these muezzins was C,789., He was
a poet in addition to being muezzin. Another muezzin was
A.424 who was a timber merchant, He was tortured and‘killed
by the Fafimids because, as Ibn 'Idh&ri has it, "he did not
add the phrase at the end of the call for prayer which runs

hayva_ ‘ald khayr al-‘amil".z

The muezzins in the present lists are: A.424, C,561,

c.789,

(viii) Quxr’3n and Poetry Reciters

There are eight individuals described as Qur’&n
reciters or experts in the Qur’an, 7Two more are described as
SUfi poetry reciters. Some of the experts in the art of
reciting the Qur’an came from Spain, or came originally from
Spain, studied the subject in the east, and then made their
homes in al-Qayrawdn, e.g., A.218, A,404, This did not mean
that al-Qayrawan lacked local talent, because the shaykh of the
art of reciting the Holy Qur’an in Egypt (Shaykh al-Iqri! fi

al-Diya&r al-Migriyyah) was a Qayrawani.3 He was Abid ‘Abd Alldh
1
2
3

See the List of Mosques given above, Chapter I, pp. 16=-17,
Ibn ‘Idhari, vol, 1, p. 182,

Kahhalah, op. cit., vol, 4, p. 60,



Muhammad b. Hamdin (A.88).

One of the leading Qur‘an reciters in al-Qayrawdn was
the mugrl of the mosque of ‘Ugbah b, Nafi‘, Muhammad b, Ghawth
al-Muqri was one of those to occupy this post (A.218), However,
the first individual described as-a Qur’an reciter is A.9, who
lived in the first half of the second century of the Hijrah.

Another kind of reciter was the person who used Sifl
poetry as a way of preaching to people., Such people were called

awwaliin, e.g., Abli Sharaf al-Qawwdl (C.657). They held their
sessions of preaching on Saturdays and Thursdays in two mosques
bearing these designations, i.e., al-Sabt (Saturday) and
al-~Khamis (Thursday).1 These two mosques stood in a quarter
called al-Dammanah in the west of al-Qayrawadn (see Map no. 3).
These mosques, and the practice of the reciting of the poetry
aroused much controversy among the jurists of the city. Some
considered it a heresy (bid'ah).2

The Qur *An reciters in our present lists are:

A.218, A,587, A.404, B.,9, C.359, C.354, C.448, C.508, C.522,

C.657, C.704.

(d) Medical Practitioners

In al-Qayrawdn there were two kinds of medical
profession, a division which still exists in some Arab

countries: the atibbi’ (physicians) and the fugahd’ al-badan

(sick attendants),

(i) Physicians

Physicians in al-Qayrawin were drawn from all sections

of society regardless or origin or creed. Most of the pioneers
1
2

See ""Features of the City", nos, 32, 59, above, Ch.I, pp.17~18,
Al-Dabbagh, vol. 2, p., 238,
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in this field came from the east. They were attracted by the
growth of al-Qayrawan and the efforts of many walls and amirs
to match the courts of other Islamic metropolises, There
(were Muslim, Christian, and Jewish physicians,

The first practitioner of whom a record remains was
Yuhann3 al-Mutatabbib (C.162), He was the personal physician
of Yazid b. Hatim (A,57). It is possible that Yuhanni came
with Yazid in A.H.154, or slightly later,

In the third century we find an increasing number
of physicians. The Aghlabid representative in Baghdiad acted
as a liaison officer for the Aghlabids with the professional
people of Baghdad, and he managed to attract one of the great-
est physicians of his time, Ishaq b, ‘Imr&n (A.237), who
established the teaching of medicine in the city.. Ish&q was
born in Baghdad, and he came to al-Qayrawan in A, H.264 after
receiving an invitation from Ibr&him IXI., Ishaq was not only
a physician but also a physicist and philosopher. He fell
out with his employer, the Aghlabid amir, and subsequently
opened a clinic in al-Qayrawan., This earned him great sums of
money and at the same time enraged the amir who returned him
to his former status only to have him crucified because of his
alleged disloyalty. The amir involved was Ibr&him II and not
Ziyadat Alldh III, as claimed by Ibn Abi ‘U‘saybi‘ah.1

Another physician was Ziyad b, Khalfiin (A.445).
He was one of the mawdli of the Banl al-Aghlab, The origin
of Ziy&d is not clear., 7The theory advanced by some writer52
that he was of Jewish origin is refuted by his status of mawla,

which clearly implies being a Muslim,

! Ibn Abz ‘Ugaybi‘ah, p, 5; Ibn ‘Idhdri, vol, 1, p, 122; M.
Steinschneider, "An Introduction to the Arabic Literature of the
Jews: Jewish Physicians" in J.Q.R., 13 (1901), pp. 86-87, seenms
to disgree with those who considered him a Jewish physician on
the erroneous account of Leo Africanus, who confused the name
with that of Ish&q b. Sulaymin.,

2 E.g., Poznanski, p, 192,
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\ Another physician to come from the east was Ishig
b. Sulaymdn al-Isr&‘'ili (C.735)., He lived in Egypt and
learned medicine there. In A,H.292 he set out for Ifriqiy3
with the ambassador of the Aghlabid amir, Ziy&dat Alldh III,
for Baghdad, Ishdq became the personal physician of Ziyidat
All3h III at a salary of 500 dindrs annually.

Ishaq b, Sulaymin continued to serve the Aghlabid
amir, and later the Fatimid caliphs, until the reign of
al-Mu‘izz, He is said to have written many works in Arabic
and in Hebrew, and taught the next generation of the
physicians of al-Qayraw3dn, including such men as Ibn
al-Jazzar,

A second Jewish physician of al-Qayrawén to be
found in the present lists was Dinash b, Tamim al-Shuflaji
(B.116), The family of Dinash came to Ifriqiyd in pursuit of
their commercial activities, He was born in the second half
of the thixd century. Diinash studied under Ish&q- b, Sulayman
medicine, astrology, philosophy, and arithmetic.. He wrote
many works on various subjects.1

The ‘ulami’ and the jurists of the Hanafl school were
noteworthy for pursuing secular knowledge, and so it is not
surprising to find two prominent jurists from this school
studying medicine, which won them the admiration of their
opponents.,

The first of these jurists was Ahmad b, Yahy& b,
Tayyib al-Mutatabbib (A, 343), who was a prominent Hanafil

jurist, The second was Abl al-Fagl ‘Alil b, Zafar (C,781), who

‘Abd al-Wahh3b, op. cit., vol. 1, pp. 297-300,
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was described as being a scientist and an authority in many
fields, besides being a physician,

In the last decade of the third century a family
of physicians emerged in al-Qayrawin. This was the family of
Ibn al-Jazzar.1 The background of the family is somewhat
obscure, Their economic background can be discerned in their
nisbah,al-Jazz&8r. From the writings of Ahmad b, al-Jazzar it
is fairly clear that the family first subscribed to the
madhhab of AblG Hanifah, and then it seems they changed to the
Fatimi madhhab after the Fafimids' seizure of al-Qayrawin (see
Pedigree No. 20),

It is not clear whether Ahmad b. Abi Kh&lid, whose
name is to be found with the nasab of his two sons Ibrahim
(A.478) and Abli Bakr (C.903), was a physician himself, but we
know that the two sons pursued this calling.2 They studied
under the physicians of the city of al-Qayrawd@n: Ish&q b.
‘ImrAn, Ish&q b, Sulaymian, Dinash b, Tamim, and others,

Ahmad b. Ibrahim (C.904), the son of A.478, was a
physician in addition to enjoying a xreputation as an author

and a Fatimid official,>

(ii) Fugaha’ al-Badan

The fugahd’ al-badan (i.e., those who have knowledge

of the body) were men who comforted the sick in a voluntary
capacity and who ministered to patients with prayers, reading

the Qur’En, and possibly also with the giving of simple

1 Jazz3r = butcher., Al-Malikl dubs him erroneously
al-Kharrdzj al-Miliki, vol, 2, p. 314, see fn, A.477,

2 Ibn Jaljal, p. 88.

3 For the family of al-Jazzadr see Pedigree No, 20, The
quotations which have survived from the works of Ahmad are full
of praise for the Fifimids; Steinschneider, loc, cit.
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medicaments such as syrups,
Al-MAliki gives us an accurate account of the function

of the fagih al-badan1 which is summarized above,

The fugahd’ al-badan ministered to people in their

homes or mosques, and the sick had to be brought to them, In
the case of people who had a handicap or an infectious illness,
the situation was different. They were looked after by
volunteer male nurses, such as A,317, and slave girls who were
provided probably by the amir and charitable bodies.2

Seven of those fugahi?! al-badan are known to us by

name; they were all MAliki Jurists:
A.,159, A,271, A,280, A,.380, A,385, A.407, A.537,

Of these fugahi’ al~badan, two were either builders

or came from a family of builders., They were A.159 and A,385,
Another two (A.380, A.407) were leather workers., A fifth was

a carpenter (A.537).

(e) Teaching Professions

(i) Teachexrs

Names of forty-one teachers in al-Qayrawén have been
preserved, in addition to those whose professions were educat-
ional in nature, such as the jurists and the traditionists,
The first teachers of al-Qayrawadn were those who were sent by
‘Umar b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz, In the present lists there are five
of them. These are: A.29, A.36, B,13, B.18, C,56.

Those who may be categorized as teachers are:

A,29, A,36, A,143, A,181, A,245, A,264, A,267, A.275, A.278,
A.280, A.,259, A.400, A.443, A,.451, A.462, A,463, A,490, A.507,

1 A1-Maliki, vol. 2, p. 96.

Ibid., vol, 2, p. 86,
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A,530, A,588, B,13, B.18, B.40, B.48, C.56, C,132, C,161,
c.270, C.303, C,372, C.432, C,.536, C,578, C,583, C,615, C,681,
c.704, C.,740, C,747, C,766, C,825, C.884.

Eight of these teachers were jurists (the number of
jurists and traditionists must, however, have been higher than
this in the teaching profession, because traditionists, and to
some extent the jurists, were teachers by implication).

Teachers in al-RQayrawdn came from all walks of life and their
nisbahs point to this, They include: al=-Qurashi, al-Asadi,
al~Kindni, al-Kalbi, al-Umawi, al-Tamimi, al-‘Irdql, al-Hawwari,
al-Khurasapi, al-Khawlani, al-Tujibz, etc.

They came from different professional backgrounds,
€.g., al=537igh (blacksmith), al-Gh3sil (undertaker), al-Khabb&az
(baker), and al-Tamm&r (seller of dates).

The teachers may be subdivided as follows:

(1) School principal, ‘Ali b, Sallam al-Bagri (A.204),

(2) Shaykhs, e.g., al-Shaykh ‘Abd Alldh b. ‘Abd-al-‘Aziz
al-‘Irdaqi (A.462),

(3) Mutallims (specialised teachers), The difference between
mu‘allim and mu’addib was that the mu‘allim dealt with one
subject or a combination of related subjects, while the mu’addib
was a teacher responsible for teaching everything, especially

to children, There were families which seem to have made
teaching a family occupation: see A,463 and his son C,463,

and A.264 and his son A,.245,

(4) Tutors (mu’addibd al-sgibydn), These were similar to the

mu‘*allins; most of them were concerned with teaching and

preparing children for more advanced lessons when they grew
oldex, Some of these mu’addibs came from very poox backgrounds,
such as gadagah al-Mu’addib (A,400) who was blind, and Ajmad b,

Manghr, who worked as an undertaker (A.451).
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(ii) Grammarians

These must have been involved in teaching in one way
or another, because being a grammarian must imply teaching the
subject in some form.

Those described as grammarians are sometimes also
described as mu'’addibs, e;g.,

A.88, A, 169, A.345, A,363, A.443, A,506, A.542, A.548, A.537,
A.,569, Cc,155, C,157, C,164, C.293, C,552, C.565, C.566, C.302,
C.754, C,.8%4,

Sone of these grammarians worked for the wili or the
amir as secretaries because of their skill in composing letters,
e.g, A.542, C,164, One of them, Abd Sa‘lid al-$aygal (A.542),
was a man of letters and grammarian and had exceptional skill
in making tools and swords. His nisbah was al-Sayqal, i.e¢.,
the swordsmith.1

One of these grammarians was the grandson of the poet
al~Tirimmih b, Hakim al-T&’i, He was Amin b, al-$img&mah b,
al-Tirimmih (C.302),

The scholars were drawn from the educated elite of
al-Qayrawan, and were mostly people who combined the knowledge

of many branches of the religious sciences and belles=-lettres,

One of them was employed by Yazid b, Hitim al-Muhallabi. He
was Ishiq b, Mukram al-Ash‘'ari (C.170). Others used their
knowledge to promote their ideas, as A.210, who was a master

of rhetoric., The scholars whose names are preserved to us are:
A.,210, A,255, A,575, B,51, C,170, C,646, C,675, C,692, C,690,

(iii) Students

The other party involved in the process of teaching

-l

‘Abd al-Wahhib, Waraqit, vol. 1, p. 150,
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was of course the students, and there is an apparent bias
against these in our lists, only twenty-three students appearing
there., They include important students such as two
of MAlik b, Anas, e.g., A.231 and A,248, Others were the
students of al-Bahldl b. R&shid and those of Sahniin b, Sa‘id,
who is known to have taught hundreds of students from all
over the Islamic west., Some of these students were engaged in
professions apart from their studies, such as C.,353 who was a
shopkeeper, and C.559 who was a moneychanger.

Those described as students are:
c.197, C.231, C.248, C.259, C.442, C,.478, C,480, C.482, C,487,
c.494, C.495, C.497, C.504, C.506, C,514, C.515, C.518, C.526,

c.556, C.819, C.867, C.891, C.896.

(f) Literary Occupatiohs

(i) Scholars (‘ulami’)

In addition to the Jjurists and traditionists we have
those persons who are described as ‘ulami’., The distinction
between them and the rest of those included in the religious
professions is, however, very small. The term was probably
used of those who had an equal interest in all the branches of
the religious sciences, and some of them had an interest in
other subjects,

The scholars in our present lists are:

A.210, C.255, B,51, C,170, C.179, C,646, C.675, C,692, C.690,

c.753, C.,766, C.835,

(i1i) Poets

Governors in Ifriqiyi as well as the other parts of
the Muslin empire liked to surround themselves with the poets

of their age. Some of them tried successfully to attract poets
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to Ifriqiyd from places as far away as ‘'Iriq. The first of
these governors was Yazid b, H&atim al-Muhallabl, who attracted
poets such as C,169 and C,262,

Other poets were employed Ly some influential people
to satirize their opponents (see the case which involved C.294
and C,310), Two poets joined.the insurrection against Ziyadat
All3h I. They were two brothers, C.389 and C.394. When the
insurrection of the jund ended in A,H.219, both of them were
brought to the court of Ziyadat Alldh, who pardoned them despite
the rival poet (C.393) who urged him not to.1 The rest of the
poets are known through their poetry, which is mostly elegiac,

The individuals described as poets in our lists are:
A,210, A,224, A,333, A,337, A,349, A,506, C.149, C.262, C.294,
c.3t0, c.311, c.373, C.394, C.483, C.527, C,555, C.589, C,607,

c.736, C,742, C.781, C,935.

(iii) Philosophers

By philosophers is meant those ‘ulami’ who had an
interest in sciences other than the religious sciences, i.e.,

the tuliim al~awl’il or ‘uliim al-~‘ajam, One of these was

Ibrihim al~Fiz&rl (C.607). He was an authority on many
sciences and was a firm believer in the doctrine of the
creation of the Qur’an., Ha showed contempt for people whom
he thought were not up‘to his intellectual standard, He was
sentenced to death by the judge Ibn T&1lib on a chaige of |
heresy. However, his execution may have been ordered by Ibn
TA1ib in revenge for Ibradhim's ﬁublic humiliation of him in
debate,

Another scientist/philosopher was Ibn al-Sayqal

(C.621). He had a wide knowledge of science as well as
1

Ibn ‘Idh3ri, vol., 1, p. 105,
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literature, and had outstanding skill in metalwork.
Philosophers/scientists in our present lists are:

c.607, C.621, C,781, C,791,

(iv) Authors

There are 'ten people in the present lists described
as authors, One of these was Abii al=-‘Arab Muhammad b, Ahmad
b, Tamim and before him SahntGn b, Sa‘id and his son Muhammad,
and Yahya b, Sallam al-Bagrli, etc,

The authors in the present lists are:

A.85, A,140, A.168, C,12, C,235, C,312, C.625, C,742, C,904,

(v) Historians

Historians werxe either individuals who related the
history of Ifriqiy& orally (a variety of traditionists), or
were writexrs of history, In the first category ﬁe have those
traditionists who were involved thenmselves in historical events
in Ifriqiya, such as C,38 who was a soldier, Others came later
in the second century and were authorities on the hiﬁtory of
the province, such as C.322 and C,324, Another oral hist;rian
was Abli Hass3n al-Yahsubi (B.22) whose accounts were transmitted
through his son (A,122), Perhaps the most important authority
on the history of Ifriqiyd& was Furidt b, Muhbammad who is des-
_cribed as L”L_dlﬁgbm,L,LdI‘JJ,1 i.e.,, the most kpowledgeable in
the identification of people through their pedigrees, their
origins, etc.

Individuals who can be described asAhistorians in our
present lists are:

A.122, A.310, A.574, A,.582, A,584, B,72, C.38; c.322, C,324,

C.905,

! Al-knushani, p. 193; Ibn ‘Idh&ri, vol. 1, p. 139.

UNIVERSITY
LIBRARY,
LEEDS
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(g) Commercial Occupations

(i) Merchants, Agents, and Middlemen

In the present lists there are twenty=-four individ-
&éls described as merchants (tujjér), although the nature of
their business as a rule is unknown, Four individuals came
from the same family, the Bani Khayr{in al-Mu‘afiri al-Andalusi
(Pedigree No, 25), Merchants in al-Qayrawdn might be agents
for other merchants, e.g., A.209 and A,496. Two individuals
who seem to have come from the same family (A.492, C.730), and
who served as ambassadors in the court of the caliph repres-
enting Ifriqiyi, were merchants., They seem to have made use
of their frequent missions to the east to further their
commercial interests,

Half the merchants who are mentioned in the present
lists were connected with the religious sciences, that is,
they were jurists, traditionists, Qur’an reciters, devotees,
etc, Three individuals in the present lists are described
as agents for other merchants in addition to being merchants
themselves., Moreover, there is one family of great prominence
by the name of al-Wakii (agent) (Pedigree No, 49), and because
of this family's wealth, it may be assumed that they had begun
their business as agents for another merchant or merchants,
Another, less likely possibility, is that they were wakils in
the legal sense, i.e., lawyers in the court of the judge.1

Many of the merchants of al-Qayrawi3n were very
charitable. They participated in projects in the city and

outside it, e.g., in mosques, mawdjil (reservoirs), ribits

1 H.,J. Cohen, "The economic background and secular occupations

of Muslim jurisprudents and traditionists in the classical

period of Islam" (summary of a Ph.D., thesis), in JESHO, 13, pt. 1,
(1970), p. 34.
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(fortresses), etc.

Only one middleman is mentioned in the present lists
and he dealt with clothes. He received their garments (abdin)
from the people who processed and manufactured them, and tried
to find a buyer for them, He tried to secure the interests of
the owner of the goods at the expense of the buyer, and he
adnitted a charge of overcharging.1

The remaining eight individuals were traders and
shopkeepers. Two of these were slave traders, and one of
these two became an extreme Shi‘ite after the Fatimids
seizure of al-Qayrawadn; he was executed because of his’
extreme beliefs., Another two individuals were dealers in
animal feed., These were A.103 who was a clover dealer (gattit)
and C,577 who was a hay dealer (tabb3n). The remainer included
two timber merchants, and one pottery dealer (A.498).

The merchants in the present lists are:

A.106, A,109, A.115, A,151, A, 160, A.377, A.404, A.424, A.432,
A.449, A.491, A.492, A.496, A.564,
c.185, C.447, C.470, C.730, C.800, C.809, C.864, C.918.

The agents and middlemen in the present lists are:
A.109, A.496, A.878.

Traders and shopkeepers in the present lists are:

A.103, A.,459, A.498, A,172, C.464, C.525, C.577.

(ii) Moneychangers and Bankers

Up to the year A.H.275 the currency in circulation
in Ifriqiyd was governed by weight and fineness; these could
only be determined by using special weights supplied by the
mint department. This caused the currency to be inflated with

less precious metals, which created various grades of dirhams
1

Al-Dabbagh ’ VO1 o 2 (] P e 267 °
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and dinars1 according to the quantity of gold or silver in them,
The decision of the amir to abolish this system of currency
caused rioting. The alternative which the amir introduced was
a system of unified decimal units with defined weights of
defined fineness.
The complications of dealing with these problems
must have required people with exceptional banking abilities,
According to al-Miliki, the city of al-Qayrawin
had a big money market. The bankers cashed cheques (gixagah),
and lent money, but the rates of interest are not mentioned.2
The practices of the moneychangers did not comply
always with the law (shar‘') which made them unpopularvwith
the jurists of al-Qayrawan.3 The site of the market of the

moneychangers (sig_al-garf, no, 35 in List of Places above,

p. 15) is not known, Only four individualé-are known to have
practised moneychanging, or to have come from a family of
moneychangers, One of these moneychangers was C,559, who was
a student of Muhammad b. Sahniin, Some of them have‘the nisbah
al-Sayrafl, e.g., Muhammad b, ‘Abd al-Salam ai-Sayiafi and
Najm al-Sayrafl,

Perfumers in al-Qayrawdn seenm to have sometimes acted
as bankers. They cashed cheques and lent money., One of these
was Jami* al-‘At{8r, who lent Sahnfin 50 dinirs to finance a .
charitable project. Another was Abd Dawiid al-‘Attdr, who
seem§ to have accepted deposits and disbursed sums from théﬁ

on receipt of cheques from third parties drawn by the depositors.4

' E.g., al-dirham al-satdg (al-Miliki, vol. 1, p, 118),
al-dirham ail-wafl ('Abd al-WahhZb, op. cit.,vol, 1, p. 421).

2 A1-MAlikE, vol. 1, p. 262.
3 1pid., vol., 1, p. 403,
4 1bid., vol. 1, p. 118.
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Those described as moneychangers or bankers in the

present lists are: A.234, A,.,221, C,548, C.559, C.542, C,512,

(iii) Textile Trades

Al-Qayrawan was renowned for its high quality textile
products.1 Many persons worked in the preparatory stages of
the industry, such as ginning and weaving, although the latter
seems to have been a cottage industry carried on by males and
females.2 Others worked in the marketing of textile end-products,
e.dg., drapers, tailors, old clothes dealers, and dyers, One
family might perform several of these functions. One such
family was that of Abd Bakr b. Hudhayl (A.347), who worked
with his wife in weaving, tailoring, and marketing the products.
Sometimes it was the slaves (khadam) who wove the yarn to sup-
port their masters, e.,g., the slave of Maymin b, ‘Umar
al-Ma®1Gf (A.392).> ‘

(1) Textile merchants, In the present lists there are

twenty~-five individuals described (they or their families) as
textile merchants. Among them are cotton dealers, e.g., A.209,
A.,284; wool dealers, e.g., A.202, A.,292, A.453; a linen
dealer, i.e., A,138; drapers, e.g., A.58, A,148, C.350; and
old clothes dealers (rahadirah), e.g., C.624,

The markets for textile products were held in several
different parts of the city (see list of markets of Al-bayrawan).
Two individuals who were MAlik1 jurists had a partnership in a
business dealing with cotton (A.209 and A.284).4

' 1bn al-Shabbiat, fol. 95a.

2 Al-Dabbagh, vol. 2, p. 343, For the yarn market where the
yarn was sold and bought, see List of the Places inal=Qayrawian,
above, pp.15-16. The account of al-Dabbigh seems to assume
that women were engaged in weaving the yarns,

3 Al-Dabbigh, vol. 2, pp. 356-357.

4 The importance of textiles is_evident in the juristst®
responsa: See Abli al-‘Abb3s al-Ibyini,Masi’il al-Samisirah
(Ms), fol. 2ff,
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Rabalh} b, Yazid al-Lakhmi (A.,58) was a draper for a
time, and so also was the father of one of the Iraqi Hanafl
fanily whose name was Sa‘lid al-Ashajj (C.178).

‘Awn b. Ylisuf al-Khuz3i‘'li was a dealer in linen,

He was at the same time one of the leaders of the Maliki
legal school. Five other people are described as wool dealers.,
Three of them were members of the same family (Pedigree No. 39).

Seven of the merchants in the present lists are
drapers (for the drapers market, see above, Ch, I, p. 15). Apart
from the two drapers mentioned above, there was a third jurist
and devotee (A.560) who had a business as a draper in
al-Qayrawan, The textile merchants in the present lists are:
A.58, A,75, A.138, A,148, A.202, A,209, A.248, A.281, A,284, A,292,
A,350, A.415, A.453, A.466 A.491, A.517, A.,529, A,547, A,560,
A.s561, B.93, B.115, C.373, C.464, C.528, C.624, C,717, C.835,

(2) Textile artisans. Eleven individuals in the present lists

worked in the textile manufacturing industry or came from
families that had done so, These include ginners, weavers,
dyvers, tailors, and darners (xraff3’ or raqqa'), The employees
(ghuldm, pl. ghulmin) worked in workshops under a master
(mu‘allim),1 who was usually the owner of the business,

Only one person has the nisbah al~Hall3j (the ginner)
(A.562), Abl Bakr al-Labbad (A.553) was a weaver, in addition
to being a jurist, an author, and a grammarian, Five individ-
uals are described és tailors, One of these was al-Bahliil b,
Rashid, who as a young man was employed in a tailoring business,
Another jurist who worked as a tailor under a mu‘allim was
Abll ‘*Abd Allah Muhammad b, ‘Abd Alldh (B.92)., Magxrih b, Qays
Ial-Khayyat (A.147) was one of the devotees of al=-Rayrawin, and

worked as a tailor,

T Abo al-‘Arab, p. 121,
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An incident which involved a mu‘allim and his
employees is related by Abli al-‘Arab, He mentions their using
of a mosque as a workshop. This did not go down well with the
people who considered the mosque a place of worship and not a
workshop, 1In the end they were persuaded to leave the mosque
by one of the jurists of al-Qayrawdan, who asked the mu‘allim
of the tailors "how much did you pay for this ggggg?"1--a
sarcastic allusion to the mosque,

Five individuals are described as dyers (gabbiagh orx
gaggir). One of these was Ahmad b, ‘Abdin al-Qaggidr (A.651),
who was an outstanding jurist in the Mi1liki 1egél school,
Another individual was Ibn al-Sabbagh‘(C.929).

Probably hundreds, if not thousands, of people worked
in the textile industry, which produced more material than
could be dyed in the city itself. Some material had to be Seht
to Sousse for dying., This appied only to the highAqﬁality
materials,2 which were probably for export. Accofdiné to the

Cairo genizah documents;, £lax was imported in large quantities

from Egypt to be manufactured in Tunisia into fabric which in
turn went eastward.3 |

The famous al-Sfisiyy&t fabrics were probably the very
thing which Ibn al-Shabbiti referred to when he stated that the
fabrics were manufacfured in al-Qayrawdn aﬁd finished in Sbusse,
i.e., they were given the name of4the city which exported them

and not the one which manufactured then,

Another profession connected with the clothing industry

Ibid, .
Ibn al-Shabbat, fol, 95a,

S.D.Goitein, Studies in Islamic History and Institutions,
pP. 322, Although these documents were about a century later
than our era they are representative of what was going on in
al-Qayrawdn before the Fitimids.

W NN =
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was that of the furriers., 7Two furriers are mentioned in the
present lists, one of them was a leading Mu‘tazilite by the
name of Sulaymin b. Hafg b. Abl Ugfiir al-Farrd’ (A.209).

The individuals described as textile artisans in
the present lists are:
A 147, A,553, A;562, A,566, B.,92, C,453, C.479, C.485, C,499,

C.651 s C'9290

(iv) Food Supply

(1) Farmers. Al-Qayrawdn lies to the south of the region of
al-S&hil, which was an area of extensive olive orchards where
many people from al-Qayrawdn owned farms, To the east of the
city there is a plain, where wheat can be grown (Sahl
al-Darrarah).1 The named individuals known to have worked in
farming are few; some were owners of land as well as husband-
men; €.g9., A.,222 and A,140, However, it is clear that at some
seasons of the year there was a considerable number of
agricultural workers resident in the city, as is indicated by
a report of al-Miliki to the effect that the attendance at
lectures by students of the religious sciences was often
determined by the rhythm of the agricultural year, i.e, they
would not be expected to attend during ploughing, harvest, etc,

Other important families owned lands (igf3i‘') around
the city and the suburbs., The suburb of al-Qayrawdn called
al-‘*Abbasiyyah was bought by Ibr&him b, al-Aghlab from the Bani
Ialﬁt.z The cultivated area around the city was not extensive,
but such an area did exist from the second century of the

Hijrah, This is clear from the account of Abli Zakariyyi

T sece Map no., 3 for the site of al-Darrirah; and seec
al-Bakri, p. 24.

2 1bn tIdharil, vol, 1, p. 92, -
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al-Warjalini which mentions a farmer (C.117) who was astonished
to £find his farm intact after the end of the siege of
al-Rayrawdn by the Ibadites in A.H.140.1

Some of the individuals in our lists came originally
from an agricultural background, e.g., A.322, who returned to
his village in the region of al-Sahil after his retirement as
Judge of al-Qayrawdn, The individuals described as farmers
in the present lists are:

A.140, A,148, A,322, C.117, C,118, C.152, C.455, C.501, C.505,

(2) Dealers and processors of foodstuffs. There are twenty

individuals who dealt in foodstuffs in the present lists,

They fall into the following groups:

a) Grocers. 'Of the two grocers mentioned in the present .lists
(A.55 and C.512) the first was a jurist and the second was a
personal friend of Sajnin b, Sa‘id (A.140), and was probably
connected in some way with the religious sciences.

b) Cereal merchants. 7Two individuals among the dealexs in
food were cereal merchants. One of them was a devotee and a
muribit, Wagil al-Khummi (A,161 ) who used to deal in grain,
The other was a jurist, A,115, who dealt in cereals in general,
and was accused by the jurists of al-Qayrawdn of practising
ﬁsury in his dealings.2

c) Butchers. 7Iwo individuals among the dealers in food were
butchers (or came from families who were butchers) ‘Abd Alldh
b. Sa‘id al-Lahhiam (A.545), and an unnamed person (C.823) who
borrxowed a sum of money from A.353 and was unable to pay it
back, The name al-Jazza&r (butcher) was borne by an important

Qayrawanl family (see Pedigree No, 20), which produced a numbexr of

! Ab@l zakariyyd Yahyi b. Khalifah al-Warjalanl, Kitib_al-Sirah
wa Akhbir al-A’immah, MS, fol, 22,

2 Aba al-‘Arab, p. 195,
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physicians, It is possible that the family began by being
butchers, This would seem to be the only explanation for having
a designation like al~Jazz3r in a society which scorned such
an occupation.
&) Olive~0il dealers. The olive=-o0il which came from the
extensive olive orchards was a source of wealth and prosperity
for the people of Ifriqiya.1 It was exported to the neighbour-
ing areas, especially to the south, and the wealth of the people
was neasured in the number of olive trees they had.2 The
owners (of whom there were many in al-Qayrawdn) owned the
mills which extracted the oil from the olives.3 Among the
twenty dealers in foodstuffs there are four individuals who
were olive~o0il dealers. The S&Jil region north of al-Qayrawin
was the major production area for olives, and they were brought
to al=-Qayrawin from there.

One of the olive-0il dealers was Ahmad b. Bahliil
al-Zayyit, who was a traditionist and an oil-dealer at the
same time. The other dealers are individuals whose names have
not been recorded: C,267, C,698, and C.168,
e) Bee~keepers. Only two individuals described as bee-keepers
find a place here: Hamdin b. ‘Abd Alldh al-‘Assdl (A.146) was
one, the other was the prayer leader of the mosque of
al-Qayrawdn (A.440). He was Abii Ja‘far Ahmad b, Khalll al-‘Assil,

Several individuals have been mistakenly given the

name al-‘Assidl by the editor of al-Madirik of ‘Iyad. When one

examines- their life data, however, one finds that these were

1 A1-Dabbigh, vol. 1, p. 36.

2 Al-MAliki, vol. 1, p. 328.

3 yag, al-Madarik, vol, 4, p. 350 (M. ed.), Some kind of -
common ownership for the means of extracting the oil was in
existence; see al-Mialiki, vol, 2, p. 317,
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really al-Ghassil (laundryman),’

f) Spice merchants, Four individuals were dealers in spices.,
Two of then were members of one family (Pedigree No, 27)., The
other two were Abll al-Q8sim Masriir al-Ibzari (C.887) and Abl
‘Abd All3h al-Ibz&rl (C.842),

g) Bakers, Only one baker finds a place in the present lists
(C.364)., There was a bakers'! market in al-Qayrawdn (see
above, p. )e

h) Cooks, Two individuals are described as cooks, One of
these was Jamil al-Shawwd’ b, Ibr&him (A.484). The other is
unnaned (C.,151)., He was the cook of Yazid b, Hitin
al-Muhallabi (A.57).

i) Date merchants. Two individuals among the dealers in
foodstuffs were date merchants, Dates were produced largely
in the semi~desert southern part of Ifriqiy&. The first of
these is Muhammad b, Misd al-Tammir (C.810), the second Ajnad
(A.538), the brother of the former. They were both jurists

of the M3iliki legal school.

j) Livestock dealer. Only one individual in the present lists
is described as a livestock dealer: Hamdis al-Raqqa‘' (C.817).,
The market in al-Qayrawdn which was used by the livestock

dealers was called siiqg al-nakhkh3isin,

To summarize, dealers in foodstuffs in the present
lists are:

a) A.556, C,512

b) A.115, A.,161

c) A.545, C.823

d) B.91, C.267, C,168, C,698

1 ayag, al-Madarik, vol, 3-4, p. 390(B. ed.). The same mis-
take was made in the case of al-Hannit (grain dealer) who
was erroneously called al-Khayyit, see ibid.,pp. 488-490,




e) A.146

£f) C.306, C.842, C,887
g) C.364

h) C.151, A.484

i) A.,538

j) c.s17.

(h) Other Occupations

{i) Entertainers

There are eight individuals who can be described as
entertainers, Entertainment in Ifriqiyad developed in a
similar way to entertainment in the eaét, consisting of‘éinging,
instrumental music, the activities of jesters, etc. We might
also add the entertainment provided for caravans by the haéé&’.

The singer Ziry&b stayed briefly in al-Qayrawan,
arriving in Ifriqiya in A.H,205 and 1eaVin§ it for al-Andalus
in the following year.1 Some of the reciters of poetxy were
also singers, such as Abdl Sharaf al-Qawwil (C.657). The Rabad
al-Bagariyyah, a quarter in al-Qayra&&n; is known to have been
favoured as a dwelling place2 by these peéple.

The Aghlabid amirs employed not only lady's maids
(jawari)3 for singing, but also male singers, who were slaves
and some of whom were eunuchs.4 One of these amirs was Ahmad
b. Muhammad b, al-Aghlab (A.253). A member of the Aghlabid
family who was a good singer (in addition to being a will and
a poet) was Mujbir b, Sufy&n (C.589).

One of the students of al-Bahlil b, RAshid (A.77)

1 E. Lévi Provengal, Hagdirat al-‘Arab fI al-Andalus, transl,
Dh, Qarqiti (Beirut, n.d.), p. 48.

Al-pabbagh, vol, 2, p. 179.

3 Ibn 'Idh&ri, vol. 1, p. 147; ‘Abd al-Wahhib, op. cit.,
vol, 1, p. 182,

4 Abd al-‘arab, p. 201.
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left his tutor to learn music, and was secen with a tambour1
which he concealed in his clothes.2

Even the son of a prominent jurist like Ahmad b,
Wazin al-Sawwdaf (A.255) was attracted to singing and music
which he used to indulge in with his friends.3

The entertainers in the present lists include two
jesters, The first is the jester of the third Aghlabid amlr,
Ziyddat Al11dh I, His name was ‘Amm3r al-Mudahhik (C.337).

The second is Ibn Hubaysh al-Y{n&nl, the jester of Ziyadat
Alldh III.

Two persons are described simply as singers. The
first of these was a singer at the Abbasid court who was
attracted to al-Qayrawdn by the Aghlabid amir, He was Mu’nis
al-Baghdidi (A.485) al-Mughanni, a mawli of Misi b. Bugha,®
one of the courtiers of HArxlin al-Rashid. Mu’nis later joined
the court of the Fajimids and remained in their service until
his death in A,H.314, The other singer was Ibn Marziiq (C.859),
who was a friend of Sa‘id b, al-HJaddad (A.381).

Two persons are described simply as musicians, These
are A.253 and A.421, the latter being a lutanist.

The above eight entertainers are:

A.253, A.484, C.259, C.337, C.421, C,657, C.727, C.855,

(ii) Astrologers and Oneirocritics

Only two individuals in our present lists are des-

cribed as astrologers, This dearth of astrologers may be

v syag, al-Madirik, vol, 3, p. o1 (M. ed.); Abi al-‘Arab,
p. 201.

2 *Iyagd, loc. cit,
3  Al-Dabbigh, vol. 1, p. 168,
4

Misd be. Bughd died in A.H.264; sece al-‘Uyidn wal-Hadi'’iq,
vol. 4, pt. 1, p. 36,
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accounted for by the religious bias of the sources, i.e.,
religious orthodoxy was hostile to this pursuit,.

Hamdis al-Munajjim (C.603)1 was apparently court
astrologer to the Aghlabids. Hamdis met his death as a result
of a prophecy which he gave to the elder son of the anir
Ibr&hinm II. This involved predicting the date of his sont's
succeeding his father, The anir was enraged and ordered the
execution of Hamdis (c. A.H.265). The other astrologer was
an Aghlabid prince (C.459),2 who was a gé;;‘of Tripoli,

Some of the oneirocritics in the present lists seen
to have intexpreted dreams as a living; One in particular
was al-Shaykh Talaq b. al-Shaykh or Talaq al-Mufassir, the
oneirocritic of the ggzg Ziyddat All8h I, He used to tell the
amir of his own dreams if the amir had not had any of his own,
Naturally all the dreams would be analysed in a way which made

the amir happy.
The oneirocritics in our present lists are:

A,163, A.586, B,52.

(iii) Stationers and Papermakexs.

In the present lists only two individuals (A.273,
C.761) are described as stationers (warrig, pl. warragﬁn).3
They were both of Andalusian origin, They were interested in
traditions concerning the history of IfriqiyiZ and many of the
events of that history were related to them, The stationers
rmust have had their own part of the market, but its where-

abouts is now not known, although unpublished manuscripts still

' Ibn al-Khatib, vol. 3, p. 32.

2 Ibn al-Abbir, al-Hullah, vol, 2, p. 379.

3 According to Ibn al-Athir the nisbah "warrig" can also mean
scribe, Sec Ibn al-Athir, al-~Lubdb, vol. 3, p. 357.
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in the hands of private owners and the excavations which are
being carried out in the city may eventually throw light on
this.1

Other individuals are recorded as having been

occupied in making paper. The only one within our period was

A, 542,

(iv) Servants and Slaves (khadam, ‘abid, and futyan)

In the present lists we have thirteen people who are
described either as servants (khadam) or as slaves., In the:
present work the distinction of terms has been preserved, but
in fact no great difference was involved, since "servant” at
that time invariably implied a slave and not an employee.

Some of them were servants of very poor people who had handi-
caps, such as C,877. The aristocratic families were as
concerned as the Aghlabid amirs with keeping a large number of
slaves. In the case of A.,586, his father assigned fifteen
slaves to look after him.2 The same happened in the case of
A,256 who was escorted by a number of slaves,

The numbers of the mawdli and gag3libah in Ifriqiyéh were
very large, according to Ibn al-Jazzdr, who estimates then during
the late Aghlabid era as numbering around 100;000. The Aghlabid
amir Ibrdhim II began to fear their strength and influence which
was growing.3 Some of them held important posts in thé Aghlabid
and Fafimid states, \ |

Most of these thirteen servants are anonymous, 7ITwo
of them were the servants of the amir; C,697 was a butler and

C.780 was an executioner,

3
2

‘Abd al-Wahhib, op. cit.,vol. 3, p. 154.
‘Iyad, al-Madarik, VOl. 3-4’ p. 498 (B. ed.).

Al-‘Uytn wal-Hadi'’iq, vol., 4, pt. 1, pp. 73, 82-83; Ibn
‘1dh&ri, vol. 1, p. 123,
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We have omitted here persons of servile origin who
eventually rose to eminent positions in the state or in society.

Those described as servants in the present lists are:
c.93, C.284, C.376, C.475, C,558, C.586, C.697, C,710, C,780,

c.820, C.821, C.822, C.874, C.877, C.912,

(v) Perfumers

There are ten individuals described as perfumers,
Some of these practised other occupations as well, e.g., dealing
in groceries (C.512 and C.651), and moneychanging (A.221 and
C.512), There was a market for the perfumers in al-Qayrawéin,1
and a qﬁarter in the centre of the city, which was occupied
mostly by rich people, was called the Quarter of the Perfumers.2

The individuals described as perfumers in the present
lists are:

A.143, A.205, A.221, A.383, A.433, A,560, A,651, C.512, C,825,

C.838.

(vi) Goldsmiths

Eight individuals are described, in the present lists,
as goldsmiths (they or their families),

The goldsmith seems to have been working mainly in
turning the metal into gold or silver objects and his dealing
in precious stones is not mentioned, instead we have people
who were dealing with these stones, e.g., al-Lu’lu’i (pearl
dealer); see A.319 and his father C,251, and also see C,233
and A,506,

Sonme gold plated pieces were manufactured in al-Qayrawan

for the people of the Sildin, and one of the goldsmiths who made

See above, Chapter I, p, 15, No, 37,
See above, Chapter I, p, 18, No, 85,
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such objects was Sakan b, Sa‘id al-Si’igh (B.73). These
objects included bridles, saddle decorations, and the like,
The above ten individuals who are described as
goidsmiths or pearl dealers are:
Goldsmiths: A,588, B,73, C,347, C.673

Pearl dealexs: A.,319, A,506, C.233, C,251,

(vii) Blacksmiths

Two individuals are described in the present lists
as blacksmiths, The first was the paternal grandfather of
Sa‘id b, al-Haddid (see Pedigree No, 16). The other black-
smith was both a blacksmith and a swordsmith, only two of :
many other skills and interests, He was ‘Uthmin b, Sa‘id -
al-Sayqal (A.542)..

The blacksmiths in the present lists are:

A.542, C.392,

(viii) Hoteliers

There are four individuals who are described as hotel

proprietors (fundugi, pl. funduqiyyin). The first was ‘Abd

al-‘*Aziz b. Shaybah, who was probably a descendant of Shaybah
b. Hassin (A.65). When 'Abd al-‘Aziz died the state took
over his property including the hotel, because he did not
have an heir, Next is Muhammad b. Khayriin (see Pedigree
No. 25), who had a hotel and a mosque in the quarter which
was known by the name al-Zayy&diyyah (the mosque is still
standing),

The third hotel proprietor was Abll ‘Uwanah al-Basri,
who was a merchant and had a big caravan of camels for his
trade journeys between the east and Ifriqiyad and the Siidin

and Ifriqiyi. The fourth hotelier was ‘Abd Allih b. al-Walid
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al-Funduqli (a mawld of the Aghlabids). He was the prayer-
leader of the mosque of al-Qayrawan, and may have been the owner
of a hofel or the son of an owner,

The hoteliers in the present lists are:

A.377, A.483, A,351, C,799.

(ix) Builders and Brick-makers

In the present lists there are four individuals who
are described as builders and brick-makers, One is Marwan
b. Abi Shahmah al-Balawi, who made bricks from the material
available in al-Qayrawan, i.c,, clay. He gave the ingredients
of his bricks as straw and élay plus some other ingredients.1
Another builder was Sa‘id b, ‘Abbad al-Surti (A.159).
He was a bricklaygr and lived a very impoverished life, He

is also described as a jurist and a faqgih al-badan, The des~

cription al-bannd! is also given to two other individualss

tAbd Alldh b, Mufarrij who was a judge and faqig al-badan, and

‘Abd All&h b, Milik al-Banna’, who is known to have built one
of the most important fortresses on the coast, i,e., Qagr
Ziys.d.2

The builders and bricklayer who are mentioned in our
present lists are:

A.143, A,159, A.513, C.365.

(x) Carpenters

Three individuals in our present lists are described
as carpenters, One of them (A,537) was, in addition, a faglh
al-badan,

Those described as carpenters are:

A.537, C.806, C.852,
1
2

Abd al-‘Arab, p. 200.
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(xi) Pottery Dealer

Only one potter is mentioned in the present lists,
This was Abli Mubammad al-Ghanami (A.498) who had a shop for
this purpose in Siiq al-Ahad where he used to sell pottery
articles and probably ceramic products., It can be assumed

from his occupational nisbah that he himself made the products

which he sold.,

(i) The Unemployed

Many of the individuals included in the present
lists are recorded as having had a certain occupation, or
having some kind of social?status, and these may help in ident-
ifying these individuals. However, there were also indiQiduals
who-had no work or occupation., The first mention of these
unemployed comes from the reign of Ibr3him II.1 Ihey may have
been in this position as a result of the population growth of
the city causing a fall in demand for labour, coupled with a
possible rural migration into the city, and consequently

unemployment., Those people were called in al-Qayrawan, ta'ifat

al-rukniyyah, a term which refers to the corner of the mosque

of Sidi ‘Uqbah.2 Sometimes they were called al-masijidiyyin,
e.d., Abli al-Qasim al-Mas&jidi (C.632) who was one of their
leaders., He is mentioned in a case of extortion against the
Judge of al-Qayrawan, They lived mostly as squatters in the
mosques and depended on the charity of the rest of the community.
Unemployment, together with the weakness of the
central authority was the cause of the apparent spread of

thieves and bandits which made the highway unsafe, This seems

1 Al-Khushani, p. 243.
Ibid.
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to have been the case before the Muhallabids, and before the
Aghlabids, According to Ibn al-Athir, al-Qayrawin had its
fair share of those people and Ibrdhim was quick to stamp
on their activities.1 Towards the end of the Aghlabid
period the roads between al-Qayrawan and the other major
cities became unsafe again, and caravans had to have guards
to protect them from the attacks of the highwaymen, Other
travellers stopped travelling alone and preferred the safety

of well-protected caravans.2

3. Analysis of the Origins of the Population

Unless otherwise stated, the birthplace of every
individual in lists A. B, and C was al~Qayrawdn; obviously
this does not apply to the early years when everyone was an
immigrant. As regards the origins of the population of
al-Qayrawin, al-Ya'qibi,> writing in the latter half of the
third century, states that the components of the populAtion
of al-Qayrawdn were as follows:

(1) Arabs (from the three major confederationms),
(2) Persians (‘Ajam of Khurasin)
(3) The jund (the soldiery who accompanied the Abbasid wilis).

(4) tAjam al--balad.4

(5) Berbers

(6) Byzantines (ggg).s

1 Ibn al-Athir, al-Kimil, vol. 6, p. 107.

2 A1-Maliki, vol. 2, p. 60; al-Dabbigh, vol, 2, p. 312;
Leo Africanus, vol, 1, p. 21,

3 kitsb al-Buldin, p. 348.
4 See Chapter VIII, below, p. 526.
5 See above sec. 1(b), pp. 404-406.
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Al-Ya‘'qiibl's analysis is accurate and our present
lists reflect this. However, his statement is not exhaustive,
Among the elements which are not mentioned by al-Ya‘'qibi
were the Jews and the Christians.1 A number of people
mentioned in the present lists were converts from Judaism and
Christianity.

In particular, al-Ya‘'qlibl does not mention the Copts,
for whose existence in al-Qayrawan we have reliable evidence.2
They came to the city from Tunis, to which they had been
brought by the Caliph ‘Abd al-Malik b, Marwé'm.3

From the latter half of the first century until the
third century the Yamanite Arabs seem to have gained a pre-
dominant position in IfrIqiy&; it cannot have been coincidental
that they virtually monopolized the post of wali of the
province,4 and also the Judge of al-Qayrawidn, who was usually
a de facto judge of the whole province.5 '

The number of Yamanite and Qaysite tribes mentioned
in the present lists is approximately the same. However,
there was a difference between the formations of the two
groups, i.e., the Qaysites, unlike the Yamanites, tended to
divide and form small sections or sub~-tribes while ‘the Yamanite
tribes were mdstly the original big tribes, with far more
members than the smallex Qaysite tribes., If we take the
Arab tribes in al-Qayrawan which have more than one individual

mentioned in the present lists, we find that 26 of then

See above, Chapter II1I, and pp. 91-92,

Al-Miliki, vol. 1, p. 203; ‘ly&¢, Tarijim,
. 409, T

Ibn al-Raqiq, p. 66.
See Chapter II, above, pp. 130-131,

See the relevant office holders in the three lists A, B,
and C, and Chapter VII above, p. 422,

i & WO b =
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were Yamanite tribes against 19 Qaysite tribes, Taking
tribes with more than one individual helps to eliminate the
possibility of a tribe being mentioned on account of an
isolated nisbah, and not as the designation of a group of
people (see Appendix No, 4 ).

Persians in al-Qayrawdan must have come largely with
the Abbasid jund, because this was not an exclusively Arab
army, and some of its well-known leaders in the latter half
of the second century were Persian.1

There was also a considerable number of people who
came to al-Qayrawan from al-Andalus in the second and the
beginning of the third century, as a result of the popular
uprisings in Cordova,2 and they formed a distinctive community
in the city called after their place of origin, al--Andalusiyyﬁn.3

The majority of the places of origin mentioned in
the present lists are names of cities in Ifriqiyda and the
Maghrib (see Map. no. 3). The most important of these are
Surt,4 Tripoli, and Qastiliyah, Cities in Iraq and Persia
are also frequently mentioned as the places of origin of the
people of the city, such as Bagrah, Baghdid, Merv, e;c.

The lists also show the importance of the slave
trade in complicating the racial composition of the éopulation,
since we find slaves who had come from the Sudan, from the

south of Europe (Itaiy and Sicily) and the Slavonic countries.s

See Chapter VI, lists A, B, and C, and Chapter VIII,
See Chapter.III, p. 72.

Ibn ‘Idhari, vol, 1, pp. 102, 167,

See Chapter VIII, Pedigree Nos, 40, 41,

See above (iv).

bk W=
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4, Analysis of Religious Affiliations

An analysis of religious affiliations reflects the
religious history of al-Qayrawin, From the time of its
foundation in A.H.47/A.D.667 the city was inhabited by Muslims,
and there is no mention of any non-Muslim until the second
half of the second century, when we begin to find some frag-

mentary information about the ahl al-Kit3b, We have the nane

of the head of the Christian community in al-Qayrawan (C.éOO)
as well as indications of the existence of a Jewish community.
Muslim sects and factions had of course arisen before
the founding of the cit&: the Kharijites, the Shi‘tites, the
tribal factions of Qays and Yaman, and in addition the two
major Islamic groups which had been the closest to the Préphet,
the MuhijirGn (predominantly Qurashites) and the Angdr (al-Aws
and al-Khazraj). However, with the death of fhe Prophet the
balance shifted in favour of the Muhdjirfin, a point the other
Qurashites did not fail to exploit. The position of the people
of al-Madinah began to decline, especially during the rule of
the Sufyanid branch of the Umayyad dynasty. Yazid b,
Mu‘Swiyyah sent an army which crushed the people of al-Madinah
in the battle of al-Harrah in A,H.64/A.D.683, and many citizens
fled to‘other parts of the Arab empire, especially North Africa,
where they joined the Ifriqiyan arm.y.1 This must have had an
effect on the reception by éhe people of al-Qayrawdn of the

MAliki madhhab.”

1 Wellhausen, p. 160,

2 A1l the people of al-Qayrawidn who were non-Kharijites or
non-Khurasanids (those not part of the Abbasid governmental
or military machine) found in MAlik's madhhab (after their
‘support of the Muhallabid family had failed) the means to
counter the Khurasanids and Iraqi influence in every sphere
of life in the city.
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These factions continued to dominate the life of
al-Qayrawan, and later some of them had a considerable impact
on later events in the country., This is especially true of
the Kharijites, who adopted al-Qayrawdn at the beginning of
the second century as a base for spreading their doctrine.1

Late in the second century the law schools (madhhabs)
began to appear. 7Two law schools dominated Ifriqiy&. The
first was the Hanafi, 1In North Africa it came with the people
of ‘Irdq. This is probably the reason for its followerxs
being called ‘Iraqis or Kifis,

The Hanafls continued during the Aghlabid period
as the madhhab of the state, until the year A.H,234, when
the amir appointed the first MZ1iki judge (A.140). With the
Hanafi madhhab came the Mu‘tazilism which some of the Hanafis
of Ifriqiyd embraced., Mu‘tazilism became the doctrine of the
Abbasid authorities and they tried hard to impose it on
Ifrigiyd. In the end, however, the party in the government of
the Aghlabids which was committed to the I‘'tizdl lost power
(A.H.,233). The man behind all this, Ahmad b, al-Aghlab, was
exiled to the east, and with him the I‘tizdl faded away, with
the exception of a brief revival of it when a Mu‘tazilite
amir was proclaimed in A,H.289-290., From that time, the

-Aghlabid amirs (with some exceptions) tried to strike a balance
between the two major sects, and this may be the secret of the
success of their mutual co-existence.2

The second law school was that of Malik. The xreason
for the spread of Malik's school in North Africa is not

entirely clear, but it may have been partly due to the fact

1 See A.17, C.58, C.59; and above “Analysis of Origins",

2 Abd al-Qisim Ibn Hawgal, Kitib al-Mas&lik wal-Mam3lik;
Descriptio al~Maghrebi, ed. M. de Goeje (Leiden, 1860), p, 336.
See also Chapter V (I.D.6)abaves
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that the scholars of al-Qayrawdn considered that the living
tradition of al-Madinah was a model of the Prophet!'s practice,
the emulation of which would secure them from the perils of
heresy.1 The Milikis were called al-Madaniyyin after the
cradle of their madhhab, al-Madinah, which was the place where
Milik received his students and delivered his ideas on figh.
In addition to the journey which many of the scholars of
al~-Qayrawan undertook to al-Madinah, there were constant
visitors to al-Madinah who came from Ifriqiyd in the course

of the hajj, and al-Qayrawdn came to contain many people who

came originally from al-Madinah,

1 H., Mones, Introduction to Riyad al-Nufis, p. 10.




Chapter VIIIX

RECONSTRUCTION OF FAMILIES

A, Tracing of Pedigrees and Family Histories

The reconstruction of the family resembles the.
reconstruction of an individual's name, It differs only in
the identifying items which are in the case of the family
those of many people, while in the individual's case there
are only two sets. The procedures here used for reconstructing

a family pedigree are as follows:

1. Proof that the name to be linked to a particular family

is connected to a positively identified and already linked
member of that family,

2. Ensuring that there is no missing or uncertain item among
the identifying items which would render the reconstruction
doubtful, One of the most important of these items is a name
which has the lineage of the two individuals: when the nasab
and nisbah are identical, the chance of establishing a definite
}iﬁﬁ yith the family is high. The next items are the dates of
birth and of death; these must always be a controlling factor
in estimating the likelihood of a filial connection, even when
there is an apparently unbroken nasab. In such a case, one is
justified. in assuming that some elements have been droppedj if

other evidence shows a lapse of, e.g., a century, between the

1 Examples may be found in Ibn ‘Idhiri, vol. 1, p. 189 and
Ibn al-Raqiq, p. 200,
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birth of father and his alleged son,

3. A person's profession is often given as part of his name
e.d., al-Khayyat}, al-Mu’addib, al-Bannd’, al-Habb3l, etc.;

this was often inherited, but equally it tended to disappear

or change after several generations, It cannot therefore be

a decisive identifying factor.

4, The name without a nisbah is of hardly any use for family
reconstruction, unless it is accompanied by a statement of
relationship; this is especially so if the nasab is a common
name such.as Ahmad, Muhammad, ‘Abd All&h, ‘Ali, etc. The
presence of the nisbah is not enough by itself, especially in
the case of common ones such as al-Baghdiadi, al-Qaysi, al-Kindi,
al-Tamnimi, al-Surti, al-Nasgrdni, al-Tujibi, etc. The more
distinctive the nisbah the easier it is to relate it to an
earlier specific individual, e.g., al-Samadihi (after a fore=-
father called $amadil;)1 (A. 120), al-Muhallabi (after al-Muhallab
b. AbI Sufrah al-Azdi),

Appended to each pedigree is a short history of the
family concerned., This deals with the following topics:
settlement in the city, the social status and the influence of
the family on the religious, intellectual, and socio-economic
life of the city, and lastly the persistence or otherwise of
the family in its functions and influence during the changing
phases of North African politics,

In the reconstruction of families the objective has
been the same as that of scholars such as Fleury and Henry2
in European historical demography, i.e., to discover as much

as possible about people and their different relationships,

1 «1yad, al-Madarik, vol. 4, p. 93 (M. ed.).

2 M. Fleury and L. Henry, Nouveau manuel de depouillement
et dtexploitation de 1!'état civil ancien (Paris, 1965).
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although the sources of the material involved are different,
i.e., the biographical dictionaries, Owing to the nature of
the Arabic name one has a basis for compiling genealogies of
fémilies using a combination of personal data and the chain

of nasab, which although not to be accepted uncritically
serves as a guide or hypothesis which can be checked and
verified qﬁing personal data and every single identifying item
of each individual,

The choosing of families for reconstruction depends
on the clarity of the relationships and also the number of
people who constitute the family in question. The minimum
number has to be three individuals to justify reconstruction,

In the pedigrees of the reconstructed families,
given below, the order in which the names of individuals are
given in each generation does not necessarily indicate their
relative ages, which are often unknown, Where it has been
possible to determine the relative ages of the members of a
generation the older members are placed towards the left and

the younger towards the right,
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. xeconstructed Pedigrees: Families of al-Qayrawdn

j

A,H,47/A.D,667-A ,H,296/A,D,909

1. ‘Abd al-Muttalib

Many people from the family of the Prophet came to
Ifriqiy3d at the beginning of the Muslim conquest, The Abbasids
in particular had close connections with Ifrigiya. ‘Abd Alldh
b. ‘Abbd3s the cousin of the Prophet was one of the leaders of
the expedition of A.,H.26 which paved the way for the permanent
conquest which followed. The grandson of ‘Abd Alldh b, ‘Abbas
settled in al-Qayrawan and started a family there, He died a
young man leaving a daughter.

Abl Ja‘far ‘Abd Alldh b, Muhammad b, ‘All b, ‘Abd
All13h b, ‘Abb3s (Abl Ja‘far al-Manglir) was the son of a Berber
slave girl, and he took refuge in al-Qayrawdn when the whole
family was wanted by the Umayyad authorities, following their
success in founding the da‘wah which was centred in Khurasan,
Abli Ja‘far was married to the sister of one of the Yamanite
leaders of al-~Qayrawan who had been a widow,

In the latter half of the third century one of the
sons of al-Mahdi came to al-Qayrawan and settled there, He

raised a family after marrying the cousin of the Aghlabids

amir (see Pedigree 1(b)).

(a) The other descendants of ‘Abd al-Muttalib were the
*Alids. No mention is made of these before the second
century, because the concept of tashayyu' which was popular
in the eastern wing of the Empire was not so in the west, which
was permeated by Kharijite ideas.

The first mention of the ‘Alids in al-Qayrawin is

when they fled after the Battle of Fakh in A.H.167,which was
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(al-yajjam) i
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XIIX Muhammad , Abd al-Hasan
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their last real bid f'or power in the east, The leader of the
"‘Alids there was Yahya b, ‘Abd Al1ih who was killed, and his
younger brother Idris fled to the west in disguise and arxived
in al-Qayrawdn. From there his mawl&, Rashid, began to rally
support for him among the Maghribi tribes. The Berbers of

the far Maghrib, having supported the Kharijite movement, now
threw their weight behind an ‘Alid iggg.1

The descendants of al-Hasan b, ‘Ali b. Abi T3alib
lived on in the city from the tﬁird century. After the break
up of the Idrisid state in the Maghrib many of its members
migrated to al-Qayrawan., 7Two individuals were Fatimah and
Muhammad, children of Ahmad b. ‘Ali b. Ismid‘lil b, al-Hasan
b. Zayd b. al-Hasan b. ‘Ali b, Abd Talib (C.831) (C.843),

They lived in the city with their family, Their single tomb-
stone which they shared is not dated, but its dating to the
second half of the third century is probably not very far fron
the truth. The one tombstone for two individuals may be a
sign that they were first, not adults,and secondly that they
died within a short period of eath other. Nothing further

is known of their immediate family.

After the break-up of the Idrisid state of Fez and
the internal differences among the factions of the Idrisid
family many of them came to al-Qayrawan., One of them was
al-Qiasim b, al-Hasan b, Muhammad al-Hasani, known as al=Zubayxl,
He was the son of one of the leaders of Fez, He studied
jurisprudence and settled in al-Qayrawin. Another was the
great grandson of Idris II, whose name was Idris b. Diawld b,

Idris b, Idris. He died in the city in A.H.358.2 However,

Abun-Nagr, p. 80,

2 Roy, vol., 1, p. 261,
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nothing is known about the time he settled in the city, or
whether there were any members of his family who continued
to live in the city.

The other branch of the ‘Alid family was the
Husayni, Two of the grandsons of al-Husayn had their descend=-
ants in al-Qayrawdn. First there were the descendants of
Mubammad b. al-Husayn. Only one of them is known to have
lived in al-Qayrawdn, He was Ja‘far b, Isma‘il b, Misa b.
Jatfar b, Muhammad b, al-},iusayn.1

The other grandson of al-Husayn to have descendants
in al-Qayrawdn was Zayd b, ‘Ali (d., A.H,122), He was the
grandfather of al-T&ri (see fn, A.214) who came to al-Qayrawdn
in the second half of the third century and established a
family there. His family continued to live in the city until
the middle of the fifth century (i.e., Abld al-Hasan who
died in A.H,430, a poet from the Zirid period).2 The second
generation of the family of al-T&ri was represented by
Muhammad b, ‘All b. Husayn (C, 617),who in turn had a son
by the name of Ziy&dat Allih (C, 618). The fourth generation
of the family of al-Tari was represented by Ismia‘ll b, Ziyadat
Alldh, who probably lived in the city around the middle of the

fourth century of the Hijrah,

1 1bn yazm, p. 64,

2 Abg al-Wahhab, '"al-Sharaf al-Hasanl wal-Husayni", in
al-Majallah al-Zayt@iniyyah, May 1940, p. 428,
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1b. The Abbasids

al-*Abbas
' ) '
*Abd All3h ‘Ubayd Allah
' '
‘All ‘Ubayd Allah
' '
Muhammad Unnamed daughter
'
Harun
'
Muhammad
1
Hardn
'
Muhammad
'
*‘Abd al-Wahhdab b, Muhammad - Unnamed niece of
! Ibrdhim II
1
1 0 ' 1 1 t
Muhammad al=-Husayn Hibat *Abd Five Six
Alldh al-Karim other daughters
sons

This family gives an indication of the importance of
al-Qayrawin as a metropolis in the third century, as its pres-
ence indicates the immigration of the highest social stratum
of Baghdad. ‘Abd al-Wahhdb was the grandson of the Abbasid
caliph Muhammad al-Muhtadi (A.H.255-256),., ‘Abd al~Wahhib
settled at al-Qayrawdn in the second half of the third century,
He was married to an Aghlabid princess, a marriage which could
have been of political advantage to the Aghlabids, especially
to Ibrihim b, Ahmad who was neither popular at home nor on
good terms with the caliph.1

Ibn Hazm gives the names of four sons of ‘Abd
al-wWahhib b. Muhammad, and claims that he had nine other sons
and six daughters of that marriage.2 However, Ibn Hazm's text
can be taken to mean that the four named sons are included in
the figure of nine sons. This is more likely than a total of

thirteen, which would make nineteen altogether.3

1 Ibn al-Abbir, al-Hullah, vol.l, p.180; Ibn ‘Idhiri, vol.1,p.129

2 Ibn Hazm, p, 26,

3 1pbid. 1Ibn Hazm after giving the names of the four sons adds
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The two elder sons seem to have left al-Qayrawan,
probably after the Fafimid seizure (A.H,296/A.D,909)., The first
son, Muhammad, went to Spain, where he was received, irénically,
by the Umayyad caliph (in Spain) al-=Nasir, and he lived in Spain
enjoying the generosity and favour of the Umayyad caliph until
he died in A,H.333, Muhammad is explicitly stated to have died
without issue.1

The second son of ‘Abd al=Wahhdb b, Muhammad was
al-Husayn, who went to Sicily at an undetermined date. Nothiné
more is recorded about his career., The fate of the rest of the
family finds no mention; there are a number of references to
the name al-‘A.bbasi,2 but without enough identifying items to

prove a connection between them and the f&mily of ‘Abd al-Wahh3b

2, Dinir al-Ansari

A?ﬁ al-Muhijir DInar (A. 2)
S?layman (B. 4)

‘?bd al-Malik

M?bammad

‘Isa (B, 72)

The place of origin of this family is not known for
certain, but can be assumed to have been Egypt, for DiInir was
a mawld of Maslamah b, Mukhlid al-Angarl, who was a prominent
Umayyad supporter in Egypt during their struggle to gain con-
trol of the Muslim state, DiIndr was one of his active aides

in that respect. Maslamah was appointed wall of Egypt and

North Africa was included under his authority. He appointed

the following: el Casey banas 6 *Vin g mdg e e e
this means the four must be added 10 the nine;  however, it is

probable that the number '"nine" was intended by the author as an
overall number Of the sons against the number of daughters which
was given, In this case the semi-colon should be put before the
word "nine" and it will be: Tl Cawy dnst Yo pd oy 4 4 W

1 Ibid.
2 A1-MAlikI, vol. 2, p. 39 and see A.635.
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his mawli Abili al-Muhdjir Dindr wilil over Ifriqgiyi as a reward
for his services.1

The religious background of the family is nowhere
stated, but from Abfi al-Muhijir's policy in North Africa he
seems to have been aware of the Christian mentality and out-
look, as is shown by his action when he was faced with Kusaylah,
the Berber leader.2 He tried to win hearts and minds rather
than battles, without however showing any weakness, and he
managed to do this successfully., His understanding of the
peoplet!s psychology might suggest that he was a convert from
Christianity. This policy was cut short by the return of the
uncompromising ‘Ugbah b, Nafi‘', who resumed his policy of
suppression, with fatal results; Abfi al-Muhdijir and ‘Ugbah
were killed in an ambush set by Kusaylah and his allies, near
Tabnah,> in A.H.64.

The second generation of the family, as represented
by Sulaym3n, participated in the completion of the conquest of .
North Africa and he was one of the commanders of Misi b,

Nugayr's army which subdued the far Maghrib.4

Apart from this
fraction of information nothing is recorded of the career of
Sulaymin. The third generation of the family was represented
by ‘'Abd al-Malik, who is otherwise unknown to us; nothing
seems to be recorded about his life, His name was given as

part of the nasab of his grandson ‘Isi (B, 72).°>
1

Ibn ‘Idhari, vol, 1, p. 22,

Kusaylah b, Lumzum al-Burnusi's (al-Bardnisi's) rebellion
was caused by ‘Ugbahts policy which tried to undo the steps
‘taken by Ablli al-Muh&jir to draw the Berbers peacefully to Islam,
The rebellion of Kusaylah was the first setback to the Muslim
conquest, See ibid., pp. 23-32,

3 For Tabnah the capital of al-z&b, see Map no, 2,
4 1bn al-Raqiq, p. 77. :
5

His tombstone is preserved in the Museum of IbrZhim b.
al-Aghlab in al-Qayrawdn, under no, 638, The chain of the nasab
of ‘Isd seems incomplete in Abl al-‘Arab (p. 206). ‘Abd
al-Malik is omitted from the version of Abli al=-‘Arab (see ibid.).
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The fourth generation is represented by the father
of ‘Isi b, Muhammad b. Sulaymin who, like his father ‘Abd
al-Malik, is otherwise unknown., The fifth generation of the
family is represented by ‘Is& b, Muhammad b. ‘Abd al-Malik,
who was one of the greatest Ifrigiyan historians, He wrote

the book Futiih Ifrigiyd which is now believed to be lost, but

despite this many of the data of the book are preserved in

later works, He was a great traditionist as well, and was the
authority of most of the later Ifriqiyan historians

(ikhbariyyfin).

3. Al-Ashajj
Sa‘id al-Ashajj (C. 178)
:
] 1 L
Salamah ‘Abd Allzh Muhammad (C. 321)
]

(C.693) (AbT Sa‘id) ‘Abd Al115h (A. 275)
1

Maryam (A, 436)

The word al-ashajj means "having a scar on the head"
(from shajja, '"to injure the head"). This family came from
*Ix8q. The founder of the family in al-Qayrawdn was Sa‘lid, who
is mentioned by Abll al-‘Arab as an employee in a drapery shop
owned by an ‘Iriqi. Sa‘'id in this anecdote was a friend of
both al~Bahlfil (A. 77) and Rabdh b. Yazid (A. 5), the two
religious leaders of the city.

The madhhab of Sa‘'id al-Ashajj is not clear from
Abii al-‘Arab's mention of him, However, the legal schools were
not fully differentiated at that period, and the founders of

these madhhabs were still merely teachers among many others,

1 AbG al-‘Arab, p. 122,



473

It is notable that most of the people who originally came
from ‘Ixdq chose to follow the ‘Ir&qgi imam, Abl Hanifah
al-Nu‘m3n b, Thabit al-Kifl, even though most of them had
never seen him or studied under him. It is therefore not
surprising that the word 'Iraql and the word Hanafl became
synonynous,

What brought Sa‘'id to al-Qayrawdn is unknown, He
might have come with his father or another relative, but he
could not have come on his own, because Abli al-‘Arab's account
of 5a‘tid portrays him as only a boy in his late teens (ggulam).1
Despite Sa‘id's early settlement in gl-Qayrawdn, the family
retained links with their home town of al-Bagrah to which they
returned for varying lengths of time., Some of them may have
returned there for good, and we can identify them through
their nisbah, al-Ashajj.

SalZmah b, Sa‘id (C.693) one of the sons of Sa‘ild,
was a Bagrah traditionist., One of his hadiths refers to the
state of jurisprudence and the attitude of the jurists to
al=-Qayrawadn to the discussions of the day. This indicates
that he had just arrived from al-Qayrawdn, as he says, "I left
al-Qayrawdn and the people were discussing . . ."2

The second son of Sa‘lid was ‘Abd Alldh, who had the
kunyah of Abli Sa'id. He is not mentioned as having lived in
al-Qayrawan; Ibn al-Athir mentions him as being one of the
celebrated traditionists of al-Bagrah .3

The third son was Muhammad, whose family remained in
al-Qayrawan, Apart from this we know nothing of Muhammad except

his being the father of Abli Muhammad ‘Abd Al115h b, Muhammad
1
2
3

Ibid., p. 121.
‘Iydg, al-Madarik, vol, 3-4, p, 91 (B, ed,).
Ibn al=-AthIr, al-Lub&b, vol, 1, p. 63.




474

b. Sa‘id al=Ashajj (A. 275). ‘Abd All3h is the best recorded
member of the family because of the data we have about him,
He was a great Hanafi jurist, and the Aghlabid family employed
him as a tutor to their princes. Some of the amirs were his
students., However, he was implicated, or so it was alleged,
in a conspiracy to overthrow the amir IbrZhim Ibn Ajmad (A. 279).
‘Abd All3h was arrested together with the other defendants.
‘Abd Alldh was lucky to have escaped execution together with
the leaders of the plot.1 He was imprisoned for six months,
after which he was released. He spoke about his experience
as "an escape from the claws of death,"

Abl Muhammad ‘Abd AllZh was versed in the figh of
Abl Hanifah., He made a journey to the east, which at that
time was a matter of great importance. His connection with
the ruling family may have kept him apart from the mainstream
of Qayrawdni jurisprudence and deflected him into the political
field.2

In the fourth century, one name occurs ﬁhich may be
linked with this family: Maryam ibnat ‘Abd Allih b, Muhammad
(A, 436). She died in A.H. 305, thirty-one years after the
death of her father, who died as an old man, It is likely that
she died unmarried, or at least without descendants, for the
majority of women are usually given the isms of their sons
as a kunyah, i.e., the eldest or the most important of one!s
children, Nothing further is known of her life however, The
inscription on her tombstone is brief and to the point, and no
information about her family i.e., al-Ashajj, can be deduced,

apart from the fact of her paternal connection with al-Ashajj.

1 Al-Dabbagh, vol. 2, p. 232,

2 He was the tutor of the Aghlabid amir, see ‘Abd al-Wahhab,
vol, 1, p. 226. R
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4, Al=Ash‘aril

Ish&q b, Makram (C., 170)
1
t

Ibrdhin (Abl al-Munh3l) (C. 832)
1

$

1 ' 1 ] 1 1

Ahmad ‘Abd Allah Qasim Muhammad Ishaq
(C.573) (A.342) (A.250)  (A.295) (C.902)
' t
Abtd ‘All (b. Ibn?) Muhamnmad
(C.922) !
Qasim

(d. A.H.346)

The first member of this family to come to Al-Qayrawin
was Abll Ya‘qﬁb1 Ishdaq b, Makram, who came to the court of Yazid
b, Hitim al~Muhallabi (ruled Ifriqiyd A.H.154-171), 1Ish&q was
a scholar with wide knowledge of literature and probably gram=-
mar, and he used to entertain Yazid with his extensive
knowiedge ofwhistory. Apart from this nothing is recorded of
Ish3q or endeed his family, until the year A.H.181, when Asad
b. al=Furit returned from his journey to the east. Many
students came to study under him, one of these was the son of
Ishaq b. al-Munhdl.? His .name was Abll al-Munhil Ibr3hIm b.
Ishiq, and being originally from ‘'Ir&q, he preferred to study
the madhhab of ahl al-‘Iriaq, i.e., that of Ablli Hanlfah, Ab{ -

al-Munn&l Ibr&him was a jurist of the Hanafis and he was a

contemporary of Abfi ‘Uthm&n Sa‘id b, Muhammad (A. 381) who

was born in A,H.219, This shows that Ablli al-Munh3l Ibr&him

must have lived well into the second part of the "third century.
Ibrshin b. Ishiq had five sons:> Abhmad, ‘Abd Allh,

Qisim, Muhammad, and Ishdq. O©One of the five sons of Abl al-Munh&l

' 1bn al-Raqiq, p. 157. Yazid b, Hatim used to give him the

kunyah Ablli al-Ya‘dqib (pl. of Ya‘'qlib), which is another way of
saying Abili Ya‘'qtb,

Al-MA1ikI, vol. 1, p. 182,

3 Al-Khushani, p. 248; al-Khushani erroneously states that
there were only four sons,
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Ibrdhim, Ahmad,was a witness to the trial of ‘Abd Allih b,
Ahmad b, Talib (A, 222) when the latter was prosecuted in

A, H,259, but Ahmad did not follow the line of his fellow
Hanfi jurists in condemning Ibn T&lib (A. 222), The partic-
ipation of Ahmad b. Abi al-=Munhdl in this incident is of some
significance in establishing the relationships between the
jurists of the two law schools as individuals, It shows

(1) he was the elder of the five brothers; (ii) his father
was not alive when the event took place.

The sequence of the sons of Ibrdhim b, Ishaq cannot
be established. The second son of Ibrihim b, Ishiaq was ‘Abd
Al13h who was also a jurist. He died in A.H.297. The third
son of IbrShiIm was Qisim who was a great judge and adminis-
trator. He was appointed Judge of Sicily, and wielded
considerable political influence there, During the civil
strife which engulfed Sicily, Q&sim was despatched to the
island to calm the situation, but he drowned on his way after
his ship was wrecked in a storm.1

Q&sim b. Ibrd&him left a son, His name was Muhammad
but his caxeer is not recorded and all we know is his nanme,
He had a son by the name of Abfli Sa‘id Q&sim b, Muhammad who
was appointed Judge of Tunis and was prominent in the F&{imid
administration, He died in A.H, 346 and the Caliph al-Mu‘iz
himself came out for his funeral, and was said to have walked
in the procession because of his grief,

The fourth son of Ibrdhim was Muhammad, who was a
jurist, He died in A,H.290, The ri!3sah (leadership) which

he enjoyed according to Ibn ‘Idhiri may have been leadership

1 Al-‘UyGn wal-Hadi’iq, vol. 4, pt. 1, p. 84.

Ibid,, vol. 4, pt. 2, p. 49.
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in the field of knowledge, but it may have been simply the
status enjoyed by any wealthy and prominent person of the
city.1

The fifth son of IbrZhlm was Ishaq (C., 902). He
was the youngest son of Abii al-Munhil. Through Ishiq the
family continued to .be important during the Fitimid era. He
was appointed Judge of al-Qayrawan.2 Later he was dismissed,
only to be reinstated.

One cannot be certain regarding the situation of
the Judge of al-Qayrawadn at the time, i.e., whether Ishiq had
offered his support for the new Shi‘'i doctrine, or whether he
was acting as judge for the majority of the inhabitants who
were Sunnis, The latter might be assumed on the basis of the
existence of the Shi‘i judge who first resided at Raqgqida and
then at al-Mahdiyyah, which was the F&t{imids! stronghold and
newly founded capital city. According to al-Khushanil, however,
the Judge of Bargah, who was appointed by the Fatimids, did
not adhere to the teaching of the Ghi‘i mau:lhhab3 in his court,

The life data of Ish&q b. Abl al-Munhil are not
complete, We only have the dates of his appointment and dis-
nissal, together with the information that he served under the
first two Faf{imid caliphs. He was last mentioned.in A,H,322,
when Abli al-Q&8sim b, ‘Ubayd All&h (al-Qa’im) was proclaimed
caliph.4

The dates of birth and the biographical data of the
sons of Ibrdhim b, Ish8q are sparse, This is owing to the

fact that most of these names come in other men's biographies,

Ibn ‘Idhdaril, vol, 1, p. 136.
Ibid., p. 189.

Al-Khushani, p. 297,

Ibn *Idhari, vol, 1, p. 208,

AL O =
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not in ones devoted to them themselves, This may be attrib-
uted to the religious bias of the MilikiI authors, who tend
to neglect or minimise the importance of the Hanafis,

The most obscure member of the family is Abfi *Ali Ibn
Ibn Abi al-Munh3dl, The form in which this name is recorded
(i.e., "son of the son of so~-and-so") is veryvuhusual, and
means that we have no way of telling which of the five sons
of Abi{i al-Munhdl was his father., Ishaq b, Ibrd&hiIm can be
eliminated as a possible father of Abﬁ ‘All, because he was
said to have been approximately the same age as the former.1
Any of the remaining four could, however, have been the father
although the likelihood is reduced with those of younger age.
Ahmad is perhaps therefore to be regarded as most likely to
have been the father, as he seems to have been the eldesf.

The family of Ibn al~Munh3l al~Ash‘ari continued to
exist in al-Qayrawdn and Tunis, It served the F&f{imids with
dedication, almost certainly changing its madhhab, in the same
way that its earlier generations had served the Muhallabids
and the Aghlabids. One member of the family who was the Judge
of Ifriqiya at the time, accompanied his master a.l-Mu‘iz2 when
the latter changed the capital of his empire from.&l-Qayréwan
to Cairo. It is not clear whether the rest of the fanmily did

the same or stayed behind in Ifriqiy3.

1 Al-Khushani, p. 251.

2 Al-Kindl, suppl.,pp. 591-592. He continued to occupy the post of
judge in Egypt.



479

5, Ibn al=Jund al-Azdi
. *Abd ?l-w&rith
Mu‘t?b (A. 165)
A};magi (A. 230)

' 1
’Vraasan (C. 655) Husayn (C. 649)

$
t t ]

‘Abd al-Warith *Abd al-Wahhab ‘Abd al-Wahhab

AbG Ahmad Mu‘'tib was the first memﬁer of the family
to gain eminence through religious scholarship., The family
was apparently one of the jund families, and probably came to
the city with the Abbasid armies which were under the
Muhallabids, who were themselves Azdis. The statement of
al-Dabb3agh which excludes the family from being among the

baladiyyiin familes leéves little doubt that it was from the

Mattib b. Abi al-Azhar was born in A,H,160, at a
time when the Muhallabids were at their zenith, The fixst
‘Abd al-Warith was probably the first member of the family who
was an actiye member of the Jund.

In al-Qayrawan the impact of the jund lasted much
longer after it was disbanded,and the descendants of the members
of the jund continued to behave as a distinctive class in
society, although they had to adjust to the new situation, and
so we find many of them moving from military prominence to the
social prominence gained through religious scholarship.2

Mattib left a son named Ahmad, who in addition to

studying in al-Qayrawan travelled to the east for the study

1 A1-pabbagn, vol. 2, p. 105,

2 The examples are numerous: Sahnin (A.,140); Asad b,
al-Furdt (A. 108); Jabalah b, Humid (A, 353) and Abll
al-‘Arab (A, 558), etc.
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of jurisprudence and tradition, Ahmad was a friend of the
amir Ibr3him II, and was at his side when the riot of
al-Dar&him broke out in A.H,267, The amir tried to win the
Malikis over through these religious leaders.1 Abli Ja‘far
Ahmad appears to have had two sons, although it is just
possible that there was only one son, the name having been
varied erroneously fo produce two pexrsons, ﬁithout sufficieﬁt
evidence to substantiate this (Hasan and Huéayn). As regards
the relative ages of the two brothers nothing can\be
affirmed except that we know that historical precedent was
dften followed, thus causing parents to give the name
al-Hasan (Hasan) to the elder and al-Husayn (Husayni to the

younger .

The fifth generation of the family lived in the
fourth century. This was represented by the two sons of
Hasan, ‘Abd al-Warith and ‘Abd al-Wahhdb. Again the relative
ages cannot be stated for certain, but ‘Abd al-Warith died
in A,H,391 or 392.2 Husayn b. Ahmad had a son, ‘Abd al-Wahh&b,

who was a traditionist, about whom nothing further is known,

1 A1-pabbiagh, vol. 2, p. 182,
‘Iy3dgd, al-Madiarik, vol. 3-4, p. 529 (B, ed.).
Amari (Append.), p. 2.
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6., Al-‘Attir al-Azdi

Jarir al-Azdi (W)
]
Misa (B. 51)
t
Abl Dawld Abhmad’ (A. 221)

1

Abli ‘Abd Al113h Muhammad (A, 375)

This is a maw3dll family, They came to Ifriqiya with
the army of Yazid b. Hatim al-Muhallabi in A.H.155.1 Jarir,
the founder of the family in Ifriqiy3, was thé first to embrace
Islam (at the hands of Yazid b. Hatim), ana~this is the
explanation of the nasab al-Azdi‘..2 The tribal origin and the
place of the origin of Jarir are not recorded, but as he was
a Khurasinl soldier we can safely discard the ﬁrovince of
Ifriqiy3d as his place éf origin, |

The second generatioﬁ of~the‘family is represented

by Abli Ahmad Misa b. Jarir who was born the same year his father

3 Misa

arrived in al-Qayrawan with the army of Yazid b.'Hatim.
was a Jjurist and‘a traditionist and was one of the students of
Yahyda b. Salldm al-Bagri. Nothing further is recorded of his
career, except his teaching of the commentary on the Qur’An

by Yahya b, Sall&m, to students in al-Qayrawan.4 One of those
attending Abli Ahmad Misa's lessons was his son Abi Dawid Ahmad
(A. 221). Ahlmad was introduced to the religious sciences by
his father Misd who had contacts with the jurists and trad-

itionists of his time.s He was a student and a personal friend

of Sahnln b. Sa‘id (A. 140) and his family. Ahmad was born in

‘Iyag, al-Madarik, vol. 4, p, 395 (M. ed.).
Al-Dabbigh, vol, 2, p. 288,

Abt al-‘Arab, p. 203,

Ibid.

oA W=
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A.H, 183 and died in A.H. 274, .By profession Abd DAwld was
a perfumer, It is not clear whether any member of his family
was engaged in this profession before him,

The fourth generation of the family is represented
by Muhammad, the son of AbQl Dawlid Ahmad b, Jarir, He was born
in A.H.212 and was a jurist, He studied under his father and’
Mubammad b. Yahys b. Sallsm, and he himself was an authority
for those people who came after him, His impartiality was
fecognised by the judges and he was employed as a co&rt
witness.! Ab0 ‘Abd Al13h Mubammad died in A.H.300, on Friday
19 Rajab, and was buried in B&b Salm.2

The historians of al-fayrawdan and the biographical
authors sum up the contribution of the family in the field of
the religious sciences from Misi b, Jarir until the.death of
Abi ‘'Abd Allah Muhammad, stating that ''the leadership and

glory of the science lasted in the family for about one hundred

and eighty years."3

1 Al-Dabbigh, vol. 2, p. 287.

2 1bid., p. 288.

_3 Ibid. This number is inaccurate, because if we take it from
the time Misd began his study (i.e., from A,H.277 to the death
of the last recorded individual in the family, Abll ‘Abd Allsh
Mubammad) the number of yvears will be 125 and not one hundred
and eighty; and even if we take A.H.155 as a starting point,
the number will be considerably short of 180 years.



Abli Sufrah al-Azdi

Abli Sufrah al-Azdix
1

$
1

1 1 ]

Qabigah Sanbar al-Muhallab al-‘Al3’
1 1
*Uthman , ; — , -
' Yazi 1 = 2 - 3 4 -
£ azid Marwd@n  Habib Qabigah Abi
Ha 3 ‘Uyaynah
‘Umar (A. 53) al-Mughirah®
Ziy§d7
* The descent of Abl $ufrah was as | Mu‘awiyah8
follows: Abli Sufrah Rilim b, Sarraq - 1.9
b. Subp b, Kindi b. ‘Amr b. ‘AdI b. ‘Abd al-Malil
wi’il b. al-Harith b. al-‘Atiq b. Muhammad
al-Azd b. ‘Imrdn; for his family _ 11
see Ibn Hazm, p. 269. al Mufda112
al-Mudrik
Hind.13
al-yajjas' 4
Ja‘far15
‘a6
Shabib'’
sa‘'ia'®
‘Abd A113h'°
20

‘Abd al-‘Aziz

1

Yazid was only one of al-Muhallab!s alleged three hundred sons;

for Yazid'!'s descendants (other than those at (i) below, see Ibn

2

g O ® N o n s W

Ibid.
For his descendants, see ibid., p. 269,
Ibid., p. 370.
Ibn al-Athir, al-K3mil, vol. 4,
1bid., p. 368.
Ibid., p. 370.
Ibid., p. 368.

Ibn al-Athir, op. cit., vol.
368.

Ibid., pp. 369-370.

Ibid.

Ibid., p. 268.
Ibn al-Athir, op, cit., vol.

149,

14-20

Ibn Hazm, p. 368,

168;

- Hazm, p. 268;

Ibn Hazm, p. 369.

and see Ibn Hazm,
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(1) Yazid b. al-Muhallab
]

t i t t
Habib ‘Abd Alldh (A. 62)  ‘Amr
b4
1
L ] 1 1
Sufydn Nagr (B.31) al-Fag¢l (C.234)

(ii) Marw3an b, al-Muhallab
1

Sa‘id
1

Al-*Al3’(A. 68)

(diid) Habib b. al-Muhallab
1
i
! T
tAbbad . Yazid
1 1}
Y - T al:Sammah
Sulaym3n (C.143) Muhammad
(d. A.H.210) Sulaymdn (C.174)
(iv) Qabigah b. al-Muhallab
H
L
1 1 T
Hatim Hafg ‘Uthmin
1
t
] !
Rawh (A. 35) Yazid (A. 57)
1
. : r 7 ~Muhammad (C.158)
al-Fagl (A.63) Bishr Qabigah -Satid (C.221)
i (C.173) -al-Muhallab (C.220)
al-Mughirah -« 22
(C.228) Abd All8h (C.225)
~-Ishdq (C.167)
-Khi1lid (C,219)
-Dawlid (C.195)
-al-Mughirah
(v) Abi ‘Uyaynah b, al-Muhallab
!
]
! 0 1
al-Minjab al-Muhallab Muhammad
1

1 1
‘\Abd Allih Abd ‘Uyaynah
(C.199)
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The decendants of two of the sons of Abli Sufrah
al-Azdi played an important part in the Muslim empiré, not
only in the east but also in the west. The first of the two
was Qabigah b, Abl Sufrah, whose great-grandson was ‘Umar b,
Hafg b, ‘Uthman b, Qabigah b, Abl $ufrah al-Azdi (A. 53).

‘Umar was one of the commanders of the Abbasid revolution,

and was considered one of their most able generals. He received
many important appointments, and when the Abbasids felt that the
pfovince of Ifriqiya was in danger, he was dispatched in A,H.150
to replace his colleague al-Aghlab b, S3ilim, who fell.victim-to
his mutinous army. ‘Umar was killed by the foxrces of the
Ibadites who were besieging the city, before the caliphts rein-
forcements, led by Yazid b. Hatim b, Qabisah b, al-Muhallab,
arrived, Yazid b. Hatim was a descendant of the third son of
Abl Sufrah, i.e., al-Muhallab, and the arrival of Yazid in
al-Qayrawdn opened another chapter in the history of the family
in North Africa,

Al-Muhallab b. AbI $ufrah was the Umayyad general
who was in chérge of the eastern wing of the Muslim empire.

He fought relentlessly the enemies of the Umayyads, and with
his colleague al-Hajjaj b. Ylisuf managed to enforce Umayyad
authority in the eastern parts of the Muslim domain,

The descendants of al-Muhallab continued to hold very
important positions-in the Umayyad administration, led by Yazid
b. al-Muhallab,but later they fell out with them and Yazid led
an insurrection against Yazid b, ‘Abd al-~Malik, He managed to
hold on to ‘Ir3dq and to .fight the caliph from there, but in
the end the Muhallab family was defeated and its members were

either killed or sca‘ctered.1 _Some of theﬁ joined the growing

' 1bn al-Athir, op, cit., vol. 4, pp. 171-177.
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opposition to the Umayyads which was already supported by the
Yamanite party.

The reverses of the family at the hands of Yazid b.
*‘Abd al-Malik was probably behind their joining the Abbasid
movement in Khurasin, and their strong commitment to the
Abbasid state. ‘Umar b, Hafg was one of these,

The second of the descendants of Abii ufrah al-Azdl
to rule Ifriqiya was Yazid b, Hatim b, Qabigah b, al-Muhallab
(A. 57). His army was sent to relieve the beleaguered city
of al-Qayrawdn, but he arrived too late, to find ‘Umar b. Hafg
had been killed and the city in the hands of the Ibadités.
Yazid restored the province to the Abbasids and with his rule
a new dynasty was installed in Ifriqiy3d, which was to last
until it fell under the blows of the Abbasid army (the

Khurasanid jund) in A,H, 179,

Yazid b, Hitim initiated the reérganisation of public
facilities, i.e., markets, mosques, and the oréanization of
crafts, and because of this he was considered to have re-founded
the municipal administration of al-Qayravban.1 The country
prospered and the city attracted many outstanding eastern men
of letters.2 The province was peaceful throughout Yazid b,
Hitim's term as wall of Ifriqiyd (A.H.154-170). Yazid was
succeeded by his son Dawiid (C. 195), who was appointed by his
father during the illness of the latter., The term of Dawiid in
the post of will lasted seven and a half months, and it was
marred by renewed trouble with the Ibadites. He was recalled
from Ifriqiyd to be appointed will of the province of Sind,
which he continued to rule until his death.

' 1bn al-Raqiq, pp. 149, 162, 1Ibn al-Raqlq expresses this by

saying that Yazid was the man who brought about the tamgir of
the city.

2 Ibid., p. 152.
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After the death of Yazid b, Hatim in A.H,170, his
elder brother Rawh b, H&tim al-Muhallabi was appointed in his
place; the term of Dawld b, Yazid was in interim one, between
the terms of the two brothers, HAariin al-Rashid explained his
motives behind appointing Rawlh to the post by saying that the
family of al=Muhallab had many adherents in Ifriqiya, and
they might come to harm if a non-member of the family took
charge. Rawh had a long record of service to the Abbasid
caliphs as a chamberlain and as a wdll of several provinces
in the eas1:.1

Rawh arrived in al-Qayrawdn in Rajab, A.H.171, and
the first thing he did was to consolidate his family in the
different regions of Ifriqiya. He improved his relations with
the Ibadite state of Tahirt, which was under the Ibadite imim
‘Abd al-Wahhdb b. Rustam.2 The country enjoyed peace and
tranquillity and the highways became safer, but during this
time Rawlh) was ageing and becoming very frail., This alarmed
the army commander and the master of posts and they informed.
the caliph that Rawh could die at any time, and recommended
Nagr b. Habib, the chief of the policy of Yazid b, H&tim, to
the post of wdli. HAarldn al-Rashid agreed with the recommend-
ation of the two men and sent a secret decree appointing Nagr
b. Habib in place of Rawh b, Hatim as soon as the latter died.
Rawh, however, had appointed his son Qabigah to succeed him,
and when he died people came to the great mosque to pledge
their allegiance to Qabigah b. Rawh; nevertheless, the head
of the army and the master of posts were éuick to proclaim
Nagr b. Hablb as wdll after disclosing the caliph'!s letter of

appointment.
1
2

Ibn al-Raqiq, p. 171,
Ibid., p. 173,
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Rawh b, Hatim had in addition to Qabigah two other
sons, Bishr and al-Fa¢gl, The first son of Rawh b, Hatim
Qabligah was the will of Bargah, before the death of his father,
The second son of Rawh was Bishr, who is only recorded in
Ifriqgiya through his son al-Mughirah, "Al=Mughirah was the
direct cause of the insurrection of the army, He maltreated
the troops when his uncle al-Fagl b. Rawh appointed him will
of Tunis., The third son of Rawlh was al-Fagl b. Rawh, who was
the widll of al-Zab during the rule of his father, When Nagr
b. Habib was appointed in place of Rawh b, Hatim, al-Fagl
decided to go to the east. In A,H,176 the caliph sent him
back to Ifriqiya as wili. He was well received by the people,
but fell out with the jund led by Ibn al-Jariid. Al-Fadl was
killed in A,H.,179 and the caliph had to take charge of the
situation through his generals.1

The second son of al-Muhallab b, AbI ufrah to have
had descendants who played a part on the North African scene
was Marwaﬁ b. al-Muhallab., Marwdan had a son called Sa‘id who
does not seem to have had any connection with North Africa,
but his son, ai-‘Alé' b, Sa‘id (A. 68), was one of the lead-
ing generals of the Muhallabids. He was wd8ll of Tripoli for
eleven years, after which he was wilil of al-Z&b until ‘the
troubles broke out between the Muhallabid family ‘and the jund,
When the aimy of the jund marched into the city he was withdrawn
from al-Z3b but was too late to save the life of al-Fagl b,
Rawh and the city from the iggg.z Meanwhile the forces of the

1 Ibn al-Athir, op. cit., vol, 5, p., 95; Ibn al-Raqlq,
pp. 201-202,

2 Ibn al-Athir, op. cit., vol., 5, p. 96. The army of al-‘Al3’
b, Sa‘ld managed to take the c¢ity, because Ibn al-Jarfid found it
impossible for him to face the strong army of al-‘Ali’,

Al-‘*Al3’ had been quick to seize the city before the Abbasid
general, first in order to avenge the death of al-Fagl b. Rawh,

and secondly to curry favour with the caliph,
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caliph were closing in on the city and a new wilil was installed
by the caliph (A.H. 179). Al~-‘Al3' withdrew from the city,
making for Egypt where he died in the same year (A.H.179).1

The third branch of al-Muhallab's family to serve
in North Africa were the descendants of his son Hablb, Neither
Habib nor his sons, ‘Abbad, Muhammad, and Yazid, had any con-
nection with North Africa. The involvement of the descendants
of Habib began with his grandson Sulaymi&n b, ‘Abtad h, Habib
(C. 143) who was one of the military commanders of Yazid b,
HAitim al-Muhallabi. The second son of Habib b, al-Muhallab
was Yazid, who had a son called al-gammah; al-$ammah had a
son, Sulaym3n b. al-Sammah (C. 174) b, Yazid b. Habib, who was
one of the commanders of Dawlid b, Yazid b, Hatim during his
turbulent rule over Ifriqiyad, and Sulaymin achieved major
vitories against the internal and external enemies.2

The fourth branch of al-Muhallab b, AbI Sufraht's
family to come to Ifrigiya was that of Qabigah b. al-Muhallab,
Most of the walis of Ifriqiya in the Muhallabid period came
from this branch.. Qabigah b, al-Muhallab had three sons, but
none of them were connected in any way with IfrIqiyad. They
were Hitin, Hafg, and ‘Uthm3n, H3&tim b, QabIgah was the
ancestor of the Muhallabids who ruled Ifriqiyd with only a
yearts break for a quarter of a century (A.H.154-179)., Hatim
had two sons, both of whom ruled Ifriqiyd after distinguished
careers in the service of the caliph as wills of several prov=-
3

inces in the Abbasid domain.

The first son of Hitim was Rawh b, Hitim, who

V' Ibid.; Ibn al-Raqiq, p. 202.

2 1Ibn *Idhiri, vol., 1, p. 82, Ibn ‘IdhirI omits the ism of
Sulaymi&nts father, i,e., al-Sammah; see Ibn al-Ragiq, p. 169,

3 Ibid., p. 171.



4GS0

succeeded his younger brother Yazid b, Hitim as wili over
Ifriqiyd. He had three sons, Qabigah, Bishr, and al-Fagl.
QabIgah was wdli of Tripoli on behalf of his father, who tried
to appoint him his successor over Ifriqiyid, but the other
members of Rawh'!s administration had other ideas of whom to
recommend for the post.1 .They succeeded in appointing Nagr
b. Habib, as mentioned above, The second son of Rawlh b,
Hatim was Bishr, of whom we know nothing except the fact that
he was the father of al-Mughirah b. Bishr (C. 228), who was -
instrumental in the downfall of this family. He antagonised
the army when he was appointed w8l of Tunis by his uncle
al-Fag¢gl b. Rawl;.2

The third son of Rawh b, Hitim was Al-Fagl b, Rawh
who was appointed wili of Ifriqiyi in A.H.176. His rule was
marred by the insurrection of the Abbasid army, led by ‘Abdawayh
b. al-Jirlid (C. 229). Al-Fagl was defeated by the army and was
killed in A,H.179, ’ '

The second son of Hatim>b.iQabI$ah was Yazld b, Hitim,
who ruled IfrIqiyd for fifteen years after the death of ‘'Umar
b. Hafg al-Muhallabl in A,H,154. Yazid had eight sons, the
eldest of whom was al-~-Mughirah, who was one of his father's
walis and military commanders during the latter!'s reigh over
the province of Sind.3 ‘Apart from this,‘nothiﬁg is recorded
of his career. The second son of Yazid b. Hitim was Diwld
(C.195), who succeeded his father for seven months, and was
then recalled to the east by the caliph who appointed him wili

of Sind, where he died,?
1

Ibn al-Raqlq, p. 182; 1Ibn ‘Idhari, vol, 1, p. 85,
Ibid., vol. 1, p, 86; Ibn al-Raqlq, p. 186,
Ibn Hazm, p. 370; he was killed there.

2 -
3
4 Ibn al-Raqiq, p. 170.



491

The third son of Yazld b, H&itim was Kh3lid (C. 219),
He was one of the commanders of the army of al-Fagl b, Rawlh
and when the latter was besieged in al-Qayrawdn, Khilid was
one of the Muhallabids who tried in vain to stop the jund
from seizing the city. The fourth son of Yazid b, Hatim was
Ish&q (C, 167), who settled in al-Qayrawin with his father,.
He was said to have followed the blood sport of gazelle
coursing., 7The jurist 'Abd Alldh b, Farxiikh (A, 60), saw him
engaged in this sport and reminded him of the Prophet's renun-
ciation of it, Ishiq initiated a farming project for breeding
sheep, but his father refused to allow him to compete with
the livestock dealers and butchers; instead he gave the sheep
to the people of the city.1 Ishaq was appointed by his uncle
Rawh b, Hatim as wdll of Tunis in AH,171,

The fifth son of Yazid b, Hatim was ‘Abd All3h b,
Yazid (A. 225)., He was given the command of the army which
fought the jund led by Ibn al-Jariid in A.H.178, ‘Abd AllZh
won the first battle with Ibn al-Jarlid, but in the end he
lost the war and al-Qayraw8&n was seized by the mutinous jund,
‘Abd All3h returned to the east with many members of his
:t‘amily.2

The sixth son of Yazld b, Hatim was al-Muhallab
(C. 220). Al-Muhallab was appointed by his father as will
of al-Z3b, and he succeeded in asserting the authority of
al-Qayrawan over al-Z&b, He was the right=hand man of his
brother Dawiid during the upsurge of the Berber rebellion.
Despite his dismissal by his uncle Rawh b, Hitim from the post

of w813 of al-Z&b, al-Muhallab remained very active on the

1
2

Ibn al=-Raqiq, p. 158,
Ibn al-Abbdr, al-Hullah, vol, 1, p, 82,
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Ifrigiyan scene. He was appointed caretaker w3li in place
of Nagr b, Habib while the newly-appointed wili (al-Fagl b,
Rawh ) was making for Ifriqiyd. Al-Muhallab remained with the
staff of al-Fagl b, Rawh and participated in the defence of
al-Qayrawdn against the jund.

The seventh son of Yazld b, Hatim was Sa‘id (C, 221),
Sa‘'id was against engaging in battle with Ibn al-Jarﬂd.‘ He
advised ai-Fadl to hold on inside the walls of the city and
prepare for a long seige but al-Fagl decided against the advice
of Sa‘id., The war ended the Muhallabidst! rule over Ifriqiya
and with the death of al-Fadl b, Rawh the rest of the family
set out for the east,

The eighth son of Yazid b.Hatim was Muhammad (C., 158),
Muhammad was one of the military commanders during the rule of
his father Yézid b. Hitim, He was appointed in place of his
brother al-Muhallab as wdli of al-Z&8b and Kut&mah,

The fifth son of al-Muhallab b, Abl Sufrah to have
had descendants who played parts in the Ifriqiyan scene was
Abll ‘Uyaynah b, al-Muhallab, One of the grandsons of Abil
‘Uyaynah, who was his namesake, Abli ‘Uyaynah b, Muhammad came
to Ifriqiyd during the rule of Yazid b, Hitim, Yazid appointed
Abll ‘Uyaynah wdll of Qafgah and Qasfiliyah, _Abn ‘Uyaynah was
appointed by al-Fagl b. Rawh wali of Tripoli. Abd ‘Uyaynah

was in addition an outstanding poet.
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8. Bashir

Ibrshim b. ‘Abdiis b. Bashir
i
]
t 1}

Ishaq . (A. 200) . Muhammad (A. 174)
'

Abl. al-Qasim (C, 769)

The origin of this faﬁily isydescribéa as al=-‘Ajam;
thé woid lajam was a term applied to the non-Arab, non-Berber,
inhabitants of Ifriqiyd, especially the Byzantines and the
éurviving Va.rxdalsA.'1 In the third century many of these :éiég
began'to aspire to‘the upper reaches of society and the
Aghlabid administration through their mastery of jurisprudence.,
This family were clients of Quraysh.,

. The first mention of the family relates to Ibr&him
b. ‘Abdiis b. Bashir, who was a friend of Sahniin b, Sa‘ld
(A.140). Abriahim b. ‘Abdiis was not a jurist but he seems to
have encouraged his two sons in that directién. Ishaq and :
Muﬁammad were among the intellectuals of al-Qayrawdn; Ishaq
differed from Muhammad in that he was a teacher and a scholar,
while Muhammad ﬁas a jurist and a pietist. He was considered
one‘of the 1eading'M51iki Jurists of his time.2 Ishaq, unlike
Mubammad,gwas Jjealous of his status, and used to go to the
mosque mounted, while Muhammad used to walk beneath his ‘

brother'é'banner.3

The third generation of the family is represented by

AbG al-QAsim b. Mubammad b, IbrZhim (C. 769). Abll al-Qdsim is
mentioned in the biography of ‘Isi b, Miskin (A. 322): in con-

nection w1th an invitation to a wedding in the household of
1

Al-M31lik1, vo1l, 1, p 188,
Al-Dabbagh vol, 2 P. 137.

3
1yad, al-Madarik, vol. 4, p. 220 (M. ed.).
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Abl al-Q8sim, which was accepted by the keeper of the register

of the judge (mutawalli al-diwd&n), whose name was Ibn Ziryab

(C. 665), Nothing more is known about Abll al-Qasim or his
family except the apparent importance of the family and its
prominence, whicﬁ was alluded to by Ibn Ziryab, who told the
judge when he came late to his work, "We are all indebted to

Ibn tAbdiis and I had to be present at his feast."1

9. Al-Basri al-=Taymi

Yahys b. Sall&m b, Tha‘labah (A, 85)

- el o9

Muhammad (A. 188)

.‘

T '
Yahya (A. 242) al-Hasan (C, 596)

Abl Zakariyya Yahya b. Sallam b, Tha‘labah al-Tayml

2 After a

al-Rab'l al-Basrl was born in al-Kifah in A.H.134,
time his family moved to al-Bagrah, from which he acquired

his nisbah of al-Bagri. He was a mawld of a sub-tribe of
Rabi‘ah called Taym, but his family background is obscyre. He is
alleged to have studied jurisprudence and tradition under 360
scholars, not including the Followers of the Companions of the
Prophet under whom he studied who numbered twenty-four men

and one woman.3

Yahya wrote many volumes on many subjects, especially

jurisprudence and Qur’&nic commentary.4 However, his reputation
1

Ibid., p. 338.
2 _A1-Dabbigh, vol, 1, p. 328,
3 1bid., vol. 1, p. 322,

4  IprshIm Shabbih,"Sijil Qadim 1i Matkabat Jimi' al-Qayrawin",
in Majallat Ma‘had al-Makhifitdt al-‘Arabiyyah, vol, 2, pt. 2,
p. 360; al-Dabbiagh, vol. 1, p. 326,
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was tarnished by the accusation of some scholars that he was
a Murj’ite., His son rejected this accusation on the grounds
that his father was only transmitting hadiths which implied
the Murji’ite doctrine, and did not necessarily accept every-
thing he transmitted.1

Yahyd eventually settled in al-Qayrawdn, where he
acquired an eminent position, The Aghlabid amir seems to
have esteemed him highly. This status enabled him to mediate
between the Aghlabid amir and his rebel military commander;
‘Imr&n b, Mujdlid al-Rab‘'i. This mediation resulted in the
return of the rebel ‘Imran to the Aghlabid court, immediately
after the death of Ibrahim,2 thanks to the efforts of Yahya
who gave his word to ‘Imrdn that no harm would come to hinm,
However, when ‘Abd All8h b. Ibr3&him succeeded his father,
and after a lapse of time, some of the members of ‘Abd All3h's
court, probably driven by jealousy, persisted in reminding
*Abd Allih that the man he was employing had rebelled against
his father and might rebel against him; accordingly ‘Imr&n
was executed (A.H. 200),

The execution of ‘Imr&n is given by some biographical
authors as the reason behind Yahya b, Sallam's sudden departure
from al-Qayrawdn; there is, however, disagreement in the
sources regarding Yahy&d's return to the east and his subsequent
death in Egypt.3 Some argue that he went to perform.the hajj,
while others say that he felt humiliated by the.Aghlabid amir's
breaking his word which he had solemnly given to ‘Imr&n,

The first assertion is reasonable, because his family

1 Abd al-‘Arab,p.113.

2 Aj-‘uylin wal-Hadi'iq, vol. 3, pp. 351-352; 1Ibn al-Abbir,
al-Hullah, vol, 1, p. 105,
3  Al1-pabbigh, vol, 1, p. 328; Abf al-‘Arab, p. 113,
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did not travel with him to the east, and it is not likely that
a seventy-seven year old man would abandon his family and
return to the east for good., What is likely to have happened
is a combination of the two circumstances., He was humiliated
to see his political arrangement between the Aghlabids and
their ex~general end in disaster. In chagrin, and with a
desire to perform the hajj, he found a wéy out of his dilemma,
However, he was destined never to return to al-Qayrawadn again,
as he died in Egypt in A.,H.200, probably after performing
the hajj to the Holy Places.’

Yahyad had one son, by name Muhammad., AbT ‘Abd
All3h Muhammad b. Yahya b, Sallim was probably born in
al-Qayrawdn in A,H.180, and followed in the steps of his father
to become a great jurist and traditionist. Ibn N3iji in his
commentary on al-Dabb3gh's Ma‘'ilim states that Muhammad was
born in al-Bagrah, but this is open to question especially
when it is realised that the only evidence the writer had was .
his nisbah referring to Bagrah (Muhammad b. Sallim al-Bagrl).
The fact is that al-Bagrah was his father's former place of
residence, which Muhammad inherited with the rest of the name,
Muhammad died in A.H.262, aged eighty-two years, and was
buried in al-Balawiyyah cemetery (see Map no, 1),

The third generation of the family is represented
by the two sons of Muhammad, Yahya and al-Hasan, Yahyi b,
Muhammad was born in al-Qayrawdn in A.H,198., The account of
Ibn Niji regarding the date of birth of Yahy& b, Muhammad is
erroneous; Abill al-‘*Arab does not state that Yahy& was born

after the year A.H.ZOO;2 on the contrary, Abli al-‘Arab gives

1 Al-pabbigh, vol. 1, p. 328; al-‘Uyln wal-Hadi'ig, vol. 3,
p. 351 .

2 Al-Dabbiagh, vol. 2, p. 295,
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a firm date for his birth, putting it at A.H.198.1 This is

doubtless a case of misquotation on the part of Ibn Niji.
Yahyd b, Muhammad could not possibly have been a companion of
Abll al-‘Arab for seventy years, since Yahyd b. Muhammad lived
for only twenty-seven years after the birth of Abli al-‘Arab
(A, 558). Ibn NijI quotes Abl al-‘Arab as saying "I accom-
panied him [Yahy&] for seventy years."2 The word (yesew
(seventy) is probably a misreading for the word . (years)
used by Abld al-‘Arab in his Jabagdt: "I aécompanied him for
long years" ( slo.b 2w c*ao).3 |
Yahya b. Muhammad died in A,H. 280 and was buried in the saﬁe
cenmetery that contained the body of his father, i.e., |
al-Balawiyyah.

The second son of Muhammad b, Yahy& b, Sallam was
al-Hasan, who was a traditionist. He transmitted hadiths
from his father and gfandfather.4

Apart from these four individuals, nothing is known

of the rest of the family.

Abli al-‘Arab, p,., 113,

Al-Dabbigh, vol, 2, p. 328,

Abfi al-‘Arab, p, 113,

Al-M51liki, vol, 1, p. 171; AbfQl al-‘Arab, p. 113,

h b=
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10, Al-BakrI al-Andalusi

‘Abd al-Majid
1

t 1
S&1ih (A. 151) ‘Isi
t

Misa (C. 575)

This family is recorded only on the tombstone of
g&lih, who died in A.H.248.1 Apparently salib did not leave
any descendants to erect his tombstone., Mils& may have been
the son-in-law, rather than the nephew, of $81ih., The delay
in erecting the tombstone can be attributed to Mls& (possibly
the eldest surviving male in the family) being undex age at
the time of $&1lihts death (there was adelay in erecting it of

ten years: A,H.248-258),

11, Al-Rabbl

Bus{dm b. Raji’ al-Rabbl
H

al-Bagri al-Sisi
t

Muhammad (A, 481)
!

‘Abhd al-Rahm&n (C, 905)
1

Muhammad (C., 907)

Abll ‘Abd All3h Muhammad b, Bust&m b, Raj&! al-DRabbl
al-SlisI al-Bagrl appears to have been a settler in the city,
and the fact that he later made a journey to the east, and
returned to al-Qayrawdn thereafter, suggests that he migrated
to North Africa as a young man.2 His journey must have been

at a very early age, as he was a student of Ablt al-Hasan Ahmad

Roy, vol., 1, pp. 114-116,

2 Al-Khushani, p. 221;  ‘Iysid, Tar&jim, p. 384.
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1 that is sixty-five

b. $a1iR al-Migri who died in A.H.248,
years before he died himself in A,H.313, His family originally
came - from al-Bagrah and his tribe was a sub~division of the
Bandl Asad, the clan of Dabbah.?

He was a person of very small means and he had to
move from al-Qayrawdn to Sousse at a later date which the .
sources do not specify.3 His family continued to participate
in the cultural life of al-Qayrawdn, especially his grandson,
who was a traditionist and who recited traditions to his
grandfather., The name of the son of Muhammad was ‘Abd al-Rahmdn

of whom nothing is recorded apart from his relationship to his

son and father.

12. Tamim al-=DAriml

Tanim (C. 126)
?

1 1
Tammam (A.78) Salamah (C. 288)
?

Tamim (C, 457)
',
' 1 1 1
tUbayd (C.385) Ahmad (A.447) Muhammad (A.473) TamniIn
1 (Add. Ao1)

1 t
Tanim (A.247, d. A.H.281) Muhammad (A.558)
'

' 1
Tammam (A,581) Tamim (C,938)

This is a typical jund (army) family. It was founded
in al-Qayrawdn with the arrival of Tamim with the first Abbasid
army to take charge of the city in A.H.144.% Tamin distinguished
himself in the service of his Abbasid masters, His life data

are not fully recorded in al-Qayrawin, but we can assume that

Ibn Hajar, Tahdhib al-Tahdhib, vol, 9. p. 229.

1

2 Ibn Hazm, pp. 203-206,

3 ‘Iyad, Tardjim, p. 384.

4 Ibn al-Abbix, al-Hullah, vol, 1, p. 92.
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he continued to occupy a leading military post until his death,
The second generation of the family, as represented by Tamim's
two sons, played a great part in shaping the situation and
history of Ifriqiya, especially the elder son Tammim (A, 78).

" The two sons of Tamim al-Darimi were Tammdm and
Salamak'(or Sulaymin), Tamim was a military commander like
his father, but’ unlike his father he entertained the ambition
to be installed as w&li of Ifriqiy&. He éxploited the geheral
unpoéularity of the w8li of IfrIqiyd, Muhammad b. Muqatil
al-‘*AkkI, and marched against al-Qayrawdn using his ‘strong
position as w&1li of Tunis and commander of its garrison, He
met with success and drove Ibn al-‘*AkkI out of the city to
’l‘ripoli.1 However,this was not to continue, because his action
drew the commander of al=Z8b garrison into the struggle in
support of the wdli (Ibn al-‘AkkiI). This commander was
Ibrihim b. al-Aghlab b, S&l1lim al-TamiImi, whose intervention
in favour of Ibn al-‘AkkI changed the balance and in  turn made
him in effect the master of Ifriqiy&. Tammim was given the
post of w&li of Tripoli before he was deposed by Ibrdhim and
eventually sent to Baghdidd where he met his death in mysterxrious
circumstances.2

' The other son of Tamim was Salamah, of whom little
is recorded except his attempt to get his brother Tamm&m
released from prison in Baghdid; this was too late as Tammim
died just before he was due to be released.® The Caliph
al-Rashid expressed his condolences to Salamah and recommended

the family to IbrZhim b. al-Aghlab, and a sijill (deed) was’

' Ibn al-Raqiq, p. 221; Abmad b, Abi Wigih al-Ya'qdbi, T&rikh
al-Ya't'qtibi, vol. 2, ed. M, Th, Houtsma (Leiden, 1883), p. 497.

Z Te
Ibid., p. 210,
3 1bid.
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was written to that effect. This $ijill was a register of the
past services the family had performed for the caliph and the
restoration of the family status, It involved giving the
family payments of money (§i;§£) and some relief from the
kharij of their estates. Salamah was appointed to several
posts by Ibrdhim b. al-Aghlab.

The third generation was represented by Tamim son
of Tammim, but nothing of substance is known about him,  This
may be due to the Aghlabid policy of dismantling the jund,
following the introduction of the siidin to the army.1

Tamim b. Tammdm had four sons, ‘Ubayd, Ahmad,.
Muhammad, and Tamim, ‘Ubayd b, Tamim (C. 385) was a trad-
itionist, He witneséed the insurrection in Tunis in A.H,218
and he transmitted the information through his brother Ahmad
to the latter?!s son Abt al-‘Arab., ‘Ubayd seems to have been
_living in Tunis during the troubles in the city.

fhé second son of Tamim b, Tamma&m was Ab0 Ja‘far
Ahmad b. Tamim (A. 447) who was an Aghlabid military commander,
He was the father of Abli al-‘Arab the great author and
historian (A, 558). Abfi al-‘Arab was born in A,H,255, He
studied under the MA1likl jurists of his day, to become one
of the most important authorities on the people of al-Qayrawin,
He wrote many works on the biographies of the MilikiI jurists,
and witnessed the F&timid seizure of power in Ifriqiy&. He
became one of the leaders of the resistance against them and
entered an alliance with AbQi Yazid which proved disastrous,
and the consequent battle with the F&fimids claimed the lives

of many of the intellectuals of the city.

T 1bn ‘Idh&ri, vol. 1, p. 93; Ibn al-~Raqlq, p., 222; assuning
that he followed the occupation of his father and grandfather
which was the norm before the Aghlabids., For the relation bet-
ween Ziyddat Allah and the jund, see Ibn Idhari, vol, 1, p.96.
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The other son of Ab@l Ja'far Ahmad was TamIm b, Ahmad
b. Tamim, who seems to hve been older than Ab3 al-‘Arab, and
who was executed by Ibr&him b, Ahmad in A,H.281, His name is
given by his brother Abd al-‘Arab erroneously as Tamim b,
Tamim b, Tamm&m, instead of the correct Tamim b, Ahmad (but
Abll al-‘*Arab describes him as his full brother, i.e., shagIg).1

The third son of Tamim was Abl Ja‘far Muhammad
(A.473) who like his brother Ahmad was a military commander,
Apart from the date of his death (A,H,311) and his occupation,
nothing is recorded of him. The fourth son of Tamim b, Tammam
(Add, A.1) was a Tamlm who took part in the insurrection of
‘Umar b. Sulaym al-Tujibl in A.H.234, He was killed in action,
Apart from these data, nothing is known about Tamim,

Abli al=-‘*Arab had two sons, the elder was Abll
al-‘Abbas Tamadm (A, 581 ), He was a jurist and traditionist
of al-Rayrawan, and taught students there, The younger son of
Abll al-‘Arab was Tamim (C, 938)2 who like his father was a
traditionist, He emigrated to al-Andalus and settled in
Cordova, He was said to have claimed to have studied under

his fathexr, Ablli al-‘*Arab, a fact which was disputed by his

brother (A. 581).3

1

2
3

Kitib al-Mihan, fol. 104b.
‘Iy&qg, al-Madirik, vol. 3-4, p. 532 (B, ed.).
Ibid., p. 533,




‘Ugbah b, Nafi*

al-Fihrl

b. ‘Abd al-Qays

*‘Abd al-Qays b. Laqit

The lineage of the family is given by Ibn Eazm (p. 178) as-
" *Amir b. Umayyah b, al—Darlb b, al-H3rith b, Fihr b, Milik

b. Lagl} b.

Abl Bakr (d. A.,H.344 in Egypt)

‘Ugbah b. Nifi‘ b,

]
3
' 1 g
Sa‘d Nafi* z Nablghah
. 1
*Ugbah (A.3)
1 . ) - .
! 1 . ‘ 1 1 [
‘Iy&d *Uthman Ablu ‘Ubaydah ‘*Ubaydah *Abdah
(A. 11) (C. 52) Murrah (C. 7) (Ce 22)
1 '
t 1 1 ) ] 3 . ]
Shutayb ‘Umar Habib Muljammad NAZfi* ‘Abd al-Rahm3n Unnamed
(C. 80) (B.34) (A.32) (A.45) ! 1 daughter
1 ! B (C.109)

1 $ t i 1 1 1 1 1 1 ?
*Abd Ilyas *Abd al-Warith ‘Imran al-Aswad *Umar al-Aswad Y{suf Misd Mughirah
al-Rahmin (C.104) (A. 42) ! : : ! !
(A, 40) ! - ! B

! ! al-Aswad = !}

' ' ' ! ' (C.102) 1
HabIb *Abd al-WarIith  Sallim  Unnamed al-Aswad : Muhammad
(A.48) (C.105) (C.103) son ot

! al-Abyag
‘Abd al~Rahman '

(C. 156) al-g&rith

1}

*Abd al-Qays

‘et
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The Fihrids

The history of this family in pre-Islamic Mecca is
notable for their having fought against the Prophet with the
rest of the Quraysh alliance.1 The family was introduced to
the African arena by ‘Anr b, al-‘Ag, the wili of Egypt. The
first member of the family to hold any post in Africa was
‘Ugbah b. Nifi* b. ‘Abd al-Qays, who was a half-brother to
‘Amr b, al-‘Ag on the maternal side, Their mother was an
enslaved girl from the tribe of ‘Anazah, by the name of
a.l-NEbighah'.2

‘Ugbah was assigned to the conduct of operations in
the south of Libya (Zuwaylah) and he met with considerable
success.3 Despite this success, his promotion was delayed
because of the change of wdll in Egypt. The new walil brought
to the African scene Mu‘awiyah b, Hudayj al-Kindi, who was an
ambitious man and who took charge of offensive operations.
Mu*Ewiyah was replaced by ‘Ugbah who was appointed military
commander in Ifriqiyd. He founded a base for his army and
the Muslim community in the new province as a sign of the per-
manence of the Muslim presence there., The new will of Egypt,
Maslamah b, Mukhlid al-Angaril, asserted his authority over
Ifriqiyi4 and after four years he dismissed ‘Ugbah b, Nafi‘
and replaced him with his mawld, AbQ al-Muh&jir DInir,in
A.,H,55/A.D.675.,

The family of ‘Ugbah during his term of wili of
Ifriqiyd took up residence in al-Qayrawdn, and some of his

sons acted as his lieutenants in his army, e.g. Murrah b,

Ibn Hazm, p. 177,

Khattib, vol. 1, p. 92,

Ibn ‘Abd al-Hakam, pp. 194-196,
Ibn ‘Idhari, vol, 1, p. 21,

B Wb -
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‘Ugbah (C. 22).1 After the death of Mu‘Awiyah b. Abu Sufyin,
the new caliph Yazid b, Mu‘dwiyah reinstated ‘Ugbah b, Nafi‘

in A,H.62/A,D.682, His return to al-Qayrawian was followed by
an expedition to the far Maghrib which took him as far as the
Atlantic. On his way back he was ambushed by an alliance of -
Berbers led by Kusaylah, a personal enemy of ‘Uqbah,2 and he-

was killed with the few hundred men who were with him at the

tine,

The Fihrids!' authority in al-Qayrawin was not dimin-
ished after the death of ‘Ugbah, 7Two individuals from the
family (not deécendants of ‘Ugbah) continued to play a leading
part in the running of the city,'namely Abi $Slib Tarif al=FihrI
(C. 20) and Sufyin b. Milik al-Fihri (C. 23). They were in
charge of the city during the troubles of al-Kihinah, and fhey
continued their administration when Hassin b, al-Nu‘min left
for the east.3 However, when Misid b, Nugayr became wall, he
investigated their activities, and eventually sent them into
exile after fining them ten thousand dinars each, Their exact
relationship to ‘Ugbah is not recorded, but no doubt they
obtained ‘their positions through their kinship with him. The
immediaté family of ‘Ugbah was still to play a part in the
history of North Africa, Spain, and to some extent in Egypt.
Here, however, only the Maghribi branch of the family has been
considered in detail. '

‘Ugbah b, Nifi‘' had at least five sons, ‘I“yad;‘
‘Uthmin, Abl@ ‘Ubaydah, ‘Ubaydah, and ‘Abdah. They were not

prominent immediately after the death of their father, either

1 A1-Maliki, vol. 1, p, 95,

2 Ibn ‘Idhiri, vol, 1, p, 29; al-M51ikI, vol. 1, p. 26;
Khattdb, vol. 1, p. 111, .

3 Ibn Qutaybah, pt. 2, p. 51, L
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because they were young, or because they were not given a
chance to participate in the actions against the adversaries

of Islam in North Africa, Later, however, Misd b, Nugayr

gave some of them commands over his forces which were advancing
westwards andheurged them to avenge the death of their father.1

After the completion of the conquest of Spain, the
family became widely scattered: ‘Iyad b. ‘Ugbah returned to
the east with the recalled wali, Misa b.glNusayr.2 He settled.
in Egypt and raised a family there, He.died in A.H.100,

The other four brothers differ in regard to the
amount of information which has survived regarding them,
‘Ubaydah remains virtually unknown (C. 22). ‘'Uthmin was one
of Mis&'s commanders, but nothing else is known about him
except that he had a son called Shu‘ayb, who participated in
bringing to power ‘Abd al-Rahmin b, Hablb b, AbI ‘Ubaydah (A.40),
who was his father's great-nephew, ‘Abdah was another son of.
tUgbah about whom nothing is known.

Abli ‘Ubaydah Murrah b, ‘Ugbah was the most important
son, and the impact of his branch of the family on Egypt,
IfriqiyX, and Spain was great. He had four sons, Nafi‘®,

Hablb, Muhammad, and ‘Abd al~Rahman,

Nafi* had two sons; ‘Umar and al-Aswad. ‘Umarx
continued to live in al-Qayrawdn and held important positions
in the Fihrid state, while the other, al-Aswad moved to Egypt
where he conducted himself as a loyal supporter of the Abbasid
cause, He revolted against the Umayyad wili of Egypt in an

attempt to seize it for the Abbasids before the arxival of

the Abbasid army.3 "This Egyptian branch of the family continued
1
2
3

Ibn Qutaybah, pt, 2, p, 56.
Ibid.’ Po 670

eemmA——

Al=-Kindi, al-Wuldt wal-Qudit, p. 96. He became a prominent
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in Egypt for four generations until the time of Ab{Ql Bakr
Muhammad b, Harith, who died in A.H.344, and probably beyond,
The second son of Abilli ‘Ubaydah b, ‘Ugbah was Habib,
Habib was a commander of the army of Ifriqiyi. He was charac-
terized by a sense JOf regional loyalty and was against the
armies of the east; he was killed by the Kharijites at the
battle of Sibd in A,H.123/A.D.741, which"is known in the

chronicles as ma‘rakat a1-Ashr§f.1 Habib had four sons: ‘Abd

al-Rahmdn, Ilyas, ‘Imrdn, and ‘Abd al-Warith.

‘Abd al-Rahmin b. Habib fled to al-Andalus after the
battle of al-Ashrdf, and tried to seize power there, but
without success. In the end he decided to return to Ifriqiya
and he succeeded (in A.H.126/A.D.744)2 in seizing power there,
He took advantage of the weak position of the Umayyads and
pretended to be a loyal Umayyad wilI. He governed the country
for twelve years, enjoying considerable support from the people
of al-Qayrawan, He derived much of his power from the size of
his family; however he met his death3 as a result of a split
in the family, led by his brother Ilyis and supported by some
of the people of al-Qayrawin who objected to ‘Abd al-Rahmin's
policy towards the c:aliph.4

The second son of Habib b. Abl ‘Ubaydah was Ilyas,
who was the commander-in-chief of the army of ‘Abd al-Rabmﬁh
b. Habib. He played an important role in consolidating the

rule of ‘Abd al-Rahmin by waging many battles against his

Abbasid supporter in Egypt, and he was granted extensive
property by the Abbasid wili,

' Ibn ‘Idhari, vol. 1, p. 55.

Ibn al-Raqiq, pp. 123-124,

Ibid., p. 135. 1Ibn ‘1Idhari, vol. 1, pp. 67-68.
Ibn al-Raqiq, p. 135.

RN VI
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enemies;1 However, ‘Abd al-Rahman's ingratitude towards Ily&s
showed in his attributing every success not to Ilyds, but to
his son Habib, and in appointing Habib as the next in line of
succession to the post of gg;g.z All these and other factors
contributed to the death of ‘Abd al-Rahmin and with him the
downfall of the Fihrid power in Ifriqiyd. He was killed by
his brother Ilyas and a long drawn-out struggle started
between Habib b. ‘Abd al-Rahmin, 'the son of the slain wilil,
and-his uncle the new g§l§.3

The conflict first centred on how to divide the
country between.-the three claimants to power: Ilyds, Hablb
b. ‘Abd al-Rahmin, and ‘Imxran b, Habib, 1Ilyds played the
others false and took them prisoner, afterwards sending them
by sea to Spain into the custody of his cousin Ylisuf b, ‘Abd
al-Rahmin al-Fihri, However, they frustrated this plan by
claiming that they had met contrary winds.4 and returned to
Tunis and seized the city. -They arrested the w&ll and advanced
to al-Rayrawan., - A battle was obviated by the two leaders,
Habib and Ily&s, agreeing to meet each other in single combat;
whoever won was to take the country and be rid of his opponent,
The result was in Habib's favour and Ily&s.was killed, in
A.H,139/A.D.756.

The third son of Habib b, ‘Abd al-Rahmin was ‘Imrin,
who was the wdli of Tunis for his brother, ‘Abd al-Rahmin, and
who prepared himself to face Ily&s from his base in Tunis,

‘Imrin allied himself with Habib b, ‘Abd al-Rahmib, but Ily&s

Ibn al-Raqlq, p. 134,

Ibid.

Ibn ‘Idh&rI, vol, 1, p. 68,
Ibn al-Ragqiq, p. 137,

DL =
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succeeded in tricking ‘Imrd&n and he was sent to al--Andalus.1

The fourth son of Hablb b, ‘Abd al-Rahmin was ‘Abd
al-Warith, who was an accomplice to Ilyas in his arrangements,
He fought with Ily&s against Habib b, ‘Abd al-Rahmdn and when
Ilyis was killed he sought the help of the Kharijite tribe
of Warfajiimah (A.H.140).

‘Abd al-Rahmian b, Habib had three sons: Habib, ‘Abd
al-Warith and ‘Imr&n. Habib b. ‘Abd al-Rahmin was one of the
commanders of his father and when- the latter was slain, Habib
began.a campaign to avenge his death and recover the post of
wili from his uncle, which he managed to do in A,H.139/A,D.756.
He killed Ilyds as. described above, However, ‘Abd al-Wirith
and the rest of Ilyas!' adherents were driven by the intolerant
Habib to seek the help of the Kharijite Berber tribe of
warfajtimah, which ransacked the city,2 and killed many people,

Habib b, ‘Abd al-Rahmin in turn was killed defending
Al-Qayrawin against the invading Kharijites in A.H.140, His
son ‘'Abd al-Rahmin b, Habib b, ‘Abd al-Rahmin (C. 156) continued
to struggle to restore their authority, but in vain,

The second son of ‘Abd al~Rahmian b. Habib was ‘Abd
al-Wirith, who was involved with his brother Habib in the
fighting against Ilyds. He was exiled with Habib. From Ibn
‘Idharits remarks it is clear that he was a full brother of
Habib.>

Two other sons of ‘Abd al-Rahmin b, Habib have little
recorded about them: Sallam and an anonymous boy. -Sallam was

imprisoned by Ilyas during the troubles with Hablb, and part

1 1pid., p. 137; Ibn ‘IcharI, vol. 1, p. 68.

Ibn al-Raqlq, p. 140; 1Ibn ‘Idh&ri, vol. 1, p. 70.

3 1bid., p. 68; Ibn al-Ragiq, p. 138.
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of Hablib's plan for his assault on al-Qayrawdn was to free his
brother and some of his adherents who were in Ilyas! prison,
Nothing more is known about Salldm. The fourth son of ‘Abd
al-Rahmdn, whose name is unknown, was with his father when he
was killed.1 From Ibn ‘Idh3ri's account he was evidently an
infant at the time. There is no further mention of him,

Fihrid leadership after A,H.154 seems to have been
divided between ‘Abd al-Rahman b, Habib b, 'Abd al-Rahman and
‘Umar b. ‘Uthm3n al-Qurashi (B. 34), who must have been the
grandson of ‘Ugbah b. N3fi‘', and who was older and more exper-
ienced than ‘Abd al-Rahmdn b. Habib b. ‘Abd al-Rahman, ‘Abd
al-Rahmin continued his agitation well into the period of
Yazib b, Hatim al-Muhallabi, from a base on the Mount of
Kutimah.© The other leader, ‘Umar b. ‘Uthmin, allied himself
with the Kharijites, despite his different doctrinal stand-
point, to the extent of marching with them on al-Qayrawdn when
they sacked the city in A.H.154/A.D.771.3

The third son of Abli ‘Ubaydah b. ‘Ugbah was Mubammad
b. Abi ‘Ubaydah, who was one of Ily&s! supporters. He was
executed by Habib b, ‘Abd al-Rahmin after his victory over
Ilyis b. Habib, in A,H,139,

The fourth son of Abii ‘Ubaydah was ‘Abd al=-Rahman
b. Abi ‘Ubaydah, who was the father of the Andalusian branch
of the family. He had three sons: Yisuf, Mis§i, and‘al-Mughirah.
The most famous of the three was Ylisuf b, ‘Abd al-Rahmin b,

Abl ‘Ubaydah (d. A,H.139), who proclaimed his independence from

the east after the fall of the Umayyads, and who preserved close

1 1bn *Idh&ri, vol, 1, p. 68,
2 1bid., p. 79.
Ibn al-Raqiq, p. 144,
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relations with the African branch of his family, which now ran
the whele Islamic west to the extent that some historians say
that Yiisuf was confirmed wdll by ‘Abd al-Rahmin b, Habib (A.40).

fhe other two sons of ‘Abd al-Rahmdn b, Abl ‘Ubaydah
were not prominent themselves, but they had descendaﬁts who
influenced events in Ifriqiyd and Egypt. Mis& b, ‘Abd
al-Rahm3in had a son called al-Aswad, who was a pro-Abbasid in
Egypt, and he fought the Umayyads before the final Abbasid
conquest of Egypt. Al-Mughirah b. ‘'Abd al-Rahm3n b. Abl
‘Ubaydah seems to have been involved in the Fihrid inter-family
conflict which resulted in his execution in A.H.139,

The Fihrids continued to live in the Islamic west, and
in al-Qayrawdn in particular., Some of them moved to Fez in the
third century.1 In the written record, some of their descend-
ants become confused and gaps are found in descents, to the
extent that it may be impossible to tell from which branch of
the family an individual comes. This applies to individuals in
the following list, who undoubtedly were members of the family,2
but whose place in the family tree is quite uncertain:

1. Umm al-Qisim Maryam ibnat Muhammad al-Fihrl (C. 836).
2, F&timah ibnat Mubammad al-Fihri (C. 841).

3, Sufyan b, Milik al-Fihri (C. 23),

4. Al-Nu‘'min al-Qurashi al-FihrI (A. 493).

5. Ahmad b, Muhammad al-Qurashi al-Fihxi al-Mughayrabani (A.401).

1 For the Qayrawd&ni migration to Fez, see J.C. Russell,
Late Ancient and Medieval Population, p. 102; Ibn Abl Zar
al-Fasi, Rawd al-Qirtds, pp. 25, 29,

2 Ibn ‘Idhari, vol, 1, p. 180,
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14, Al-Qurashi al-Fihri

Ibradhim b. al-Nu'm3n al-Qurashi (A.258)
. :

1 .
1 '

Muhammad (A. 388) Ishaq (A, 493)
'

Al-Hasan
s

Abll ‘Abd Al13h Muhammad (d. A.H, 368)

This family came to Al-Qayrawdn from Spain. The
nisbah Al-Fihri was very common in Spain;1 apparently it
denoted relationship with the family of ‘Ugbah b. Nafi‘
al-Fihri. The Spanish branch of the family descended from
YGsuf b. ‘Abd al-Rahmin al-FihrI (d. A.H.138).° It is, however,
difficult to find the actual links of this family with ‘Ugbah,
since there is no record of the parentage of Al-Nu'min, except
his remote nisbah to Fihr (a sub-division of Quraysh),

He had a son called Ibrdhim (A. 258) who was a student
of Sahnin b. Sa‘lid. He was one of the outstanding jurists of
Al-Qayrawdn, Ibr3him had two sons, Ishiq and Muhammad. Ishiaq (A.493)
was a student of Yahya b. ‘Umar, and he made a journey to the
east, after which he became a Shafi‘l (d. A.H. 315)., He is
described as an outstanding jurist in the bibliographical
literature. Muhammad continued in the path of his father and
studied M31likI jurisprudence, He was killed in A.H,303, prob-
ably in the course of the Fatimids' persecution of their
political and religious opponents, |

Muhammad b, Ibr&him had a son who is known only
through the nasab of his grandson Abd ‘Abd Alli3h Muhammad. His
name was al-Hasan or al-Husayn.3 Between Muhammad and Abid ‘Abd

1 Ibn Hazm, p. 178,

2 The family place of origin was Jaean in Spain; ‘Iy&d,
al-Madirik, vol. 4, p. 412 (M, ed.).

3 Ibn al-Faragi, vol, 2, p. 115, In Ibn al-Faragi he is
al-Husayn.
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All13h Muhammad there is a dearth of information about the
activities of the family, which may be accounted for by their
migration to Spain; this amounts to a return migration, as
they came originally from Spain. Ab# ‘Abd All3h Muhammad

settled in Cordova and was a leading authority in gira'at.1

1 Ibid.; ‘Iyaqd, al-Madirik, vol. 4, p. 412 (M. ed.).



Ya'qib b, Fazdrah (al-Fazari?)
1 .

al-Fadgl (C.406)  Rabah (A.173) Ahmad (A.172). . ‘Abd A115%h (C.571)
! B : .
1 .  § . . 1 N 1 : ) : 1 - N ‘
al-‘*Abb&s *Al1l Muhammad  (Abd) al-Hasan ' al-Husayn Ya‘qlb
(A.150) (C.521) (C.614)  al-Husayn (C.601) (A.216) '
: : . :
i . :
' 1 - h - . L v )
al-Hasan al-jusayn : Ahmad ) 1 AbG al-'Abbads  Unnamed.
(C.612) (C.613) (C.726) o T (C.572) son

1 Amarz, p. 434.

gexgzed ‘Gl
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This family is mentioned solely in connection with
Sicily. All the members of the family had something to do
with the island to the extent of looking upon it as a hered-
itary perquisite. The origin of the family is not clear, but
the name F zdrah may of course indicate relationship with the
tribe of Fazarah.!

The first member of the family to take part in the
conquest of Sicily was al-Fagl b. Ya‘qlb b. Fazirah, who was
dispatched by the wall of Sicily to the district of Jabal
al-Nar (Mount Etna) with an army., Al~Fagl was successful in
this expédition.2 However, Ibn al-Athir presents the incident
differently, He stresses the fact that al-Fagl was dispatched
from al-Qayrawdn after the assassination of the Aghlabid army
commander in Sicily, whose name was Muhammad b, Salim.3

Al-Fadl b. Ya‘'qlb continued to serve the:w3li of

4 The family must have con-

Sicily-after his initial successes,
solidated its position in the island, for when the amir of
Sicily died in the nineteenth year of his rule, the son of
al-Fagl b. Ya‘qlb whose name was al-‘Abbas was appointed amlr
in his place in A.H.236,° Unlike the Aghlabid amlrs of Sicily
the new walil, al-‘Abbas b, al-Fa¢l b. Ya‘'qib b. Fazdrah, took
charge of military operations himself, and led many expeditions

against the Byzantine possessions, or what was left of them

in the island, He brought his family into these operations,

1 The tribal nisbah may sometimes take the form of the name of
the tribe without the nisbah ending, e.g., Abii al-‘Anbar
(instead of al-‘Anbari) (B. 41). The isms of the individuals
were derived from the name of the tribe such as TamiIm in Ahmad
b, Tamim (A. 247 ), who originated from the tribe Tamim,

2 Ibn ‘Idhari, vol. 1, p. 106.
3 Ibn al-Athir, op. cit., vol. 5, p. 188,
4 Amarl, p. 225,

S Ibn Khaldlin, Kitfb al-‘lIbar, vol., 4, p. 431. Ibn Khalddn
makes the appointment at A,H.233; Amari, p. 471.
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and one of his important lieutenants was his uncle, Rabil b,
Ya'qib b. Fazdrah (A.173). During the term of al-‘Abb&s, the
capital of Sicily, Qagryinah,fell to the Aghlabids in.

A.H.237/A.D.851 ,1

and he extended his operations to include

the mainland of Italy. After a very active life, al-‘Abbas

died in AH.247, The Muslim community of Sicily chose his

son ‘Abd All3h in his stead,2 and they sent a message to the
amir in al-Qayrawan informing him of what they had decided.

The amir disallowed the choice and despatched his own will,

who was a member of the Aghlabid family, by the name of Khaf&jah
b. Sufy&n b, Sawddah (A, 167). He was assisted by his son
Mubammad.

Nothing has been recorded of the family of Faz&rah
during the time of Khaf&jah and his son, but this does not mean
they were not active in the island., The family must have
benefited from the conflict within the Aghlabid family, follow-
ing the dispute between Ahmad b, al-Aghlab and Muhammad b,
al-Aghlab which split the ruling family. This situation was
repeated when Ibrdhim b, Ahmad seized power in al-Qayrawdn -
against the will of the lawful amir and the dynasty.3 These
developments resulted in the amir in al-Qayrawdn relying upon
the leading families instead of upon the members of the ruling
4

family, who were in constant opposition to the amlr,

The Fazirah family was recalled to service in Sicily

1 1bn al-Khatib, vol, 3, p. 111; for Qagriyanah, see Map
no, 3. .

2 Amari, p. 472,

3 Ibn ‘Idhiri, vol. 1, p. 116; Ibn al-Khatib, vol. 3, p. 27;
the statement of Ibn al-Khatib is different from that of Ibn
tIdhdri, for Ibn al-Khatib makes the Aghlabid family unanimous
in its support for Ibr3dhiIm II, This was not true as later
events showed: see ibid., vol. 3, p, 116,

4 pis obsession with his authority drove him to execute his
own son, brother, and uncle; see ibid., vol. 3, pp. 32, 116.
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after the assassination of Muhammad b. Khafijah b, Sufyin b,
Sawddah (A, 171) by his own servants, Their return to power
took the shape of appointments as amir of Sicily and amir of
Southern Italy (al-Ard al-Kabirah), The two new amlrs were
Ahmad b, Ya‘qib b. Fazarah for Sicily and ‘Abd All&h b, Ya‘'qlb
(C. 571 ) b. Fazdrah for al-Ard al-Kabirah.1

Abhmad b, Ya‘'qib (A. 172) seems to have been an old
man, and he died in A.H.258/A.D.872, being succeeded by his
son al-Husayn b. Ahmad (A. 216) who later received confirmation
of his appointment from the Aghlabid amir in A.H.259/A.D.873.
It would appear that al-Husayn was dismissed and then
re-appointed, to continue his rule of the island until his
death in A.H.271.2

Most of the amirs who ruled the island in the period
between al-Husayn!s dismissal and his second appointment came
from his own family,

Rabdh, the second son of Ya‘qlb b, Fazarah, died in
A H.,258, the same year as his brother Ahmad. Thus the family
had no chance at the time of obtaining the post of amir. The
rebellion of al-Aghlab b. Ahmad b, al~-Aghlab (the brother of
the Aghlabid amir) and al-Aghlab b, Muhammad b. al-Aghlab in
Sicily, and their initial success in seizing power, resulted
in the death of the amir of Sicily, and after the restoration
of the Aghlabid amir!s authority in the island, al-Hasan b,
Rabih was appointed amir of Sicily by the Muslim residents,

and the appointment was approved by the Aghlabid amIr.3 The

1 Ibn ‘Idhari, vol. 1, p. 115.

2 The period during which he was out of office cannot be
stated precisely owing to lack of data; however, other amirs:
are mentioned between his first term and his second, See
AmarI, pp. 361-362.

3 1Ibn al-khatib (vol. 3, p, 116) states, however, that the man
was not al-Husayn b. Rabdh but al-Husayn b, al-‘Abb3s.
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term of al-Hasan lasted several years, but it is not clear
when it terminated; it is however clear that his successor,
al-Hasan b, al-‘Abbas b. al-Fagl b. Ya‘'qiib b, Fazdrah, was
appointed in A.H.268. He was the son of a&l-Hasan b. Rab3h's
cousin,

In addition to al-‘Abbas, al-Fagl b. Ya‘'qlib had two
other sons, ‘Ali and Muhammad. ‘Ali b, al-Fagl was an admiral
in the navy of the Aghlabids in Sicily, and was under the com-
mand of his brother, the amir of Sicily, al-Fagl b, Ya‘'qib
b. F zé‘.rah.1

Muhammad b. al-Fagl b. Ya‘qib b. Fazirah, the third
son of al-Fa¢gl b, Ya‘'qllb, was appointed amir of Sicily after
the dismissal of his nephew, al-Husayn b, al-‘Abb3as (C., 613)

in A.H.268.2

Al-‘Abbas b. al-Fadl b, Ya‘'qllb had one son by the name
of al~Husayn, and another name is mentioned, viz., al-Hasan b.
al-‘Abbas, with identical associated data, which,. however, might
merely indicate a variant of al-Hasan's name.3

The youngest son of Ya‘qlb b, Faz&rah, according to
the sequence established by their respective floruits, was
‘Abd All3h (C. 571). He was appointed by his brother Ahmad b,
Ya‘qllb who was the amir of Sicily, over Calabria, becausé the
territories in the South of Italy were put under the authority
of the amir of Sicily. Information about 'Abd Alldh is sparse
and the post he'occupied apparently did not endure for long
after him, He died a month after the death of his brother

Rabdl), and this somehow seems to have secured the succession

of his grandson, Abl al-‘Abbis b, Ya'qib b, ‘Abd Allsh b,

1
2

Ibn ‘Idharil, vol, 1, p. 112, .
ibid., p. 119,
3 Ibid.; Amarl, p, 475.
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Yat'qlib, who died a short while later. He was succeeded by a
brother of his whose name has not been recorded.1

The family of Rabah was the last to occupy the post
of amir of Sicily. Ahmad b, AblI al-Husayn b, Rabdh wasg
appointed in A.ﬁ.290 by Ziyadat All&h III.- An error in his
name may have been made either by al-Nuwayri, or the scribe,
which makes it very difficult to decide whether Ahmad was the
son of al-Husayn b, Rabih (about whom nothing seems to have
been recorded by any of the chronicles) or the son of al-Hasan
b. Rabih (A.,172), who was the amir of Sicily on A.H.264, It
is possible that the names have been confused, and 2l-Hasan
has been changed to Abii al-Husayn, especially as some authors
give al-Hasan's name as al-Husayn when writing about the same
person.-2 In this case the word Abli could have been-:added'in
error, )

The family's position of power in Sicily ended with

the fall of the Aghlabids and there appears to be no mention

of it in the Fatimid era.

16, Al-Ghassdni/al-Haddad

Sabll al-Ghass&ni ‘ - al-Haddid
t 1

1 ' 1
Muhammad - Ibnat al-Haddad
: L

L ] ]
Unnamed son (C, 391) Abl ‘Uthmin Sa‘id (A. 381)
t

*‘Abd Al118h (A, 512)

Muhammad b, Sabilj al-Ghassanl is the first member of
this family to be mentioned in a direct reference to the family's

1 1bid., p. 434,

2 Ibn ‘Idh&ri, vol. 1, p. 117; AmarI, p. 434; Ibn al-Khatlb,
vol., 3, p. 117,
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existence in al-Qayrawdn before the beginning of the third
century, Mubammad and his wife were personal friends of
al-Bahliil b. Rashid al=Ru‘ayni and Ghuzayyil,1 his concubine,
and they related_hadiths and anecdotes to al-Bahliil (d. A.H.
183). The family of al-Ghassanl may be presumed to have been
early established in al-Qayrawan, even if we do not know the
exact date of their arrival there,

After the marriage of Muhammad b, Sabih al-Ghassanl
to Ibnat al-Haddad the family name (nisbah) of al-Ghass&nl was
eventually changed to al-Haddad--a very unusual preference of
the maternal over the paternal nisbah, Thus Sa‘ld b, Muhammad
b. Sabih (al-Ghass&ni) was known as Sa‘'id b. al-Haddid,
al-Haddid being his mothert's father.2

Sa‘id b, Muhammad is one of the two sons of Muhammad
b. Sabih; the other son's name is unrecorded. Sa‘id b.
Muhammad was brought up in a family which despite their poverty
had interests in traditions and jurisprudence. He was one of
Abili al~-‘Arab's authorities in hadith, and many of the scholars
of the second half of the third century and the first half of
the fourth century were his students. The poverty of his family
created a bitterness in him which is clear in his attitude to
other people.3' Although the family was brought up as a Mx1likX

family, in the end Abll Sa‘'id rejected this madhhab and opposed

the opinions expressed in the Mudawwanah of Sahnlin to the

extent of dubbing it al-Mudawwidah (the smelly). He was close

to the madhhab of al--Shafi‘i,4 while disagreeing with him on some

1T Ab@l al-‘Arab, pp. 129, 133,
2 Al-Dabbigh, vol. 2, p. 295.

3 Al-M3liki, vol., 2, p. 60; the family fortunes improved con-
siderably after Sa‘ld inherited a great deal of money following
the death of his brother (C,391) in Sicily. Sa‘'id became a
wealthy man and owned several shops near the Great Mosque of
al-Qayrawan: see Ibn Sallam, p, 60; al-Shamdkhi, pp. 260, 263;
al-MEliki, 92-—‘2—1-3"-1)‘ 58; Anlari, Pe. 190,

4 pi-pabbigh, vol, 1, p. 295,
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points, He criticised people who follow others uncritically“.1

The relationships of Abfi *Uthmin with ordinary people
are of interest: one of his friends (C. 859) was a singer, His
poverty ended when he inherited the wealth of his brother, whose
name is not recorded. This brother lived in Sicily and seems to
have made a lot of money there., ADb{i Sa‘'id became one of the
merchants of al-Qayrawan, whose shops were near the Great
Mosque.2

Sa‘id was one of the Witnesses at Ibn Talib's (A. 222)
trial, and he gave evidence in the latterts favour. He helped
him to answer some of the charges, such as having given gadagah
to the family of the Prophet. These actions made him popular
with the Malikis, despite their differences with him.3 In fact
he bcame so popular that the Kharijites claimed him as one of
their mash&?ikh in al-Qayrawn.4 He could not, however, have
been a Kharijite, but his strongly cpposing the existing order
made him a natural ally of the Kharijites without his being
fully aware of this,

Abli ‘Uthmant's great fame came from his debate with
the FAtimids and their ‘ulam&'’ after their seizure of al-Qayrawan.
The arguments that he presented on behalf of the Sunnl madh&hib
won him the admiration of his enemies.s A full text of the
whole dialogue between Abll Sa‘'ld who headed the ‘ulami’ of
al-Qayrawan and the Shit‘ite ‘ulami’ in the presence of the

Fatimid caliph, al-Mahdi, is to be found in al-Khushani.6

' 1bid., vol. 2, pp. 295-297; al-Khushanl, p. 202,
2 1pn sallim, p. 59. .
3 A1-MA1iki, vol. 2,pp.58-59; &l-Dabbigh, vol. 2, p. 245,

4 Ibn sallam, p. 59; al-Shamukh, p, 263, He was called.
Satid b. al-Haddddi; in Ibn Sallam he is al-Hadda’l, The data
which the two give are undoubtedly those of Sa‘id b, Muhammad
b. $abih al-Ghassani (Ibn al-Hadd3id).

5 Al-Khushani, p. 258.
6 1pid., pp. 258-278,
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Abld Sa‘id had one known son, Abd Muhammad ‘Abd AllZh
(A.513) who was a jurist, but he was not of the calibre of his
father. ‘Abd Alldht's ability was more notable in storytelling,
and ‘Iy&g describes his hadith as very interesting to listen

to.! ‘Abd Al1ih died about A.H.320, after which nothing further

is recorded of this family.

17. Marwdn b, Sam3k al-Hamad3nl

Marwin b, Sam3k al-HamadiAnI - Unnamed wife (C.863)

Hamis (A. 397) Ahmad (C. 865) Sayyidah
! (C. 872)

Saiim (C. 419) I;Iam:.id (A. 459)

The family is first mentioned in the early years of
the third century, and no doubt its members had been living in
the city for some time before that date. Marwdn, the father
of Hamds, was a wealthy individual, This can be deduced from
the problems posed by the property which he left.2 Nothing
more about him is known, except that he was the father of the
judge of al-Qayrawan, one otherrson, and a daﬁghter.

Ham3s was appointed judge in A.H.290/A.D.902, was
then dismissed, and then reinstated, holding the post until
A.H.294 when he resigned. He died in A.H.303/A.D.915., During
his years in office he was liked by the populace and was moder-
ate in his approach to the problems of the city.3

Marwan's other descendants were a son Ahmad and a

daughter Sayyidah. Nothing is known about them except their

1 1ysd, al-Madirik, vol. 3-4, p. 340 (B. ed.).
Al"rﬁliki, VOIQ 2, Ppo 72"73.
3 Ibn ‘Idh&rI, vol. 1, p. 136; al-Dabb&gh, vol. 2, pp. 220-234,
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quarrel over their father's inheritance.1 This was resolved
by their brother, the judge Hamds, There is no mention of the
relative ages of the three members, but it seems clear from
the previous incident that Hamds was acting in his capacity as
the head of the family and not as the judge of the city,

and being the head of the family he must have been the eldest
member.

Hamds b, Marwan had two sons, S3lim and Hanid
(Muhammad), The first was a scholar and a devotee. He worked
as a secretary to the Judge of al-Qayrawan, who happened to be
his father at the time. His ascetic habits made him live on
a day-to-day basis making his living out of odd jébs such as
cutting wood.2 Hamlid was the second son of Ham3s. He was-
brought up in the same way as his brother and died in A,H.309,
with his death we lose track of the family, which may however

have survived in the city to the fifth century.

18, QAadim b, Zayd al-~Hanafl

Qadin b, Zayd
'

Zakariyy& (C.236) Yahya Muhammad (B. 44)
1 t
: 1 ]
‘Imran Yahy& Almad.
(C.178) (C.905) (A.149)

Anong the students of Asad b, al-Furdt when he
arrived from the east in al-Qayraw&n, in A.H.181,2 were the

Abni’ Qa3dim, These are doubtless to be identified with Zakariyy&

T A1-M3liki, vol. 2, p. 72.
2 Al-Dabbiagh, vol. 3, p. 322 (M. ed.); al-Khushani, p, 232;
‘Iy&id, Tarajim, p. 399.
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b. Q&dim, Yahy& b. Qadim, and Muhammad b. Q3dim, who are
mentioned in other sources.

The origin of the family may be deduced from the
nisbah al-Hanafl, which means they were from the tribe of the
Bani Hanifah (one of the sub-tribes of Bakr b, Wi!il). The
nisbah al-Hanafi does not refer to the madhhab of the family,
although they did adhere to the madhhab of Abli Hanlfah
al-Nu'min b, Thibit al-Kifi,!

The first mention of any member of the family in
al-Qayrawdn is that of Zakariyyd, who was a lieutenant of the
Abbasid wdli of Ifriqiy& in A.H.181.2 This appointment throws
light on the status of the family, as during the later years
of the Abbasid direct rule over Ifriqiyd the army reached the
peak of its authority, and it is not likely that a new man
would have a chance in military or administrative affairs with-
out having some roots in the Abtasid establishment, He may have
been a member of the jund class or a son of a member of that
class,

Nothing is recorded regarding the life data of
Zakariyya or what happened to him after the year A,H,180, the
year he built the fortess of al-Munastir,

The other son of Q&dim al-Hanafi was Muhammad who was
a Hanafi jurist. He participated in Asad's expedition to.
Sicily., Mubhammad advised a return to Ifriqiyi because of the
hazardous situation facing the Aghlabid army there. He advanced
the view that the life of a Muslim was worth everything and
could on no account be forfeited, Asad construed this as an
invitation for the army to rebel against his command and thus

cause a fitnmah., Asad ordered Muhammad to be punished. In

1 A1-MA1ikT, vol. 1, p. 182,
2 Ibn al~Raqiq, p. 203,
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ordering lashes to be administered to Muhammad he aimed at
getting rid of agitation in the army, He addressed his men in
Muhammad b, Qadim's regard saying: "The cause of the fitnah
which claimed the life of ‘Uthmin [b, ‘Affin) was less than
the open incitement of the jund to disobey theixr command"
(ohie U5 eda oo Jil Gl )e

The third son of Q3dim was Yahy3, about whom we know
nothing except that he was the father of ‘Imran b, YahQyi b,
Qadim (C. 178); the latter was a traditionist and was conten-
porary with ‘Abd All3h b, Farriikh al-Farisi and possibly a
student of his.2 ’

The branch of the family descended from Mubamhad b.
Qidim is also covered in the biographical authors. In the
third century they were dedicated Hanafis, but above all they
were very close to the Aghlabid gg;£§.3 The support of
eminent families like the Band Qadim was needed by the amlr to
satisfy the common people; they were also useful in performing
diplomatic tasks,4

Abli Yahy& Ahmad b, Muhammad was, like his father, a
student of Asad b. al-Furidt. He participated in the expedition
against Sicily in A,H.212. However he was, like Asad,
bipartisan, i.e., he was well informed in both the madhhab of
Abil HanIfah and that of Milik.” This had the effect of putting
him above sectarian rivalry. When Sahniin was asked to accept
the post of judge, the amlr éent Ahmad b, Muhammad b, Qadin

instead of the usual Rh&jib. This was an expression of the

1 A1-MA1iki, vol. 1,p. 189,
2 1bid., p. 119.
3 1pid., p. 273.

4 1bn ‘Ian&ri, vol. 1, p. 141; al-Miliki, vol, 1, p. 273;
Al-‘Uyan wal-Hadi’iq, vol. 4, pt. 1, p. 84.

5 Al-Dabbiagh, vol. 2, p. 111.
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disinterestedness of the amir, Ahmad died in A,H,.247,
Yahya b, Muhammad b. Qadim was a teacher of maghizi
i.e., the history of the Muslim conquests.1 He was a contem=-

porary of 2&l-Khushani who left al-Qayrawan in A, H.312,

19, Al=Ifriqgi

Miskin b, Mangldr (B, 83)
1

] ]
‘Isa (A. 322) Muhammad (d. A.H. 297)
)

Unnamed daughter (C. 753)

The nasab of this family is as follows: MiskiIn b,
Manglir b. Jurayj2 b. Muhammad al-Afriqi., The origin of the
family is given as Af&riqah3 which can be taken to mean the
urban population of Ifrigqiya resulting from intermarriage between
the Byzantines (al-Riim), and the Berbers., There may have been a
Vandal element among these people. The word ‘ajam usually had
a wider meaning but in this case was clearly interchangeable
with Ifriqi (plural al-Afariqah).4 The family as a whole did
not reside in al-Qayrawdn; only those members who did live |
in the city have been included in the present lists,

The first member of the family in al-Qayrawin was
Miskin b, Manglir, but apart from his being the father of two

jurists, little is recorded of his career. He seems to have

2 The name of the grandfather of MiskiIn indicates clearly the
background of the family and its origin: Jurayj is a dimin-
utive of the name George, which suggests it was the generation
of Jurayj which saw the conversion of the family to Islam. The
name of the father of Jurayj (Muhammad) may have been merely a
conventional way of giving the name a Muslim appearance.

3 '1yag, al-Madairik, vol, 4, p. 331 (M. ed.).
4 Y, Mones, Fath al-‘Arab lil-Maghrib, p. 5.
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been instrumental in encouraging his son ‘IsA to study
jurisprudence.1 The family seems to have been wealthy, owning
a large farming busineSS.2 The family money must have been
behind ‘Is&'s two long journeys which covered almost every
xregion in the east (the Hijiz, ‘Ir&q, Syria).

The elder son of Miskin was ‘Isi, who was born in
A,H.214, He studied undexr Sahnin b, Sa‘id (A.140), and his
son Muhammad (A.168), ‘Isi was forced by IbrZhim II to accept
the post of Judge of Ifriqgiya in A,H.281, and he then took up
residence in Raqggadah, He appointed a number of persons to deal
with day-to~day cases in al-Qayrawadn, His assistants weré:

1. Sulaymdn b, Salim (A. 281); appointed to the magdlim court
2, 1IbradhiIm b, al-Khashshdb (A, 438); he succeeded Sulaymin b,
Silim in the maz&lim post,

3., AbO al-Qisim al-Tirzi (A. 344), muhtasib,

4, 1Ibn Zirydb (C. 669), keeper of the diwin,

5. ‘Abd Allih b, al-Banni&’ (A, 385), secretary,

In A,H,289 ‘Isi was relieved of his post of judge at
his own request. He returned to his home in al-S&hil where he
resumed the running of his farm.3 In A,H.295 ‘Isa died.

The second son of MiskIn b, Manglir was AbQ ‘Abd Allah
Muhammad b, Miskin who left his home in al-S3hil to study in
al-Qayrawin and Egypt. He met the leading MalikX scholars in
both places. After that he returned to his village in al-33Qil
to lead a quiet life, probably combining farming with teaching.
Mupanmad died at his home at al-Sahil in A,H,297.%

There are no recorded male descendants of the family,

but we hear of the daughter of ‘Isi,whose name, however, has

not been recorded (c.753).5

1 ‘Iya¢, al-Madirik, vol. 4, p. 344 (M. ed.)
®  1bid.

3 Ibid., p. 350.

4 Ibid., p. 351.

> Ibid., p. 344.
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20, Ibn al-~Jazzar

Ahmad b. Abi Khilid al-Jazzir
t

Ibrihim (A,477) Abl Bakr (C,903)
]

Ahmad (C.904)

The origin of this family is not clear,despite the
extensive information given about it in both the biographical
literature and the historical chronicles, Three members of the
family were physicians, and the second, Ahmad, was one of the
pillars of the Qayrawdn medical school, Physicians came from
all over the Islamic west to study under him.1 The involvement
of two generations is’likely to indicate a long association with
practising medicine which may go back several generations,

Several biographical authors refer to the family as
al-Kharrdz (leather tailor), but among the medical biographers
there is complete agreement that the nisbah of the family was
al-Jazzir (butcher), which was possibly the occupation of one of
their ancestors, This also suggests that the family was not
originally Arab, since the Arabs even in the third century of

the Hijrah avoided such occupations.

The second Ahmad was a ggggg.z He had a small clinic
and dispensary where he practised medicine, His assistant dis~
pensed the drugs and collected the fees, because he himself did
not want to concern himself with such matters.3 Ahmad wrote
several books on medicine, history and jurisprudence. Despite
Ahmadts loyalty to the Fatimids he declined to work for them, but
at the same time kept an amicable relationship with the ruling

family.4

T Ibn AbI Usaybi‘ah, p. 31.

Ibid., P. 9; Ibn Jaljal, p. 88; see fn, C.503,
Ibn Abi Usaybi‘ah, p. 11,

iIbid., pP. 9,

=N SV
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The library. of Ahmad was estimated at more than-

twenty four thousand gintars of books in weight and his wealth
was immense.1

21, Al-Kinani

Qays b, Yasdr b, Muslim al-Kin&ni (B. 1) -
. |

t ]

*Abd Alldh (C.111) ‘Abd al=-‘Aziz
' (C..91)
Muhammad (A.111)
1

'l } 1
Ahmad (A.116)  ‘Imran (C.400) ‘Abd Allih
t 1

. R | .
‘Abd Al1l15h  ‘Imrin (C.358) Apmad
1 '
anmad *Imx&n (C.873)
(A.425)

Qays b, Muslim is said to have been a Coméanion of
the Prophet. He came to Ifriqiy& in the early days of the
conquest and after al-Qayrawdn was built he settled tflere.2
His descendants lived in the city until the beginning of the

fourth century, when we lose track of then.,

Qays b. Muslim had two sons, ‘Abd All5h and ‘Abd
al-‘Aziz, and they both occupied leading positions in the city.
‘Abd al=-‘Aziz b, Qays was a chamberlain of the Umayyad Eéli.-
of Ifriqiya&, and he continued to occupy this post under the
Fihrids when they seized power in Ifriqui in A.H.126.3 The
record on this individual stops at this point and nothing is
known about him oxr his immediate fanily.

The other son of Qays was ‘Abd AllZh, who was a rich

and prominent individual. He was one of the leaders of the

T tbn AbL Ugaybi‘ah, p. 11,
2 Al-M81lik%, vol. 1, p. 61.
3 1bn al-Ragiq, p. 125,
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city during the turbulent years at the end of the Fihrid era;
with a force of one thousand men he tried to stop the advance
of the tribe of Warfajlimah on the city, but in vain. ‘Abd
Allaht's personal data stops at this point, It is, however,
unlikely that he perished during this period because Asad, the
partner of Abd Muhriz, ‘Abd Allah's son, in trying to stress
his superiority over Abd Muhriz is reported to have said that
"while we were travelling over great distances in search of
knowledge some people [sc. Abll Muhriz] were behind the looms
of their mothers and the ovens of their fathers."1 This may
be taken as evidence that the father of Abi Muhriz was alive
at least during Asad!'s trip to the east, which ended around .
AH,181,

‘Abd Al11l3h b. Qays had one son who is known to us as
Abl Muhriz Muhammad. AbQi Muhriz was a jurist, and despite
al-M3likits claim2 that he was a student of M3lik, the above=-
mentioned statement by Asad b. al-Furdt shows he was not so;
as far as studying in the east is concerned, Abll Muhriz had - .

never done so, and had never studied under the im3ms of the
3

time,

Despite the appointment of Abli Muhriz as a judge in
place of ‘Abd Allih b. Ghinim al-Ru‘ayni in A,H.190/A.D.806,
his position became increasingly threatened by the arrival of
increasing numbers of new graduates from the east with greater

knowledge and abilities. The Aghlabid amir came under growing

pressure from his own minister to dismiss Abfl Muhriz and appoint

1 Al-MX1ikI, vol, 1, p. 183, This is a free translation of:
Ly sLladl iy olaldl g Lzly JYIBLT Ll b 5 Lo 07
YL LEnL ol gy 6ol G&Q‘La’ﬁn‘cvﬂfhib‘HﬂJ|%JL Ll

T e sl o,

2  1pid.,p. 189.

3 Ibid., p. 183.
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someone else.1 The minister, ‘All b. Hamid, was in favour of
Asad b. al-Furdt, the greatest jurist of the day, and in the
end he won over the Aghlabid amir. However, Ziyadat AllZh
compromised by making the post a shared one between Asad and
Abli Muhriz, No one has fully explained what made the amir
take this step, which was the first of its kind to be taken
in Ifriqiyd. It may have been because Abi Muhriz was a member
of the Arab aristocracy and because Ziyadat All3ih wanted to
appease them by keeping one of thir number in the post instead
of replacing him by a mawl3d, i.e., Asad b, al-Furdt, His
wealth and social status may also have played a role,2 or his
family's descent from Baladiyyin stock., All these could have
been contributory factors, to which might be added the pre-
carious situation Ziyadat Alldh was in when he began his
reign, i.e., the period in which he took the decision to make
the post of the judge a shared one,

It would seem that political partisanship did not
enter into the appointment of Ab{i Muhriz although the fact that
he belonged to a large and influential family may have had some
influence upon his continuation as a judge, which was challenged
by many strongly-positioned people.3

The two judges continued to work jointly until the
dispatch of Asad to Sicily, where he died in A.H.213/A.D.828,
Abl Muhriz died in the following year, leaving behind him three
sons, Ahmad, ‘Imran, and ‘Abd Alldh, Ahmad was a jurist and

was appointed judge of al-Qayrawan from A,H,220/A,D.835 until

1 A1-Ma1iki, vol. 1, p. 193.

2 Yhen Abd Mubhriz was appointed judge he displayed his posses-
sions publicly; these included slaves and cattle. He then
addressed the people as follows: '"These are my possessions, and
if you see them increase, this will mean I am corrupt.' See.
al-M3liki, vol, 1, p. 193,

3 1bid., p. 185.
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his death in A.H. 221.1 He had two sons, ‘Imran and ‘Abd Allih.
Nothing is recorded of ‘Abd Alldh's career, but his name is
given in his sons' (A.425) chain of descent, ‘Imr3n b. Ahmad
(C. 398) is mentioned in connection with the preparations for
the burial of his father in A.H.221, Nothing further is
recorded of him,

The second son of Abii Muhriz was ‘Imradn (C. 400).
He was a contemporary of Sahniin b, Sa‘id (A, 140), In dis=
cussion with Sahniin, ‘Imrdn spoke of his disagreement with his
father and his brother on the subject of the drinking of nabidh,
he himself condemned it. Despite this, Sahnin told him that
his father and brother were bettex than he was.2

The third son of Akl Muhriz was ‘Abd All3dh, about
whom nothing seems to have been recorded. His name is given
in the chain of nasab of his grandson (C. 873). ‘Abd All3h b,
Abi Muhriz had one son whose career is as obscure to us as that
of his father. He was Ahmad b. ‘Abd Allah b, AbI Mubpriz,

After the death of Ahjmad b, Abd Muhriz (A, 116), data
regarding the family become very scant, and little attention
is given to the family by the biographical authors, However, in
A.H.296, the family re-emerged with more authority and importance,
as is shown by the appointment of Abd Mu‘ammar ‘Imrin b, Ahmad
b, 'Abd Allidh.b, AbI Muhriz (C. 873) to one of the key positions

in the Fatimid administration, viz, taqsit (al-kharai).3 This

indicates, ‘apart from the fact that he was qualified for the
position, that he probably had some sympathy for the Fatimid
cause, even if he had not actually been converted to the Fatimid

madhhab, After this sudden turn in the family fortunes, the
D ———————

1 Al-Maliki, vol, 1, p. 305; al-Dabbagh, vol, 2, p. 42.

2 Ibn al-Ragiq, Qutb al-Surir, p. 487.
3  1bn ‘Idhiri, vol. 1, p. 173,
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historians and biographical authors seem to have been reluctant

to report anything further about the family, perhaps because of
this allegiance to the F3atimid establishment and because the

sources in our hands are anti-Fi{imid.
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22, Al-Hakam al-Lakhmi

Al-Hakam al=-Lakhmi
1

] ]

Muhammad (B. 35) ‘Umar (C. 237)
!
t |}
Abld Yahya Ahmad
Zakariyya (C.272) (C.425)
 §

Yahya

The links between the members of this Qayrawini
family are not entirely clear. The beginning of the history of
the family in Ifriqiya may be represented by the arrival of
Yahya ibn al-Hakam with the army of Mu‘awiyah b. Hudayj
al-Kindi (A.H.41-47). The name al-Hakam suggests that he may
have been the grandfather of the al-Hakam in the above pedigree,
The name Yahy3 in Yahyi b. al-Hakam is also suggestive, as it
appears twice in the pedigree, first as a kunyah and secondly
as the ism for the son of Zakariyya.1

Al-Hakam al-Lakhmil, the father of Muhammad b, al-Hakam,
is not recorded independently in the sources which are available
to us., .The family begins to interest the biographical authozrs
from the second generation, when the two sons of al-Hakam
studied under Malik b. Anas. These were ‘Umar, who was a con-
temporary of al-Awza‘'l the great jurist and scholar of al-Shim,
and who studied under both him and Milik, Nothing is known of

tumar apart from this, and he had no known descendants., The

1  A1-MRliki, vol, 1, p. 163,
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other son was Muhammad b. al-Hakam, another student of Milik,
Muhammad, his son Zakariyyi, and his grandson Yahyia all
studied under Milik, according to ‘Iyad.1 The father, Mﬁbaﬁmad,
died in A,H.206/A.D.821 . The son of Muhammad, Zakariyyi, was
the most influential member of the family. He was a brilliant
jurist in the class of Abl Muhriz and Asad b, al-Furat.2 None
of the family, however, were given any official post, probably
because they were Malikites, and the Malikites before Sahnfin’
(A. 140) did not enjoy the favour of the amirs, To this must
be added their philosophy of looking askance at cooperation
with the secular authorities.3

Another son of Muhammad b, al-Hakam was Ahmad b,
Mubammad b, al-Hakam, who was a contemporary of ‘Abd Allih b,
Abi Hassin al-Yahsubi (A. 122). The fourth generation is
represented by Yahya b. Abll Yahya Zakariyy& b. Muhammad

al-Lakhmi, who is given in Riydd al-Nuflls erroneously as

al-Tujibi.4 The exact date of his death is unceftéin, but

he seems to have been well known and very popular, especially
in his last years. It is claimed that his funeral procession
could not pass the gate of Bib Nifi' because of the crowd who

cane to see the cortege.5

1 ‘Iyid, al-Madirik, vol. 3, p. 324 (M. ed.).

2  A1-Dabbigh, vol. 2, p. 69. |

3 a1-Maliki, vol. 1, p. 274; ‘Iyigd, al-Madirik, vol. 4, p. 57
(M. ed.). B

4 Aj1-Miliki, vol, 1, p. 163,

5  1pid.
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23, Misa b, Nusayr al-Lakhmi

Nugayr al-Lakhml (A, 9)
1

Mis&a (A.9) Unnamed daughter  Unnamed daughter
1 (C.44? !
t ] 1 1  § 1 1
*Abd *Abd *Abd *Abd *Abd Marwan Ayydb b,
al-*Aziz Alldh al-Rahmdn al-At'l3 al-Malik (C.26) Habib
(d. A.?. (A.8) (C.35) (C.41) (C.40) (C.47)
o8

Abld ‘Abd al-Rahmian Misd8 b, Nugayr b, ‘Abd al-Rahmin
b. Zayd is said to be from the tribe of Lakhm.1 Sonme biograph~.
ical authors, however, trace his descent from BillZ, while
others say he was from Bakr b, Wa’il, However, they are all in
agreenent about how Nugayr the father of Misia came to be a
Muslim, Nugayr was from a village near al-Kiifah called ‘Ayn
al--’.[‘amr.2 He is said to have been captured by-Khalid b,
al-Walid in one of the raids he carried out against the Persian
domain. This incident was in the year A.H.12, After the
emancipation of Nusayr he was appointed head of Mu‘&wiyah b,
Abli Sufyants guard, and subseqpently he held military positions
under Mu‘dwiyah which made him important to the latter, Nugayr
had one son, Mis&d, who was to play an important role in the
Islamisation of North Africa and Spain,

Misad was boxrn in A,H,19/A.,D,640 in the village of
Kafrmitri in the Galilee,3 and he took up a military career
from an early age. He was appointed by Mu‘awiya b, Abl Sufyan
as head of the Umayyad admiralty and was stationed in Cyprus
where he deputised for Mu‘8wiyah himself, Mids3 b, Nugayr was
not consistently loyal to the Umayyads, since he joined al-Pahhak

b. Qays who was fighting the newly-proclaimed Umayyad caliph

1 Knaitab, vol, 1,pp. 221-222,
2 P.K. Hitti, History of the Arabs, p. 213,
3 ghattsb, vol. 1, p. 223.
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on behalf of ‘Abd Allidh b, al-Zubayr. After the death of
al-Rahhdk b. Qays, Misd fled to Egypt to ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b,
Marwdn and asked for his protection. Mis3d later succeeded
in winning the confidence of Marwdn b, al-Hakam and his son
‘Abd al=‘Aziz, who appointed him his adviser.1

Bishr b. Marwdn, brother of ‘Abd al-Malik, was
appointed wili of ‘Irdq and Persia, and because of Bishrts
tender age Misd b, Nugayr was appointed by 'Abd al-Malik to be
a minister and adviser to Bishr, This made Mis3 the master of
‘Ir8q and Persia and the man responsible for the diw3n of
al=-Kharaj, but in the year A.H.75 Bishr b, Safwan died and the
post of wdli of ‘Irdq went to the notorious al-Hajjaj b. Yidsuf
al-Thagafi, who was informed by the caliph that Mis& had kept
some of the tax money for himself from the diwan revenue. Misi
fled to Egypt and again ‘Abd al-‘Aziz was quick to help and paid
half the fine which was specified by the caliph.2

‘Abd al-‘Aziz b, Marwan replaced Hassdn b, al-Nu‘min
with Misad b. Nugayr in A.H.84-85 (this date is the most likely
for this appointment and is generally recognised by historians).3
The first thing Misd did was to organise the government in
al-Qayrawdn., He was not satisfied with the behaviour of Abl
s51ih (C. 20), the man who had been left to rule al-Qayrawin
after the departure of Hass&n, and he accordingly exiled him
to the east together with one of his aides (C, 23),

Misd began his military operations by subduing the
mutinous pockets around al-Qayrawdn and to the north of it,

The next step was to combat the tribes of Sanh&jah and Sajlimah,

1 A1-Kindi, al-Wulit wal-GQudit, p. 47.
2 1bn ‘Idhiri, vol, 1, p. 4O.

3 jusayn Mones, Fath al-‘Arab 1il-Maghrib, p. 266; C.A. Julien,
p.18. See Chapter 1I, p. 37,
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and the result of his advance was the successful conquest of
the middle Maghrib.1 Misd was careful not to fall into the
same trap as had claimed the lives of ‘Ugbah and his compan-
ions, and his advance was therefore slow but steady.

These victories opened the way for Misa to take the
rest of the Maghrib and eventually to conquer the province of-
Tangiers. During the conquest Misd was supported by his sons,
who numbered at least six. - Some of them crossed.to Spain with
their father, who took an army across the straits.of Gibraltar
in A,H, 93 as a reinforcement for Tariq b. Ziyad (his mawli)
whose army was extended along several fronts against the Gothic
resistance which was gathering its strength after the decisive
battle of WAd1 Lakkuh in A.H.92/A,D.711.%

The earliest to be mentioned of Misa's sons is ‘Abd
al-‘Aziz, who was to become the widlli of Spain, After the fall
and disgrace of hié father, ‘Abd al-‘Aziz was assassinated as
the result of a plot between the Arab aristocracy of al-Qayrawin
and the Caliph Sulaymdn. He had been maligned as being in
sympathy with the Goths and of being influenced by his Gothic
wife who was the-wife of the slain Gothic king.3

The second son of Misd was ‘Abd All3dh, who succeeded
his father as the widll of al-Qayrawdn; he was one of the best
generals of his fathérhin his struggle in the Maghrib.4 His
fate was no different from that of his brother; he was killed
in al-Qayrawdn in A.H,97. After his death, those still loyal
to the family in the city were pursued and tortured by Muhammad

b. Yazid and the enemies of Misd among the Arab aristocracy.

T Ipn ‘IdharI, vol. 1, p. 41; Ibn Qutaybah, pt. 2, p. 54;
Ibn al~Raqiq, p. 70.

2 Ipbn ‘Idh&ri, vol, 2, p. 8.

3 1bn al-Raqiq, p. 23,

4 1bn Qutaybah, pt. 2, pp. 57-58,
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The third son of Misa b, Nugayr was Marwin, who was
the commander of the garrison of Tangiers before it was given
to Tariq b. Ziyad.1 He helped his father in the military
operations in the middle and far Maghrib. The fourth son of
Miisi was ‘Abd al-Malik who is mentioned in connection with
his return to the east with his father in A,H.94. The Umayyad
names given by Misa b. Nugayr to his two sons--Marwdn and ‘Abd
al-Malik=--is a strong indication of his loyalty which he wanted,
apparently, to stress even in his children's names. The fifth
son of Misd was ‘Abd al-A‘l3d, who was involved, like his two
other brothers, in the war of conquest. However, after the
return of his father he preferred to return with him to the
east. The sixth son of Misi was ‘Abd al-Rahman, who also
preferred to return to the east with his father,

The return of the latter three sons to the east with
their father is perhaps to be ascribed to their younger ages,

but the sources do not give any positive reason for their

failure to stay in al-Qayrawin., Misd died near al-Madinah in

24, Yazid al-Lakhni

Yazid al-lLakhni
]

' 1 1
Unnamed (C.176) Unnamed Rabdl) (A. 58)
'

‘*Abd Al13h (B. 77)

The most famous individual in this family was Rabah b.
Yazid al-Lakhmi (A, 58). He distinguished himself in championing
the poor and oppressed and together with al-Bahldl b, R&shid
al=-Ru‘ayni (A.77) he formed an unofficial opposition against

every government and official malpractice. His piety and

1 1bn qutaybah, pt. 2, p. 59; 1Ibn ‘Idhdri, vol. 1, p. 42.

2 Muhammad b. Futlh b, ‘Abd Allih al-Humaydi, Jadhwat
al-Mugtabis (Cairo, A, H,1372), p. 317,
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devotion were said to have been matched only by that of the

Imim Sufyin al-Thawri, A.H.161,
The history of the family settlement in the city is

unrecorded, but it may well have taken place around the last
two decades of the first century, when another Lakhmid w3ll
was in command in Ifriqiya, viz, Mis3d b, Nugayr. The calling
of Rabah was fafming, but his farm site is not known to us,
He used occasionally to come to al-Qayrawdn and stay with his
brother, whose name is unknown, The friends of Rabih tried to
find him a permanent job in the city in a drapert!s shop, but
he could not endﬁre city life because of whathhe termed its
injustice and its open disobedience to God.2

Yazid al-Lakhmi had other somns, 5u£ as their names
are not recorded it is difficult to distinguish between them,
One lived in al-Qayrawdn at an address in a road called Darb
‘Abid b, al-Aswad. Rab3h b. Yazid used to stay with him when
he was living in the city.3 It is not clear which was the
elder. The other son of Yazid al-Lakhml was one who resembled
Rabalh in his piety and devotion. He left IfrIqiya to iivetin
Alexandria.4

The third generation of this family is represented by

Abfi ‘Abd al-Rahman ‘Abd All3h b, Rabdh b, Yazid al~Lakhmi, He
was a traditionist, who was said to have been given the ism and
the kunyah of ‘Abd Alldh b. ‘Umar b, al-~Khatidb in admiration
of ‘Umar I's son.” ‘Abd Alldh b, Rabah claimed that he had

been old enough to transmit traditions from his father when the

1 Apd al-‘Arab. p. 221,

2 1pid., pp. 122-123,

3 Al-pabbigh, vol. 1, p. 216; al-Miliki, vol. 1, p. 220,
4 Apd al-‘Arab, p. 126,

5 1bid., p. 204.
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latter died prematurely in A,H,172 at the age of 38, but this
is questionable because of the quality of the hadith which he
transmitted. The man who was ‘Abd Allih b. Rabiah's authority

The date of the death of ‘Abd Alldh is not recorded

but may be estimated as being about A,H,232, This would make

his age at death 69 years.

25, Al-Ma‘afiril

Khayriin al-Ma‘'afirl al-Andalusi
1

Muhammad (C. 545)
'

Abld Ja‘far Muhammad Ahnad ‘Unmar
- (A. 377) } !
1 ! 1
Abli al-Hasan Abd Muhammad Abd ‘Abd Allih
Jatfar (A.471) Hasan Muhammad (A. 404)
- (d. A H.347) !
T 1

Muhammad (B, 118) *‘All (B. 119)

The earliest record of this family appears on the
fagade of one of the oldest mosques in the city, the mosque of
Ibn Khayriin; this is mentioned by Ibn ‘Idh&rl in connection
with the-building of the mosque by Muhammad b, Khayriin in the
year A.H.252.1 Nothing else is known about this individual
except that he was immensely rich, What brought him to
al-Rayrawan is a mystery. As a Miliki he might have come for
purposes of study, but in fact he was not learned in law or
tradition, and as many Andalusians did he would in any case

have returned home if study had been his aim. It might also

be that his coming to the city was in the wéke of the riot of

T 1bn ‘Idhdri, vol., 1, p. 114.
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al-Rabad, which took place in A.H.202.]

However, the third
and most likely reason for his residence in al-Gayrawidn was
his commexcial interests, The proceeds of his business
activities evidently enabled him to build the mosque referred
to above.2

Muhammad b, Khayriin had three sons of whom Abli Ja‘far
Mubammad b, Muhammad was the best known. He travelled to Egypt
to pursue his study of Nifi''s reading of the Qur!an. In this
he became an authority and people flocked to study under hin,

His choice of Nifit'!'s reading of the Qur’an gives a hint as to

his social status, for the gir’at N3fi* was alleged to have

been preferred by the higher classes of society.3

Abd Ja‘far managed the family wealth and was the head
of the Andalusian community in al-Qayrawan.4 He and his family
had strong financial ties with the Aghlabids.s The family
owned several hotels which were adjoining the family mosque
in the 0ld quarter of al-Zayyadiyyah in al-Qayrawin.6

When the Fatimids seized the city of al-Qayrawdn Abi
Jatfar tried hard to ingratiate himself with them. He even
wrote a book about the Faf{imids to please them. All this,
however, did not prevent the wdlil of al-Qayrawan from ordering
Abil Jat‘far's execution on the grounds of his defrauding the
new administration.7 The Malikis made Abd Ja‘far a martyr for

their party although his quarrel with the F&timids was financial

1 1bid., vol. 2, pp. 75-77.
2 1bid., vol, 1, pp. 114, 169.
3 Ibn al-Faragi, vol. 1, pp. 401-402,

4 ypn ‘Idh&ri, vol. 1, p. 149; for the Andalusian community
which began to emerge in al-Qayrawdn during the first decade of
the third century, see ibid., vol. 1, p. 102,

5 Al-M3liki, vol, 2, p. 82,
6 ibn ‘Idh&ri, vol. 1, p. 164; Ibn al~-Faragi, vol, 1, pp. 401-402,
7 Ipn ‘Idhiri, vol. 1, p. 169,
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and not sectarian., However, it might be argued that a bene-
volent person like Abd Ja‘far, who was known as the Shaykh

of al-Qayrawéin1 was the sort of figure likely to make a popular
martyr.

The Fatimid wdli of al-Qayrawan confiscated part of
the wealth of the family of al—Maﬁafiri.z How much was left
to them is not recorded.

. The second son of Muhammad b, Khayxriin (C. 545) was
Ahmad., He had a son Abdi Muhammad Hasan b. Muhammad b, Muhammad
b, Khayrin, Nothing is known about Abd Muhammad except that he
was still living in al-Qayrawdn in the middle of the fourth
century, and that he died in A,H. 347/A.D.959,

The third son of Muhammad b. Khayrin was ‘Umar, of
whom nothing i§ recorded other than his name. The son of ‘Umar
was a prominent member of the family. He was a merchant like
his grandfather, as were probably the rest of his family, His
interests were similar to those of his uncle Abi Ja‘far, for
he was himself a prominent teacher of the recitation of the
Qur'in.> His full name was Ab@l ‘Abd All3h Mubammad b, ‘Umar
(A. 404). The family seem to have had an abiding interest in
the art of reciting the Qur’an and it is possible that Muhammad
b. Khayriin himself was a muqri, Abid ‘Abd Alldh Muhammad had
two particular sons among his sons whose number is unknown,
They were Muhammad (B, 118) and ‘All (B, 119). They were all
known to have been engaged in receiving and transmitting

tradition.4

The origin of the family is not recorded, but they

Al-Dabbagh, vol. 2, p. 291,

Ibid., p. 290.

Ibn al-Faragi, vol, 1, pp. 401-402,

Ibn al-Abbar, al-Takmilah, vol, 1, p. 95.

W b
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were clients of the Yamanite tribe of Ma‘iAfir, one of the
major sub-divisions of al-Pamaysa', a part of l;{imyar.1 Their
place of origin in was thought of as being al-Andalus in
al-Rayrawan but in the Andalusian biographical literature the
family is considered Qayrawani, especially the second gener=-
ation of those known to us,

Abid Ja‘far Muhammad b, Muhammad's son was Abil
al-Hasan Ja‘far (A. 471) and like his father he followed the
family business. He died nine years after the death of his
father and five years after his successful cousin Abid ‘'Abd

Al13h Muhammad (A. 404).3

26, An‘am al-Sha'b&ni al-Ma‘dfiri

Ziydd b, Antam (B. 5) = Anonymous (B. Add,1)
)
*Abd al-R?bman (A.55)

Khaiid An‘am Unnamed daughter = Shardhil
(C. Add.2) (C.115) (c.114) (C.108)
This family was traced back to Himyar b, Saba.4
Sha‘ban was a sub-tribe of Himyar, but the nisbah form of this
name differed from region to region in spite of the common
origin which it denoted. Those of the clan who stayed in Yaman
were called Dhi Sha‘bayn, in Spain they were called al-Ush‘iib,
5

and in al-Qayrawan they were called al-Sha‘baniyyin,

Ziydb b, An‘am came to al-Qayrawdn with the armies of

1 Elias Teres, "Linajes Arabes", in al-Andalus, vol., 22,
(1957), PP 337-369; 1Ibn Hazm, p., 432,

2 Ibn al-Faragil, vol. 1, p. 401, Ibn al-Faragi calls him
Muhammad b, Muhammad b. Khayriin Qayrawl (from al-Qayrawin).

3 Roy, vol. 1, pp. 217-218,
4 Ibn Hazm, p. 432,
5 1bid., p. 433.
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Hassan b, al-Nu‘'midn al-Ghassani in A.H.74, the very year ‘Abd
al-Rahmin b. Ziyid b. An‘am son of Ziyid was born.! ziyid b.
An‘am settled in north-eastern al-Qayrawdn by the gate of
BaAb Nifi', where he built his house and his mosque.2 Ziyad
b. An‘am was a soldier before settling permanently in
al-Qayrawdn, He had accompanied Abli Ayyib al-Angdrl on his
expedition,

‘Abd al-Rahman b, Ziyad b. An‘am, who was said to
have been the first child to be born in Ifriqiyd to an Arab
family, was brought up in a pious and orthodox manner, and
participated like his father in the political and military
events of the time, He joined the caliphal army and was taken
prisoner, probably during the Umayyads! campaign against' the
Byzantine empire (A,H.120),. He was reprieved after being led out
to execution because the Byzantine emperor admired ‘Abd
al-Rahmidnt!s behaviour in the face of death, the prayers which
‘Abd al-Rahman recited having opened the door for religious
discussion with the emperor. After this he reprieved the
condemned men, despite the empress'!s determination that they
should die. ‘Abd al-Rahman and his colleagues were freed
after the ¢aliph had paid the ransom for their release.3

‘Abd al~-Rahmdn was pro-Abbasid, and so was Shardhil,
his son-in-law, who was an accessory to the conspiracy which
resulted in the assassination of ‘'Abd al-~Rahmin b, Habib
al-Fihri (A. 40), and the eventual return to the acceptance of
the authority of the Caliph.4 ‘Abd al-Rabhan himself was one

of the city's delegation to the Caliph al-Mangiir, which sought

Al-Dabbagh, vol, 1, p. 236.
ibid., p. 220.

Al-M3lik1I, vol, 1, p. 98.
Ibn al-Raqilq, p. 135.

A b =
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his help to rid the city of the oppression of the Kharijite
tribe of Warfa:jﬁmah.1

‘Abd al-Rahmadn was an old acquaintance of the caliph
from the days of al-Manglir's stay in al-Qayrawdn (c. A.H. 122).2
In Baghdad the caliph asked ‘Abd al-Rahman to stay at the
caliphal court but ‘Abd al-Rahmian declined to do so on the
grounds that he had to be in al-Qayrawan with his old mother.3

‘Abd al-Rahman b. Ziyad b, An‘am was the teacher of
most of the ‘ulamd’ of Ifriqiyd of his day in hadith and juris-
prudence, such as al-Bahlil (A. 77) and ‘Abd Alldh b. ‘Umar b,
Ghanim (A, 79). He is said to have served as a judge for the
first time during the reign of the last Umayyad caliph, Marw&n
b. Muhammad (d. A.H. 132)., The second time ‘Abd al-Rahmin was
appointed judge of the city of al-Qayrawin was after the
Abbasids?! seizure of the city in A,H.,144, He continued to work
as a judge well into the term of Yazld b, Hatim al-Muhallabi,
*Abd al-Rahmin b, Ziydd died in A.H.161 of eating what the
physician who examined him described as a heavy meal combining

fish with milk.4

The third generation of the family is represented by
his three children., They were Khdlid b. ‘Abd al-~Rahman, a
daughter whose name is not recorded, and An‘am, Khalid is
known to have been a traditionist, but apart from this nothing
is recorded of him.5 The unnamed daughter of ‘Abd al-Rahman

married Shardhil (C. 108) but her dates are not recorded. An‘am

Ibid., p. 163; Ibn ‘Idhari, vol, 1, pp. 70-72; al-Dabbagh,
ol, 1, p. 231; al-Miliki, vol. 1, p., 98,

Ibn Hazm, p. 21; ‘Abd al-Wahh3b, Warraqiat, vol, 1,
384,

Al-Miliki, vol. 1, p. 98,

Ibn al-Raqiq, p. 168,

Al-Dhahabi, al-Mushtabih fi Asmi! al-Rijil (Leiden, 1863),
200.

W U A WD g =
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the second son of ‘Abd al-Rahman, is mentioned by ‘Abd al-Rahmin
in verses of poetry which he sent with a letter to his family
in al-Qayrawan, when he was preparing to return home to

al-Qayrawdn from Baghd:aki.1

27. ‘Uthm3dn al-Ibz&ri al-Ma‘dfiri

‘Uthm3n
?
1

] . T
Hatim (C. 306) ‘Abd Allih (B, 32)
- A .

Abli al-Hasan (C, 235)

Mu‘afir was another Yamani tribe to settle in
al-Qayrawan. This settlement in the city followed their mass
migration to Egypt,and it was from Egypt that they spread to
the rest of North Africa.

‘Uthman's family must have been settled in North
Africa some time before the date of the earliest information
now available. The earliest known member of the family is -
*Uthm3n of whom we know nothing, except that he was a spice
merchant, as indicated by his name.

The second generation of the family is represented
by ‘Uthm3n's two sons, Hitim (C. 306) and ‘Abd Allah (B. 32).
They were jurists and studied under Malik b. Anas. Their activ=~
ities, however were not entirely religious, for Hatim was said

to have been in constant travel to and from the east.2 His aim

1 A1-Ma1iki, vol. 1, p. 99.

2 AbG al-‘Arab, pp. 109, 150; al-Miliki, vol. 1, p. 157;

‘Iyag, al=Madarik, vol. 3, p. 69 (M. ed.). The size of their
business is clear from the fact that they had dealings with
Faraj, the mawli of the Caliph al-Rashid, The caliph sent a
messenger to al-Qayrawdn toO recover the money of his mawld and

to order judge Ibn Ghanim to order Abli Hitim to pay the sum which
was 10,000 dindrs. Ibn Ghanim declined to rule in favour of the
caliph's messenger.
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in this was to further his business interests. In his travels,
Hatim used to deliver letters from the students of Milik in
al-Qayrawan, especially Ibn Ghénim,1 to Malik in al~Madinah,
They usually contained questions in cases in which they
desired to have Milik's fatwd. It is fair to assume that
‘Uthmin's occupation was buying and selling spice and conse-
quently his business trips to the east must have been connected
with that purpose. This business must have been very
profitable, as is clear‘from ‘'Uthmdn's life style. Abil al-‘Arab
gives some information about the marriage of ‘Uthmdn, who paid
two hundred dinirs as a dowry, which gives the impression that
he was very rich, H&Atim owned slaves which were said to have
cost him one hundred gigé;g.z

The other son of ‘Uthm3n was ‘Abd All3dh., He seems to
have lived permanently in al-Qayrawdn, looking after the retail
establishment from which the family directed its commercial
transactions.3

The third generation of the family, as represented by
Abli al-Hasan b. ‘Abd Alldh b, ‘Uthmin al-Ma‘dfirl al-Qayraﬁani
(C.235), seems either to have had no connection with the family
' pusiness, or to have lacked enthusiasm for it. He was an

author and wrote a book called Fasl al-KhitS.b.4 The nisbah

al-Ibzirl was not used of him, either through a change in the
family fortunes, or a change in the nature of the business, or
through his preference for jurisprudence, to which he devoted

most of his energy.

1 Al-Maliki, vol. 1, p. 157.
2 Abd al-‘Arab, p. 117,
3 1yag, al-Madarik, vol. 3, p. 316 (M. ed.).

4 ‘Iydd, Tardjim, p. 22 (Fagl al-Khitidb is believed to be
lost).
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28, Al-Musli

‘Amir b. Nafi®!
| §
| ]

‘Abd al-Rahmin (C.124) Ismi ‘11
t ’ ) [}
NAfi' (C. 127) Yabya
' (£f1. ALH, 198)
' 7 7 '
tAmir Hishim Mansiir Unnamed ‘Anir
(A,110)  (C.360) (C.367) daughter (C.129)
1 ~ ' (C.371) = 1
' 1 0 t _ Yahyi
Hamdis Abd - Abd al-Hasan (d. A.H, 201)
(C.369) al-‘Arab al-Faql (C.844)

(C.845) = (C.846)

This was another family of the Abbasid jund. The
founder of £he family in al-Qayrawan came to the city with the
expedition of Ibn al-Ash‘ath in A,H.144. He was ‘Abd al-Rahman
b, Nifi' b, Mahmiyyah al-Musli. Apparently he was not the only
member of the family to have come to al-Qayrawdn as a milita;y
officer. His nephew ‘Amir b, Ismi‘il also came in this capacity.
The latter was credited by the Abbasids with being the man who
ended the reign of the Umayyads by his killiﬁg of Marwan II in
Egypt.2 The family of al-Musli had a long history of loyalty to
the Abbasids, but the descendants of ‘Amir b, Ismi‘il, and even
he himself, did not settle permanently in al-Qayrawan. Instead
they were engaged in the service of the caliphs.

Yahyi b. ‘Amir b, Ism&i‘il, of the second generation,
opposed the Caliph al-Ma’min, who had appointed ‘All b, Misa
al-Riga as his heir-apparent, thus transferring succession to
the caliphate to the ‘Alid family.3 Yahyia was crucified circa

A.H.201 while al-Ma’miin was making his way from Khuras&n to

1 The descent of this family can be traced to Madhhij, viz,
‘Amir b, Nifi* b, ‘Abd al-Rajmin b. ‘Amir b, Nifi' b. Mahmiyyah
b. Hudhayfah b. ‘Awf b, Gubh b. Musliyah b. ‘Amir b, ‘Amr b.
sylah b, Jald b. M3alik (Madhhij): Ibn Hazm, p. 414.

2 Ipid.; Ibn al-Abbir, al-Hullah, vol, 1, p. 187.

3 1Ibn al-Athir, op. cit., vol, 5, p. 183; Ibn Hazm, p. 414,
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Baghdéd.1 ‘Amir b, Ismi‘'il had a brother by the name of Yahyi;

he acted as the gdhib al-khabar for Harthamah b, A‘yan, the

Abbasid general and ex-wali of Ifiqiya. The gahib _al-khabar
was the equivalent of the head of the military police or mil-
itary intelligence.

The branch of the family which continued to flourish
in North Africa were the descendants of ‘Abd al-Rahmin b, ‘Amir
b. Nifi* (C. 124). He had a son called Nifi‘', who was himself -
an Abbasid military commander, but apart from this nothing is
recorded of his life. He had three sons, and a daughter whose
name is unrecorded (C. 371).

The first son of Nifi‘* b, ‘Abd al-Rahmin was ‘Amir,
who was a military commander and who seems to have been the
head of the family in al-Qayrawdan., He joined the insurrection
of Manglir al-Junbudhl, probably from the beginning, and in the
later stages of the insurrection ‘Amir began to quarrel with
Manglir because the latter constantly threatened ‘Amir and
insulted him.2 The relations between the two caused a split
in the rebels! ranks which led to fighting between them and
the execution of Manglir al-Tunbudhi and his brother Hamdlin in
A.H.211, The death of the overall leader and architect of the
insurrection was a relief to the Aghlabids and the remains of
the insurrection were insignificant to the amir to the extent
that he was able to despatch an army to Sicily in the follow-
ing year. Hence the conflict between ‘Amir b. Nifi‘' and
Manglir proved disastrous to the cause of the rebels. The
execution of Manglir al-Tunbudhi antagonised the third leader,

‘Abd al-Salam b. al-Mufarrij al-Yashkuri, who never forgave

T 1bid.
2 1pn ‘Idhari, vol. 1, p. 101,
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‘Amir his deed.’

‘Amir believed that if he could secure the leadership
of the rebels he would be able to gain a decisive victory over
the Aghlabids, but this victory never materialized, and ‘Amir
b. Nifi' died in AH. 214 (some say 213); while he was on the
death~bed he asked his sons and the rest of his family to join
the Aghlabid amir and seek his protection and pardon. He
thought that the best policy to ensure the safety of his family
and children was to send them to Ziy&dat All3dh, the Aghlabid

.. 2
amir.

The second son of ‘Amir b, ‘Abd él-Rabmén was Hashin
(C. 360). He was an assistant to his brother ‘Amir and was
the latter's will over Bajah,

The third son of Nafi‘* b, ‘Abd al~Rahmin was Manglir,
Nothing is recorded of his career., Manglr had a son called

l-Hasan who was a poet and a man of letters. Ibn al-Abbar

al-Quga‘l wrote a brief biography of him in his ﬁullah.3 How=
ever, his dates are unknown, .

The fourth child of Nafi‘' b, ‘Abd al-Rahman was a
daughter whose name is not recorded. She was an active sup=-
porter of her brother ‘Amir b. Nifi', and in an exchange of
insults between her brother's camp and that of Ziyadat All3dh I,
she is quoted as having said in anticipation of her brother's
victory (which never took place), that she wanted her beans
cooked by Mardajil (B. 50), the mother of the Aghlabid amir,
She may have been trying to remind people of Marijil's humble

origin as a slave girl.4

1" ypn ‘Ithari, vol. 1, p. 102,
2 1pn al-Athir, op. _cit., vol. 5,p, 215,
3 Ibn al-Abb&r, op. cit., vol, 1, p. 187,

4 ‘Abd al-Wahhib, Shahirit al-TGnisiyyit, p. 23; 1Ibn al-Raqiq,
Pe 212,
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The fourth generation of the family is represented
by the three sons of ‘Amir b. Nifi‘', Hamdis (C. 369), Abd
al-t*Arab (C, 845), and Abl al-Fagl (C. 846). Hamdis was the
wall of Jerbah on behalf of his father; he was the man who
executed Man§ﬁr’b. Nagr al-Junbudhl and his brother Hamdin on
the order of his father ‘Amir.’

Abt al-Fagl, the second son of ‘Amir, is known only
through the poetry of his cousin al-Hasan b. Manglir b, Nifi‘*,
who was also a member of this generation,

The third son of ‘Amir b, Nifi' was called Abil
al-‘*Arab; again he is known only through the mention of the
name in the poem of al-Hasan b. Mangir (C. 844).

The family of ‘Amir b. Nifi‘' apparently continued to
play a leading role in the life of al-Qayrawdn, despite the
silence of the chronicles. In the time of Ibrdhim b, Ahmad
and during the insurrection of the mawdli anunnamed (C., 661)
member of the family who was a descendant of ‘Amir b, Nifi‘
was asked by the Aghlabid amir for advice regarding the
insurrection, Ibr3him took his advice, but before he acted on
it he made sure the adviser was kept in custody until the insur-
rection should be quelled.z. This person may have been a son

or a grandson of ‘Amir b. Nifi‘', as he is described as a shaykh

(in this case meaning an old, experienced person),

' 1bn ‘Idnari, vol. 1, p. 102; Ibn al-Athir, op. cit., vol. 5,
p. 215,

2  Al-‘Uyin wal-Hadi’'ig, vol. 4, pt. 1, p. 83,
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29, Ibn Muthanni or Mathni (al-Muthanni)

Muthanna
!
]
t |

Muhammad Husayn
' 1

Ahmad (C. 772) ‘Abd Al1l3h (d. A.H. 344)
| 4

‘Umar (fl. 4th century)

This is an example of a family of obscure origin, It
is not clear who Muthanni was or where he came from and the name
itself gives no indication. The family was noted for the jurists
it produced in the third generation; din the third generation
they received their first public office when Abii Muhammad '‘Abd
All13h was appointed Judge of Tripoli.1 The . second generation
of the family was represented by two individuals. Théy were
sons of Muthanni. The first son was Abd Ja‘far Mubammad who
is known only through the chain of nisbah of his son Ahmad and
his grandson ‘Umar. ARhmad was a poet and a jurist. He was one
of the companions of ‘Isi b, Miskin and his brother Muhammad b.
Miskin (d. A.H, 297)(A.387).2 Ahmad had a son by the name of
‘Umar but from the biography of the son we can discover parts
of the life data of the father, for ‘Umar grew up as an orphan
which means his father died prematurely, ‘Umar was fostered
by a Qayrawdni jurist called Layth b, Muhammad (F1. A.H.295).3'
‘Unmar lived in the fourth century. The second son of Muthanni
was Husayn, the father of ‘Abd Alldh the Judge of Tripoli,
Nothing is recorded of this family after ‘Umar b. Ahmad who was

a scholar and a muwaththig (notary public).4

Roy, vol. 1, p. 252,

‘Iyid, al-Madirik, vol,3-4,p, 229 (B, ed.).
Ibid., pP. 353,

Ibid., p. 627.
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30, Al-pattat

‘Abd al-Kh3liq al-Qattidt - Umm HamdGn
$
T

1 1 1
Unnamed son Unnamed son 4 unnamed sons

The oxigin of this family in al-Qayrawdn is not
recorded; it is first mentioned in some reported words of the
amir of Ifriqiy& who addressed ‘Abd al-Khdliq, saying, "It hasv
come to my knowledge that you have a big family, and you arxe
an Arab; take three hundred g;g§£§."1 His family was said to
number six children, two of 'them being mentioned in connection
with their father, but their names have not been recoxded,
Their mother, i.e., the wife of Abd Khialid ‘Abd al-Khaliq, is
mentioned by name, ‘Abd al-~Khdliq was one of the companions
of al-Bahlil b, Rashid, and he took the same attitude as
al-Bahlil towards secular authority. This provoked IbriZhim
b. al-Aghlab into saying, ""that Berber [meaning al-Bahlil] has
been a bad influence on you," to which ‘Abd al-Kh&liq answered,
1nIf you had been here when he was alive you would have been in
comparison to him more insignificant that this mud which is
being mixed here."2 |

He had an interest in horse racing; he tried to
encourage this sport, even claiming that the angels are present
at horse races.3 The profession of ‘Abd al-~Khiliq was dealing

ra

in clover used for animal feed; and AbQi al-‘Arab's report

confirms his connection with animals,? taba al-Kh3liq lived

in a suburb of al-Qayrawan in the north-west, called al-Qarn;

1 Abd al-‘Arab, p. 144; al-Dabbigh, vol. 2, p. 28.
2 1pid.; Abd al-‘Arab, p. 144,

3 1pid.- The race course is located by al-MilikI at Bib Salm
or near Bab Salm; al-MAliki, vol, 1, p, 232,

4 Zpbd al-‘drab,.p. 142,
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then he moved to the city itself, Here he (or rather his
children) fell out with his neighbours and felt obliged to move.
His departure was abrupt, and he went first to a hotel near

the great mOSque.1

The biography of ‘Abd al-Kh&liq and his life is recorded
by the biographical authors, despite his having left no written
work, because his life was considered an exemplary one in regard

to worship and religious duties,

31, Haytham b. Sulaymin b, Hamdin al-Qaysi

Haytham b. Sulaymin b, Hamdin (A, 251)
-1
t t
‘Abd All3h (C. 675) Muhammad (C,.418)

The history of this family is somewhat obscure. The
information given by al-Khushani does not help to link Haythanm
to any known family in Ifriqiya.z“ Even with the help of
additional information given by the author of al=~‘Uyin

wal-l;lada'ig,3 we still cannot link him with any group of people

more precise than Qays, Little can be deduced from the name of
his father, Sulaymdn b, Muhammad (HandGn),

The author of al-‘Uylin wal-Hadi’iq throws light on

Haytham's political activities (in contrast to the information
of al-Khushanl which concerned his judicial career), since he
mentions that he was dispatched to Sicily with Q3asim b, Abi
al-Munhil (A. 250) in A, H.281, to settle“disturbances that were

troubling the province.4 Haytham did not want to go because

1 Abd al-‘Arab, p. 143.

2 Al-Khushani, p. 240,

3  Al-‘Uylin wal-Hadi'iq, vol, 4, pt. 1, p. 84.
4 1bid.
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the weather was very stormy and it was winter, but the amir
inéisted. They therefore prepared for the journey with a
certain amount of bitterness, which caused Haytham to address
his son ‘Abd Alldh as follows: "This is the result of know=
ledge and education; if we were not educated we would not
have been in this trap."1 His fears were justified, as their
voyage ended in disaster, the ship carrying Haytham and Q&asim
being wrecked and all hands being drowned.

Before this ill-fated voyage, Haytham was the Hanafl
judge of Tunis, and was noted for his abilities in drafting
official deeds., The incident in which Haytham played the part
of the representative of the amir of Ifriqiy& proves beyond
doubt that the Aghlabid establishment depended on Hanafl
scholars and jurists, not just to run the lawcourts but in
running the day-to-day administration of the Aghlabid state.2
The Milikis did not, however, approve this active participation
by the ‘ulamd’ in political administration, but they were not
in any case given an opportunity to take a part in administration
by the Hanfi-Mu‘'tazilite orientated government.3 Haythanm b,

Sulaymin composed a book on Adab_al-03dl (Etiquette of the Judge).

The MS, is preserved in the old library of the great mosque of

‘Ugbah b, Nafi'.?

Little is recorded about ‘Abd All3h b, Haytham b,
Sulaymin, He seems to have lived with his father who was the

Judge of Tunis. His upbringing can be compared with that of
1

Ibid.

2 For examples of the Hanafl participation in the running of
the Aghlabid imarah, see Asad b. al-Furdt (A, 108), Ibn Qadim
(A. 349), and Haytham b, Sulaymdn (A. 251); see Al-‘Uyln.
wal-Hadi’iq, vol. 4, pt, 1, p, 84; al-Maliki, vol, 1, p. 186;
ET—Dabbigh,,VOI- 2, p. 22; ‘lyag, al-Madirik, vol. 4, p. 56
(Me €ds)o .

3 A1-Miliki, vol. 1, p. 285.
4 Aj.tUyin wal-Hadd’iq, vol, 4, pt, 1, p. 72 (footnotes),
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his brother, who was a jurist, Both must have had the same
kind of education, even if ‘Abd Allah is not mentioned as a
scholar or a jurist in the classes of ‘ulami’, The fate of
his father may have caused him to turn from the religious and
scholarly professions to something else.1

The second son of Haytham was Muhammad, who was a
famous jurist of the Hanafi school. He died in A,H.,307 in
the deadly epidemic of that year (not in A,H. 309 as Ibn

‘Idharl states).2

1 see 'Abd All15h's father's advice to him in al-‘Uyin
wal-Hadi’iq, vol. 4, pt. 1, p. 84,

2 Ibn ‘Ichari, vol. 1, p. 187; al-Khushani, p. 249. For the
date of the epidemic see above, Chapter III, pp. 78=79.




‘Umayr1

1
1
1

Abd ‘*Azliz Zurarah Mug tab
! :
1 1 1
(a) Mug‘tab (b) ‘Abd Allih Zaynab
! (AbG Burdih)
1 '
‘Amir al-Mughirah (B.14)
1 t
1 1 1 1
Great grand- = Muhammad Wahb ‘Abd Al113h (B.17) Zurdrah (A.128)
daughter of (A. 43) ' '
*Ugbah b, *‘Amir *Amriin
Nafi* (C.109) (d. A,H,138) !
t 1 1 1
wahb *Amir (C.539) Abl al-Wahb Zuxdrah
(A.360) (A.390)
1

The paternal lineage of this family is as follows: ‘Umayr b, Hashim b,
‘Abd Mandf b, ‘Abd al-Dar b. Qugayy b, Kildb; see Ibn Hazm, p. 126.
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Al-KinZni al-Qurashi

The relationships of this family can only be recon-
structed by going back to Abil ‘AzIz Zurirah who was a'contemp—
oraxy of the Prophet,

There were three branches of the family, two of which
lived in al-Qarawin, and the third in Spain. Like many
Qurayshite families this family was split by'the riée of Iéiam
into two camps.' Mug ‘ab b. ‘Umayr b, Hishim b, ‘Abd Manif
b. ‘Abd al-Dar chose Islam, and was the first teacﬂe} and
preabher of Islam, after the Prophet, in al-Madinah. The Meccan,
pagan, side of the family was rxepresented by his brbthér Abd
‘Az3Id 2Z2urdrah b, ‘Umayr, who was captured‘gt the battle of Badr,
Other than this we know little about Zuxar@h,)except the fabt
that he was the ancester of a big family which played an
important part in the political, social, and religious life of
the Islamic west. As for Mug‘ab b. ‘Umayr, the brother of
Zurirah, he was killed in the battle of Uhud and left a daughter
called Zaynab.2 ‘ '

Abd ‘AzIz Zurirah b, ‘Umayr had a very lérge fanily
according to Ibn }jazm.3 One of his sons was Mug‘ab b, Zurirah,
of whom little is known except that he had a son by the name
of Wahb and another son by the name of Muhammad. Wahb was the
ancestor of the Spanish branch of the famil§, and had a son
called ‘Amir who was an active supporter of the Abbasid cause
in Spain. He was appointed will over the province, and made

4

preparations with his son” in Sargossa to seize power from

Ibn Hazm, p. 126.
‘Ibid.
Ibid.

The son's name was Wahb; see Ibn al-Abbdr, op, cit., vol. 2,
. 355,

T oA W=
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Ydsuf b, ‘Abd al-Rahman al-Fihxl., In this he failed and paid-

1 The other son of “Amir,

for his failure with his life.
Muhammad, was one of the leading citizens of al-Qayrawan and
played a big part in installing the Fihrids over the province
of Ifriqiyd. After the Abbasid seizure of power, however,
their supporters began to agitate in those places which had
not pledged loyalty to the new caliphate, and in Ifriqiy& the
event which brought matters to a head was the announcement of
his independence from the caliphate by ‘Abd al-Rahman b,
Habib al-~Fihri, the self-appointed wdll of Ifriqiya. - The
Abbasid supporters (Muhammad was one of them), found them-
selves working against ‘Abd al-Rahmdn, and they succeeded after
Ilyas and ‘Abd al-Wiarith, the two brothers of ‘Abd al-Rahmdn b,
Habib al-Fihri, joined their ranks, ‘Abd al-Rahman being killed
in A,H,137 and the 1link with the Abbasids being restored. -This
was of course not for long, because Habib the son of tAbd.
al-Rahmin b. Habib succeeded in the following year in taking
back al=Qayrawan and Ifriqiyd with it, and this was followed
by the execution of those leaders who had helped'Ilyds and
collaborated with him.2 Muhammad b. ‘Umar b, Mug‘'ab al-Qurashi
was killed in A,H.138. His relationship to Hablb (he was the
husband of Habib's aunt) did not help him.3
It is likely that the executions of Muhammad and his
nephew ‘Amir b. Wahb were because of their loyalty to the
Abbasids, and as a result of a certain céordination of action

between the two Fihrid states in Ifriqiyi and al-Andalus;

Habib and Ylisuf b. ‘Abd al-Rahmin al-Fihri were both anti-Abbasid

' Ibn ‘Idn&ri, vol. 2, pp. 37-38; Ibn Hazm, p. 127; Ibn
al-Abbar, op. cit., vol. 2, pp. 345-346,

2 Ibn al-Raqiq, p. 139,
3 1bid.
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while the two members of this family involved were pro-Abbasids,

(b) Al-Mughirah b, Abl Burdah al-Qurashi al-Kin3ini

It is clear that Al-Mughirah Ibn Abi Burdah must have
been a member of this family. Ibn Hajr gives several versions
of the name of al-~Mughirah which help in determining or recon-
structing part of his chain of nisbah.1 His name is given as
al-Mughirah b, Abi Burdah al-Kin3ni in most of the biographical
works, some of them adding al-‘Abdari (in reference to ‘Abd
al-Dar b. Qusayy).2 The only part of his nasab we are sure of
is the kunyah of his father, which however is not mentioned in
the genealogy of the family which is given by Ibn Hazm, We
therefore do not know whether al-Mughiraht's father was Mug‘ab
b. Zurirah or Zurirah himself., Ibn Hajar, although giving
five3 versions of the name of al-Mughirah makes him the son
of ‘Abd Alldh; assuming this ‘Abd Alldh's kunyah to have been
Abti Burdah, we still do not know for sure who was the father of
Abid Burdah, although the nominal evidence suggests the relation-
ships set out above. The names of the two sons of al-Mughlrah
b. Abi Burdah were ‘Abd Allih and Zurarah. This makes the nasab
of al-Mughirah: al-Mughirah b, Abi Burdah ‘Abd Alldh (?) b,
Abl ‘Aziz Zuridrah b, ‘Umayr b, Hiashim b, ‘Abd Manif b, ‘Abd
al-Dar,

Al-Mughirah b, AbI Burdah al-Kinini was considered a
tibi‘'i, as he came after the Companions of the Prophet and
related hadith from them.4 One of his authorities was Abi
Hurayrah (d. A.H.59). Al-Mughirah is first mentioned in Ifriqiyi

during Misi b. Nugayr's expeditions in the Maghrib, Al-Mughirah

Ibn Hajar, Tahdhib al-Tahdhib, vol, 10, p. 256,

Abl al-‘Arab, p. 89; al-Dabbigh, vol, 1, p. 196,

Ibn Hajar, loc. cit,

Al-Dabbigh, vol, 1, pp. 196-197; 1Ibn Sa‘d, vol., 5, p. 178,
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was one of the commanders of the expedition sent against the’
Berber tribe of Sanha‘\jah.1 This, however, contradicts the
statement of another biographical author to the efféct that
al-Mughirah came to the city of al-Qayrawdn to live, and
actually settled there and took it as his permanent home.2

In A,H.102 Abli al-‘'Ala’Yazid b, Abi Hatim was assas-
sinated by his bodyguards after deciding to tatoo his name on
their hands.3 The people of Ifriqiyd decided to appoint
al-Mughirah in the place of the slain wili, Al-Mughirah, how-
ever, refused at the urging of his son, ‘Abd All3dh (B. 17), who
pointed out that as the will was killed in his presence his
acceptance would be evidence of his involvement in the crinme,

Before these events, al-Mughirah was the admiral of
the Ifrigiyan navy which undertock a joint operation with the
one stationed in Egypt in A,H.98. Their activities were dir-
ected against the Byzantine empire.4

Apart from the account of the caliph's emissary, who
was sent from al-Qayrawdn to Baghdad, and who related the
reason behind al-MughiIrah's declining the post of wiali, no
mention of al-Mughirah is to be found after the turn of the
first century.

The second important individual in this family was
tAbd All3h b, al-Mughlirah b, AblI Burdah al-Kin&ni., ‘Abd Alldh

was a jurist and an eminent figure in Afriqiyi. He showed his

honesty by remaining silent, when together with nine other

1 1bn Qutaybah, vol, 2, ppr. 54, 68,
2  A1-Dabbigh, vol. 1, p. 197,

3 1bn ‘1dh3ri, vol, 1, p. 48; Ibn ‘Abd al-Hakam states that
the death of the wdll Yazld was the result of a conspiracy led
by ‘Abd AllsZh b. Misd b. Nugayr who paid for it with his life;
see Ibn ‘Abd al—l;la.kam, PPe. 213-215,

4 1pid., p. 119,
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African authorities he was asked by Sulaymin b, ‘Abd al-Malik
about the legality of the khardj tax and whether it was collec-
ted according to the rules of the shari‘ah.1 This impressed
‘Umar b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz who, after assuming the caliphate, was

quick to appoint him as the Judge of Ifriqiya.2
‘Abd All3h continued to be the judge of the city

until the time of Kulthfim b. ‘Iy&d, A.H.123, when he resigned,
prébably on account of old age and the new outbreak of the
Kharijite troubles, which would have forced him to assume more
executive authority, a situation which was in fact faced by
his successor (C.75) who was given the post of deputy wall
in addition to the post of judge.3 |

Neither his date of birth nor his date of death are
known to us, but ag approximation to his life-épan'can be
worked out from the people and events with which he wés éon-
nected: e.d., his master in tradition (A. 5) who died in
A.H.82, and the appointment of Kulthiim b, ‘Iyaq¢ in A,H,123,
which was when he submitted his resignation. Thus, assuming
him to have been at least 20 in AH.82, we are left with an
estimated minimum age of 61 years.4

The family not only held the post of Judge of
al-Qayrawin for 24 years (from A.H.99) but acquired a consid-
erable amount of wealth which included their ownership of a
whole village called al-Mughiriyyin after the name of the head
of the family al-Mughirah, They also owned a castle which may

have been a sort of fortress to control their landed property;

1 A1-Ms1iki, vol. 1, p. 82.
2 1pid. |
3 Ibn ‘Idhari, vol. 1, pp. 54-55; Ibn al-Ragiq, p. 113.

4 For more examples of estimating the length of some individ-
ualst! life spans by choosing appropriate dates to substitute
for the missing dates of birth and death, see List B,
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this was called Qagr Mughirah after the name of the founding
father of the family in al-Qayrawan.1

tAbd Alldh b. al=-Mughirah b. Abi Burdah may have
been the father of the jurist Zurarah b, ‘Abd Alldh (A.128),
However, the connection between ‘Abd Alldh b. al-Mughirah and
Zurirah is not certain, as despite the names and their being
contemporaries there is no mention of an actual relaticnship
between the two.2

Zurirah was the father of ‘Amr{in b. Zurdarah, who was
living at the beginning of the third century; his dates are
not recorded.3 ‘Anriin had three sons, each of whom wielded
considerable power in the Aghlabid state., The first son of
‘Amrfin b, Zur&rah was ‘Amir (C. 539) who was an Aghlabid
minister. He was living in the middle of the third century,
and died after an accident.4 The second son of ‘Amrfin b,
Zurirah was Abi al-Wahb (A, 360), who was an Aghlabid official
and a military commander. He died in A.,H.299,

The third son of ‘Amriin was Abii al-Mug‘'ab Zurarah
b. ‘Amriin (A. 390), who was an Aghlabid military commander,
He participated in the fighting against the advancing Fat{imids,
and was said to have left the city, but it seems he returned
to it after the return of normal life to the city. ﬁe died in

A.H., 303 during the severe plague of the year 303,

T A1-Maliki, vol, 1, p. 81, , A
2 A1-Dabbigh, vol. 2, pp. 65-66; al-MilikI, vol. 1, p. 197.

3 aAbu al-‘*Arab, p. 89; al-Jabari, T&rikh, series III, vol. 2,
pp. 19713

4 1yag, al-Madarik, vol. 4, p. 236 (M, ed.).
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33, ‘Abd Rabbih al=-Rab‘l

*Abd Rabbih
1

1
1

Abd Muhammad ‘All Hashim (C, 531)
' '

‘Abd al-Rahim Muhammad (C.532)

(A. 148)
t

Muhammad (A.575)

AblG Muhammad ‘Abd al-Rahim b, ‘Abd Rabbih al-Rab‘'i
was the first member of this family to become eminent, through
his project to erect a ribat to provide accommodation for
hundreds of people at a time,1 and with other ribdts it was
designed to protect the coast and at the same time enable pious
persons todevote themselves to religious exercises. His plans
for the ribit (Qasr Ziyad) were initiated in the same year as
the Sicily expedition set out.2 He spent twelve thousand
dinars from his own pocket, and six thousand from those of his
brothers.

*Abd al-Rahinm began as a draper in the drapers! market
in al-Qayrawan;3 he seems to have inherited his wealth, as it
is difficult to believe that the proceeds of his business were
sufficient to fund his ribdt project, and to have sufficient to
pay for his extensive olive orchards. This suggests that his
father ‘Abd al-Rahim was a rich person, whether or not he made
his money as a draper.

*‘Abd al-Rahim had two brothers, ‘Alil was probably
older than him because Muhammad, ‘Alli's son, is the authority

for all the stories about his uncle, and he was his contemporary,

1 A1-MAliki, vol, 2, p. 328, and for Qagr Abi al-Ja‘d, see
ibid., p. 70.
2 ibid., vol., 1, p. 328; Amari, p, 186.

3 ‘Iyag, al-Madirik, vol. 4, p. 194 (M. ed.).
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There is no mention of ‘Ali whatsoever, except that he was the
father of Muhammad (C. 532)., The other brother of ‘Abd
al-Rahim was Hashim, who seems to have worked in the family
business. He was noted for his benevolence and piety,1 but
does not seem to have had any special interest in the relig-
ious sciences,

When ‘Abd al-Rahim died in A.H.246, he gave his books,
which he had copied and corrected himself, as an endowment,
possibly for a mosque or some other religious foundation.

The statement of al-Malikl regarding ‘Abd al-Rahimts
unmarried status creates a difficulty, since he rules out the
possibility that he ever got married or had any concubine.2
This is irreconcilable with statements that he had a son, It
is alleged that the son died S9 years after the death of his
father.3 This gap is clearly too large, and there must be a
discrepancy in the figures or in the relationship with ‘Abd
al-Rahim, Abd ‘Abd Alldh Muhammad b, ‘Abd al-Rahim b, -‘Abd
Rabbih was the name of this alleged son, His date of birth
has .not been recorded, and so we are not likely to know for .
sure his true relationship to ‘Abd al-Rahim; if he was born
after the death of ‘Abd al~Rahim, this would mean that he was
the son of another member of the family with a similar name,

and so would reinforce the claim of al-Miliki that he had

never got married.

1 «1ysg, al-Madarik, vol. 4, pp. 193-194 (M, ed.).

2 1bid,, p. 197
3 Idem, al-MadElrik, vol, 3-4, Pe. 352 (Bn edo)o
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34, Ghanim al-Ru‘ayni

Ghinim (C. 78)
1

1 !
‘Umar (B. 23) sa‘id (C. 312)
t

‘Abd Al1ih (A. 79)
]

] [ ] .
Ghanim (C. 317) Abl Sharahil (A. 95)
t

‘Abd al=-Rahmin (C. 311)

The tribe of Ru‘ayn, one of the first to settle in
al-Qayrawdn, was of Yamani origin (a sub-tribe of Himyar).
They came to Ifriqiya via Egypt, and that is why. the sources
often label them Egyptian. Despite the numbers of the tribe
in al-Qayrawin they did not form an exclusive residential zone
in the city, although some large families formed their own
lanes.1 In the east, the constant flow of people from nomadic
surroundings into the tribal quarters of cities such as Kifah
and Bagrah2 made up for the loss through assimilation of
earlier immigrants into settled, non-tribal society. In North
Africa this was not so, as the flow of nomadic Arabs into the
city was restricted owing to the distance involved, and those
who did come to Ifriqiy& came mainly as members of armies, and
they stuck to their regimental identities. The theory of
exclusive tribal quarters in al-Qayrawd@n is erroneous, since
the flow of people to al-Gayrawadn from the rural areas brought

a continuous stream of non-Arab elements which made the mawdll

an important element in the population, This tended to blur trib-

al differences, The lack of large numbers of nomadic Arab tribes

in Ifriqiya lessened the importance of the tribe as a social and

1 A1-Mi1iki, vol. 1, p.120.

2 - . . - L
M. Talbi, in E.I.,new edition (Leid art, Ka
o 858. '{ ( en,l977): t. Kairawan,
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economic entity, and caused the emergence of classes.?

A very large part of the population of al-Qayrawin
was of Yamanl origin, This Yamanl bias must have been accen-
tuated by the caliphs' employment of Yamanite wilis from the
turn of -the first century to A,H, 184, (In A,H. 116 in the case
of ‘Ubaydah b, ‘Abd al-Rahmin al-Salaml the people quickly
forced the caliph to remove him, and in the case of Kulthiim b,
‘Iy3¢ al-Qushayri (d. A.H.,123) he was not given the chance to
take up his post.) -

The family under discussion is first mentioned by Ibn
. al-Raqgiq al-Qayrawdni in connection with the Kharijite conflict;
Ghanim al=-Ru‘ayni was one of the heroes of al-Qayrawdn, He
fought under the Yamanite wili of Ifriqiya, Hanzalah b, Safwin
al-Kalbi (C. 77).

The second generation of the family is represented by
‘Unar and Sa‘id, the sons of Gh3nim, ‘Umar was a soldier 1like
his father, and was one of the leading defenders of the city.
He failed to prevent the city from falling into the hands of
the Kharijites, and some accuse him of being a party to the
initial request for the Kharijites to intervene.2

The second son of Ghanim was Sa‘id who was a trad-
itionist and a man of piety. He must have been younger than
his brother ‘Umar because he is referred to as a contemporary
of ‘Umar!s son, ‘Abd Alldh b. ‘Umar b.,Ghanim.3

The third generation of the family was neither mil-
itary nor political, but religious, as represented by the man

who was now head of the family, ‘Abd All3h b, ‘Umar b, Ghinin,

1 see Map No. 2, for al-jund the tabagah (class) which came
out of the military migration; and see al-Ya‘'qibi, al-Buldin,
p, 3480

2 Ibn al-Raqiq, p. 140.
3 s1yad, al-Madarik, vol. 3, p. 77 (M. ed.).
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‘Abd Al15h b, Ghinim, unlike Asad b. al-Furit al-Sahniib b, Sa‘id,
had an alert eye for his own interests, and combined the figh
of Milik with that of AbG Hanifah without committing himself
to either side, Malik liked him and offered him the hand of
his daughter in marriage if he would agree to live in Madinah,
but ‘Abd Alldh refused to stay.1

*‘Abd All1&h then went to ‘Irdq where he studied Hanafl
jurisprudence and made many friends at the Abbasid court, espec-
jally AbG Y@isuf the famous Abbasid gidi, who later was to
recommend ‘Abd All3h for the post of Judge of Ifrigiya. This
appointment by the caliph proved to be rather'of a political
nature than a judicial one. Even with strong‘gglz§ such as
Rawh b, Hatim al-Muhallabi and Ibr&him b, al-Aghlab, ‘Abd Allih
managed to preserve his independence in his post with some help
from the caliph, who was happy to see a source of opposition'to
the wali in the person of the judge.2 After the death of ‘Abd
All5h b, ‘Umar b, Ghanim the family returned to obscurity.

The fourth generation of the family is represented by
AblG ‘Amr Ghanim. Abli Sharahil b, ‘Abd All3h was a jurist;
Abfl ‘Amr's profession is not known,

The fifth generafion of the family is representéd by
‘Abd al-Rahmin b. AbI ‘Amr Ghanim, who was a poet, From his
poetry we can dérive some information about his grahdfather and
about the state of tﬁe family itself, since it is devoted to
celebrating the praises of his kinsfolk.

The family continued living in the city well into the
fourfh century, according to Ibn al~Jazz&r, wh6 mentions that
at that date the members of this family still sﬁffered £r0m~a

speech defect which was hereditary in the family.B

1 A1-MilikiI, vol, 1, p. 144.

2  The Caliph al-Rashid used to correspond with ‘Abd Allxh b,
Ghinim and thereby placed him outside the jurisdiction of the
wali; al-Dabbagh, vol, 1, p. 301,

3 Ibid., p. 67.
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35, Hamzah al=-Sabbdl al-Harin (al-R3z1)

Hamzah al-Sabbil (C. 290)
1

Muhammad (A.98) Ahmad
f
s
Muhammad Anonymous
t
Ahmad (C.585) Anonymous (C,.572)

This was another family of al-jund, The founder of
this family in al=-Qayrawdn was Hamzah al-Sabb3il, who was known
by the nabaz al-Hariin, Hamzah distinguished himself in the
service of Ibrdhim b, al-Aghlab and remained at his side during
the struggle that followed Ibrdahim's appointment to the post of
will of Ifrigiy&. He was dispatched by Ibrdhim to escort the
leaders of the mutinous jund (army) of Ifriqiy&, who constit-
uted a disruptive factor in opposition to IbrZhim (as to most
of the wilis before him), on their way to their exile in
Baghdad where they were imprisoned for a time.1

The tribal origin and the place of origin of Hauzah
is not mentioned in the sources. However, al-Nuwayrl in
referring to Muhammad b, Hamzah (A, 98) calls him in one case
al-R3zI (i.e., of al-Rayy).’ That this is accurate is sup-
ported by the fact that he is known to have been a Khurasanid
officer from the Khurasanid army. This fact coupled with the
absolute silence on the part of the chroniclers regarding his
origins may simply mean that he was a Persian, Nothing is
recorded of Hamzah after the early years of the Aghlabid state.
He may have died before the end of the second century, because

his son Muhammad, who was a leading Aghlabid general, by that

1 1bn al-Raqgilq, p. 225; he was the wili of Tabnah for
Ibradhim, See Ibn al-Abbar, op. cit,, vol. 1, p. 107.

2 Al-Nuwayri, pt. 2 (vol. 22), p. 70.



570

time may have been installed in his place. Muhammad, the first
son of Hamzah, was given the command of the Aghlabid army which
was fighting the rebellion of Manglir al-Tunbudhi, He led a
'contingent of five hundred men in A,H,208, in an attempt to
subdue ‘the rebellion in Tunis, but he failed. He joined the
fighting against the advancing army of Manglir al-Tunbudhl for
the second time in A,H.210, HNear the town of Sabibah south-
west of al-Qayrawin the two armies clashed in a battle which
left Muhammad b. Hamzah dead.1 Nothing is recorded of the
descendants of Muhammad b. Hamzah, However, another branch of
the family continued to flourish under Aghlabid rule, They
were the descendants of Ahmad b. Hamzah, the brother of Muhammad,
The family seems to have continued to enjoy a high
status at the Aghlabid court, and the death of Muhammad b,
Hamzah does not seem to have dealt a serious blow to the family's
prestige, despite the silence which s;rroundé the family in the
third generation.2 The third generation is represented by the
two sons of Ahmad b, Hamzah, Muhammad and another whose name
is not recorded. The careers of Muhammad and his brother are
not known to us, but they must have had an important status in
al-Qayrawdn. The evidence of this is in the appointment of
Ahmad b, Muhammad to the post of chamberlain to Ibrihim b,
Aphmad, with wide powers.3 The other (unnamed) son of Ahmad b,
Hamzah had a son (whose name is also unrecorded) appointed
wall of al-Qayrawdan, These two appointments give us an idea of

the status of the family in the third century.

T 1pnm al-Abbar, op. cit., wvol. 1, p, 186,
2 Ipbid., p. 108.
Ibid., p. 187,
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36. Al=Sadafi

Maslamah al-Aqta‘
ﬂu%ﬁd (f1. A.H. 787)
‘Abd al-Rajmin (?)
Hu?ﬁd (C. 361)

Jabalah (A, 353)

The great-great-grandfather of Jabalah was a mawli
of ‘Uthm3n b, ‘Affan and his conversion to Islam was at the
hands of the third caliph himself, We have no indication of
the origin of Maslamah. Humid, the son of Maslamah, was prob-
ably the one who came to al-Qayrawdn as a soldier with the army
of Hass&n b, al-Nu‘midn in A.H.74, Nothing more is recorded of
Humiid or his son ‘Abd al-Rahmin. Tha first three names are
known to us only through the family chain of nasab of a very
wealthy and influential figure in al-Qayrawin, i.e, Hunmid
al-Sadafi, who seems to have made a fortune for himself by means
which were described by his own son Jabalah (A. 353) as
questionable, Jabalah b. Humid was a very pious and dedicated
jurist; he opposed the Aghlabids, and was not on good terms
with his father who was an Aghlabid official. He accused his
father of nmisusing his authority.1 Jabalah was a very severe
critic of the Fatimids, and he continued to speak against them
until his death in A,H.299, With the death of Jabalah all
trace of the family is 1ost.2 The nisbah Sadafl refers to a

village near a.l-Qayrawan.3

1 ‘Iyagd, al-Madirik, vol., 4,p. 372 (M. ed.); the madhhab of
the father HJumiid was different from that of Jabalah, and when
Humidd died, his son Jabalah refused to accept the inheritance
fron a fortune estimated to be more than 800 mithgils.

2 Al-Miliki, vol, 2, p. 16; al-Dabbigh, vol. 2, p. 72,
3 For the village of Sadaf see Map no, 3 (inset).
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37. Kh3alid al-Sahmi

Khilid al-Sahmi
i
1 ]
t L ]

Yahya (B. 84) al-‘Abbas (C. 443)
' '

Aphmad (A. 465) : ‘Ahmad (B. 99)

Kh3alid al-Sahmi is the first member of this family
to be mentioned, and he may reasonably be considered as rep-
resenting the first generation of the family in al-Qayrawian.
It is, morover, likely that Khilid al-~-Sahmi was a citizen of
al-Qayrawan because his two known sons are not mentioned in
connection with al=-Qayrawan as being outsiders, and his having
two sons in the city suggests that the family was established
in the place. Nothing more is known of Khilid al-Sahmi beyond
the fact that his name indicates his relationship to the Bani
Sahm, a sub~division of Quraysh.1

Kh3lid al-Sahml had two sons, Abll Hitim Yahya and
al-‘*Abb3as (C. 443). Abh Hiatim Yahyd (B. 84) was one of the
M3liki jurists of al-Qayrawdn, He travelled to Egypt and studied
under its ‘ulamia’. He is not described as an outstanding figure
in jurisprudence, but he was appointed to the post of Judge
of al-z5b> by Sahnin b, Sa‘ld (A. 140), Sabniin may have taken
into account Yahya's piety and integrity, which made up for any
shortcomings in jurisprudence. Ahmad was bitten by a snake in
al-Z3b while he was judge there and died as a result. The
precise date of his death is unrecorded, but it must have been
within the period A.H.234-240 (the dates of office of Sajnin)

because he was appointed judge by Sahniin (hence he was appointed

after A,H.,234) and it was normal for judges to cease to hold

1 Aba al-‘Arab, p. 206; ‘lyag, Tarijim, p. 397,
2 Abu al-‘Arab, p. 207.
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office after the death or dismissal of the person who appointed
then, Yahya had a son.Ahmad who was to become later a prominent
M3iliki jurist and traditionist. He was -born around A,H.,220 and
lived into his nineties, dying in A,H.310,

The second son of Khdlid al-Sahmi was al=-‘Abb3s. He
later related hadith to his brother Yahya, Nothing more is
known about al-‘Abbas (his date of birth and date of death are -
both unknown) except that he had a son called Ahmad who was a
traditionist and who related traditions to his uncle Yahy&a

b. Khilid,!

38, Mu‘iAwiyah al-Samidihi

‘?wn

al-Fadl (Ahmad) (C. 327)
M;‘Ewiyah (A. 83)

Misd (A. 120)

J;‘far

Ahmad (A, 472)

. The lineage of this family has been confused through
contradictory accounts of the relationship to Band ‘Abd
al-Muttalib. First the biographers are not sure whether the
ancestor of the family was ‘Abd Alldh or ‘Awn, both sons of
Ja‘far b, Abi'.-’;‘é'.lib.2 Furthermore, the origin of the family
is not cextain because of the nature of the family settlement

in al-Qayrawan,

Samadih), so the tradition goes, a runaway slave of

1 Ab@ al-‘Arab, pPp. 206-207.

2 Ibn Hazm, p. 68; ‘lyaqd, al-Madarik, vol, 4, p. 93 (M. ed.).
‘IyAid makes him a mawli of the family of Ja‘far b, Abl T&lib;
al-Dabbagh, vol, 2, p. 51, makes him a descendant of Ja‘far b,
AbI Talib,




574

Mu ‘aAwiyah b. ‘Awn b, ‘Abd Alldh b, Ja‘far b, Abi Talib, canme

to al-Qayrawin with his master's slave-girl (concubine). The
slave-girl had kept back some money from her master Mu‘awiyah
but she denied possessing the money. This incident made him
send her away to Ifriqiyd. However, on her arrival in
al-Qayrawin she gave birth to his child (a boy). She then -
married Samidih, and so the boy was called ‘Awn b, $amidih, and
his descendants inherited the nisbah a1-$am5dibi.1 Whethex
gamadilh was his father or his stepfather is not clear, None of
the authorities comnit themselves on the question of whether he
was a Qurayshite, and his name never contained the element
Quraysh ‘as a nisbah, despite the persistence in bringing up

the alleged link with Quraysh,

Mu‘Zwiyah b, al-Fa@l (or Ahmad) b, ‘Awn b, Mu‘&wiyah
was suspected of being a Safarid Kharijite2 a fact which does
not support his relationship to Quraysh, since Safarid doctrine
was against authority or status acquired through being: the
descendant of a particular Arab family.

Muatawiyah (b. Ahmad) al-Samidihi went to study. trad-
ition in the east; he transmitted hadiths which he related to
many eastern jurists and traditionists, such as Sufyan al-Thawrl
(d. 161), He transmitted hadiths in al-Qayrawdn and one of his
students was Sahniin b, Sa‘id al-Tunikhi (A, 140), Mu‘dwiyah
died in A H, 199,

Mu‘*awiyah had one son, Misda, who was one of

Al-Qayrawan!s outstanding jurists, He was born in A.,H.,160 and

1 ‘Iy&id, al-Madarik, vol. 4, p. 93 (M. ed.).

2 Ab@l al-‘Arab, p. 161, Abdl al-‘Arab is typical of the bio-
graphical authors in trying to play down pieces of information
which he either did not like or thinks the reader would resent,
and so while passing on the information that Mu‘Jwiyah inclined
to the Safarid doctrine, he adds, "but probably this is not
correct concerning hinm,"




575

left on a journey to the east when he was 14 years old, i.e.,
in A.H.184.1 This took four years after which he returned to
his home town in A.H,189, Misa studied jurisprudence and
tradition under a number of eminent eastern scholars, both
MAliki and Hanafi, He lost his sight after his return to
al-Qayrawan from his journey and had to have a guide, who was
a jurist in his ‘own right. He was Daw’.d b, Yahyd al-Sawwaf
(A.154). In his" later days Mis& b, Mu‘Zwiyah was paralyzed
and he died in A,H.226,

Abll Ja‘far Misi b. Mu‘3wiyah had a son, Ja‘far,
about whom we know nothing. He is likely to have been the
eldest son of Misi, as the latter's kunyah corresponds with
the name of the son, Ja‘far had a son called Abd al-Fagl Ahmad

whose date of death is mentioned by Ibn ‘Idhari as the year

A.H. 311.2‘ Nothing is recorded of his profession or status, but
his being mentioned by Ibn ‘Idharl signifies his importance,

for he always gives the dates of prominent individuals,

39, Al-Sawwafl

MasrQr (b.‘Nugayr)3 al-Gawwdfi (A, 201)
]
]
t 1

‘Qasim (A, 292) Muhanmad (A, 435)

Sugéestions of a connection between this family and
Masrilr al-Kh&dim (C. 410), the fata of Ziyidat All%h I and with
Masxilr al-Tamimi (A.432), the father of the judge ‘Abd All3h b,

Hishim, cannot be substantiated} they are simply based on

1 A1-Dabbigh, vol. 2, p. 53.
2 Ibn ‘Idhiri, vol. 1, p. 189,
3 Roy, vol. 1, pp. 128-130.
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resemblances between names which were common at the time.1
Despite the paucity of data regarding the relationships in this
family, and the loss of many important parts of the pedigree,
it is possible to reconstruct and link up three generations

of the family using a combination of nominal and chronological
evidence.

The only source of our knowledge of this family is
the tombstones of its members, which throw light on their death
and also on their lives., The first member of the family was
Masrir (A.202), who was given the nisbah al-Sawwdfi, which

indicates his connection with either the market of al-gawwafin

(wool-dealers) or his residence in the quarter which was
occupied mainly by the wool-dealexrs. A third possibility is
that he was a.meﬁﬁer of a big family that wasqéngaged in deal=-
ing with wool., His connection with this profession is strongly
suggested by the recurrence of the name in the second generation
in a form which leaves little room for doubt that the family!s
profession was indeed dealing in wool.

The second known nmember of the family was Q&sim (A;292),
whose nisbah is the same as his father's and who was the first
son of Masriir, The father's nisbah was as above, al-Sawwifl
with a ya’; the second son of Masrir al-Sawwdfl was given the
nisbah al-Sawwaf, i.e,, the wool-dealer, referring directly to
his profession.2 Muhammad, the second son of Masriir has his
ancestors traced further back (on his tombstone) than that of
his father and brother, but unfortunately one of the names is
illegible,

Masrir was buried in the cemetery of B3b Salm and so

T Ibid., pp. 157-158.
Ibid., p. 210,
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was his son Q&sim, but Muhammad (A. 435), the second son of

Masrir, was buried in the éemetery of BAb Nafi‘, where Sahnin
the Miliki im8m was buried with most of his disciples and where
there are no recorded non-Maliki burials at all. This may
indicate a reaction against the Shi‘i use of the cemetery of
B&b Salm, i.e., Muhammad did not want to be buried near themn,
Nevertheless, this was exceptional since members of the one

family were usually buried in the same ground.

40, Tamim al-Surtl

Tamim al-Surti
4

- op a9

|}
Khayran Miéri
1 !
' T :
Tanin (A.475) Ahmad ‘Umar (A. 277)
t '
Unnaned ‘Umar (d. A,H,368)

‘daughter (C.724)

The reconstruction of this family pedigree is fraught
with a number of difficuities, but it would»appear to be as
given above. |

Tamim al-Surti was apparently the first member of the
family to settle in al-Qayrawdn; this is reasonably clear from
his nisbah referring to the town of Surt, for he was known as
al-Surti in al-Qayrawadn, but not in Surt, Otherxwise he is only
known as the father of Khayran and Misri; who are themselveé
only known as the fathers of their sons, The eldest son of

[ - 2 - - L3
Tamilm was Migri, The name Migri is a very unusual name and

1 The burial of Muhammad b. Masriir in a M3iliki cemetery may be
taken as evidence for the madhhab of the family, which in this
case would be Miliki,

2 Roy, vol. 1, p. 152,
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B. Roy notes this as an uncertain reading of the monumental
inscription in which it occurs; it is moreover an unlikely
name for a person in al-Qayrawan in the third century. The
name Migri is given with the name of his son on the latterx's
tombstone as follows: ‘Umar b, Migri b, Tamim al-Surri,

B. Roy believes that al-Surrl means al-Siri, i.e,, Syrian,

but this is impossible: the relevant adjective at that time
was Aa1-Shami and al-Qayrawdn in any case did not contain many
people from that part of the Muslim empire. In fact this word
is al=-Surti (  &,.Ji not s ,udl); it should be remembered that a

t3?, tha’, bia’, or nin followed by y3’ in the early Kufic script

is hard to distinguish (see above, Chapter VI, annexe, fig, 24a),
Tamim al~Surri should therefore be Tamim al-Surti,

Migri had one son, ‘Umar, He is listed by Roy and
Poinssot1 under epitaph no., 73. The denunciation of the doc-
trine of the creation of the Qur!’&n at the end of the inscription
does not necessarily mean that he was a religious leader or
important jurist, but may simply mean that he was of a leading
fanily in the struggle between the Mu‘tazill school and the
Sunni school, Only three years earlier a Mu‘tazili amir had
been installed in al-Qayrawan.2 As will be noticed later, the
epitaph of another member of the family repeats the denunciation
of the doctrine of the uncreatedness of the Qur’&n (‘Umar b,
Apmad: Roy, epitaph no. 152),

The other son of Tamim al-Surti was Khayran (given,
however, by ‘Iyd¢ as Hamdan). Khayr&n is known to us as the
father of Tamim and Ahmad. Tamim b, Khayr&n b, Tanim was a

muwaththiq (notary public) and jurist., His interests included

1 Roy, vol, 1, p. 152,

2 1bn ‘Idhari, vol. 1, p. 133; 1Ibn al-Khatib, vol. 3, p. 36.
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traditions regarding the history of the province of Ifriqiy3,
one of which was an interesting account of the relations between
Ibrihim b, al~Aghlab and his judge ‘Abd All3h b, Ghanim
al-Ru‘ayni.1 The life span of Tamim b, Khayrdn extended through
most of the latter half of the third century and the first half
of the fourth, and he died in A,H, 343,

Abl Muhammad Tamim b, Khayran had a daughter whose
name has not been preserved. She is mentioned in connection
with the arrangements for her marriage.2

The second son of Khayrdn b, Tamim was Ahmad, who
had a son called Abii HJafg ‘Umar (the latter died in A,H,.368). .
The text of his tombstone has been published by B. Roy and

P. Poinssot (epitaph no, 152).3

41 ., Jarir al-Surtl.

Jarir al-Surti

1
4
]

1 1
Khalaf (C. 759) Muhammad
t 1

Ah;ad (C. 760) Sa:id (C.773) Sa:id (C.921) Khaiaf (A.511)

The first member of the family mentioned in the
biographical literature is Khalaf b, Jarir, one of the two sons
of Jarir al-Surti, who is himself not otherwise known, Khalaf
was a scholar, and was a contemporary of A,325, who died in
A,H,295, Another Khalaf b. Jarir was recorded, but his being
a contemporary to ‘Abd Allih b, Wahb (d. A.H. 197) makes it

clear that he was a different person (he was apparently no

1 A1-Dabbigh, vol. 1, p. 301,
2 p1-Maliki, vol. 2, p. 73.
3 Roy, vol. 1, p. 270,
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relation).

Khalaf b, Jarir al-Surtl had two sons, Ahmad and
Satid., Their ages are not recorded and so they are here arranged
alphabetically, beginning with Ahmad who was mentioned by |
al-Rushati1‘as a jurist. His floruit is given as that of the
date of his father because little is known of the details of
his life, '

The other son of Khalaf b, Jarir wés Sé‘id, who was a
traditionist. He is mentioned by Ibn al-Faraqgl in connection
with his visit to Spain.’

' The other son of Jarir al-Surti was Muhammad, of whom
nothing is recorded except his being the father of two members
of the f%mily, Sa‘id and Khalaf b, Muhammad., This Sa‘id was
a tra&itionist and had related hadith to Ahmad b, Muhammad
al-Qagri (A.518) who died in A.H.322, Khalaf (b. Muhammad) b.
Jarir al-Surti al-Yahsubi is the latest recorded member of the
family, He was a m.urébix.3

The nisbah al-Yahgubi does not refer to the origin of
the family, i.e., the tribal origin; if it did, we would find
it included in the names of earlier generations, It in fact
refers to his place of residence in al-Qayrawdn (Yahsub was
the nane of a Quar ter there).4 The place of origin of the
fanily was Surt,s which lies on the Mediterranean coast in
present day Libya. Many families in al-Qayrawin cane from this
town, probably for reasons of commerce, Surt lies on the com-

mercial routes from the east to Ifriqgiyi.

Al-Rashatl, under the letter sin (M. MS.).
Ibn al-Faragi, vol, 1, p. 152

A1-MAliki, vol, 2, p. 8.

‘Iy&g, al-Madarik, vol, 3, p. 310 (M, ed.).
For Surt see al-Bakri, pp. 12, 85, S

B h L=
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42, Ghifir al-Ta’i

Ghifdr al-Tali
t
t
1

] 1
al-Mukhiriq (B. 21) al-Sanadi (C. 139)
|

al=-Muhanni (C. 150)

Al-Mukhiriq b. Ghifdr al-Ta!i was a leading Abbasid
commander and one of the colleagues of Abli Muslim al-Khurasani,
the founder of the Abbasid military machine in Khurasan.1
Al-Mukhiriq participated in the conquest of Egypt by the Abbasid
arny, and when Muhammad b. al-Ash‘'ath al-Khuzid’i was despatched
to Ifriqiya al-Mukhariq was the third person in the 1list of
generals. He was in line, according to the caliph's instruc-
tions, to succeed the will and the commander-in-chief, i,e.,
Ibn al-Ash‘'ath, in the event of the latter's death, together
with the other two generals who were first and second in the
list.z

However, the magnitude of the events which followed
the dismissal of Ibn al-Ash‘'ath forced the caliph to change
his mind, and despite the removal of Ibn al-Ash‘ath and the
death of the two superior generals to al-Mukhdriq, he did not
get the post of wadli of Ifriqiyd, at least not on a permanent
basis.3 He acted as a caretaker widli for several months, and
before that he was the deputy of al-Aghlab b, S3lim, and he
continued to play a very important role in the fight against
the Kharijites. He occupied the post of the wili!s deputy
during the term of ‘Umar b, Hafg al-Muhallabi, and he wﬁs

assisted by his son al-Muhanna (C, 150), who served as a governor

2 1bid,
3 1bid., vol, 2, p. 357; Ibn ‘Idh&rl, vol, 1, p. 77.
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of al-Z&b province during the term of ‘Umar b. Hafg (A.55) and
his brother Jamil (C.142), who succeeded him after he was killed
and negotiated the conditions of the surrender which followed
eight months of siege by the Kharijites.1

In A,H,154 a new wali arrived in al-Qayrawdn, who
took charge from Jamil b, $akhr, He was Yazid b, Hatim
al-Muhallabi (A,57). Al-Mukhdriq and his family continued to
serve in the Abbasid army under the leadership of the Muhallabid
dynasty and he continued to act as wdli of al-Z&b where he faced
the rebellious Kutimah and the remainder of the Fihrid family, who
were protected by the impregnable fortresses on the mount of
Kut&mah,>

Data regarding the family after the term of Yazid b.
Hitim in office are non-existent. The reason is clearly con-
nected with the Aghlabids! policy towards the jund (the old
Abbasid army). Whether the family left the city after the fall

of the Muhallabids or not one cannot say.

1 1bn al-Raqiq, p. 146.
2 Ibn ‘Idhari, vol. 1, p. 79.
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‘Iqil b, Khafijah &
! .
]
t 1 o3
1, S&ilim 2, Sawadah "
t 1 3
i ; ; 3
(A.11) Sufyan (A.1) al-Aghlab (A.5) Silim (C. 137) g
1 B ’ 1
] 1
(B.I) ‘Abd Allih b. al-Aghlab (B.II) Ibrihim (A. 81)
: ”
1 ] |
Muhammad (A, 101) Ibrahim Ghalbln (C. 339)
 § 1} r [
*Abd Al1Xh (C.590) Qurhub (C.402) ‘Abd All3h (A.337)  Silim (A.129)
N ' H n
. . . | 2
‘Uthmin Muhammad  Ziyidat Allih (?) Azhar (A.130)
(C.387) (A,206) ! |
] | |

Qurhud (?) Abhmad (A.396)
(C.756) ' ‘
Muhammad (A.397)

! The descent of the Aghlabids may be traced back to Tamim, Their

paternal lineage is: Khafijah b, ‘Abbad b. ‘Abd Allah b, Muhammad b.
Satid b, Hir&m b, Sa‘'d b. Zayd Manat b, Tamim; see Ibn Hazm, p. 221,



‘Igil b, Khaf&jah

The Aghlabids and the Bani Sufyan b, S&lim were all
descendants of S3lim b, ‘Iqidl b. Khafijah al-Tamimi, The father
of SAilim was ‘Iqdl b. Khafdjah, who had another son besides
S51im, He was Sawddah., So far the family was outside Ifriqiya.
The connection between the family of ‘Igbal and Ifriqiy& began
in the third,generation with the involvement of al-Aghlab in
the African army, and his consequent appointment to the post
of wall of'Ifriqi¥§. The son of Sawddah b, ‘Igal was with
al-Aghlab in ifriqiya and he led al~Aghlabt!s army, This was
S51im b, Sawddah (C. 137). After the death of al-Aghlab
fighting al-Hasan b, Harb al-Kindi in A.,H,150, Salim b, Sawddah
continued to fight'against the rebels.1 However, no trace of
silimts family is to be found in Ifriqiyi after the return of
the Aghlabids in A.H.184 with the appointment of Ibrihim b,
al-Aghlab as wili. Thus the family of ‘Iqil Ibn Khafijah can
be divided into two branches:

1, S&lim

2, Sawiadah
The family of Silim was the one which had the greater impact
on North Africa with its two sub-branches:

1. Al-Aghlab (A.I)

2., Sufy&n (A.II)

(A.I) Al-Aghlab b. Silim

In the year A,H.144, al-Aghlab b, S3lim al-Tamimi
al-Murwazl came to al-Qayrawdn with the army of Ibn al-Ash‘ath
as his lieutenant. The orders of the caliph were that al-Aghlab
should take command if anything happened to Ibn al-Ash‘ath,

The army under Ibn al-Ash‘'ath achieved its aim in recovering

1 1pn al-Abbir, op. cit., vol. 1, p. 72; see also
al-Ya‘qubi, Iarikh al-Ya‘'qibi, vol, 2, p. 464.
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lost ground, but Ibn al-Ash‘ath himself failed to gain the
cooperation of his army and he was deposed by leading Khurasanid
officers.1 Al-Aghlab seems to have had no interest in the con-
flict, and remained in Ifriqiyd until the caliph asked him to
take charge of the country. This he did, but fell into the
same difficulty as Ibn al-Ash‘ath, Unlike Ibn al-Ash‘ath,
al-Aghlab determined to crush the rebellious factions in his
army, but he failed and was killed in A.H,150.°

Al-Aghlab was a member of the Abbasid underground
movement with the title of gg;;,3 and he became a high~ranking
officer in the army of Abd Muslim al-Khurasini. He participated
in dismantling the Umayyad caliphate in A,H,132, The family of
al-Aghlab seemed to have been resident in Merv, from which.he
took his nisbah al-Murwazi.4

The family of al-Aghlab which accompanied him to
Ifriqiyd was big enough to give him effective support when he
ran into trouble with his army.5 It is not, however, clear
whether the bulk of the family of Khafijah b. ‘Abbiad (his
great-g;andfather) had come with al-~Aghlab, or with his son
Ibiahim two decades later. The family of al-Aghlab in particular

seems to have moved from Khurasdn to Egypt from which most of

the family came.6

The success of Ibrdhim in gaining the post of wili of

T Ibn ‘Idhiri, vol. 1, p. 73.

2 Ibn al-Abbar,op. cit., vol, 1, p. 71; and see for the ruling
branch of the Aghlabid dynasty, Zambaur, Manuel:de géndalogie
et de chronologie paur 1t'Islam, vol, 1, p. 63; C.E., Bosworth,
Islamic Dynasties (Edinburgh, 1967), pp. 24-25,

3 Farouq Omar, Tabi‘at al-Da‘wat al-‘Abbasiyyah (Beirut, 1970),
p. 298 (appendix).

4 1pid. ,

5  Ibn al-Abbir, op. cit., vol. 1, pp. 71-72,

6

ibn al-Raqilq, pp. 212-213,
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Ifriqiy& was the signal for the rest of the family to join him,
and among these newcomers were the family of his late brother
‘Abd Allih b, al-Aghlab, who died in Egypt. He seems to have -

been the elder son of al-Aghlab b, Salin,

(B.%) ‘Abd Allah b, al-Aghlab is known to have had at least
three sons, and they all served the Aghlab amirs in various
ways. They helped to maintain Aghlabid authority by leading
armies against the many factions opposing the new regime, The
first of these sons was Muhammad, who was dispatched by Ziyadat
All3h to Sicily during the first days of his reign, before
Muhammad!s death during the insurrection of al-Junbudhi in
A,H.,210, His son was a leading statesman, who occupied the
post of wall of Tripoli. From there he was transferred to
Sicily in A.H.259, and after being dismissed was reappointed
there, after which he was appointed wili of al~Qayrawdn, In
addition to his political activities he was a poet and man of
letters, and a student of jurisprudence and tradition,

The second son of ‘Abd Alldh b, al-Aghlab was Ibrihim
(A. 135), who like his brother held various official posts, He
was appointed wdli of Sicily in A,H.221, and consolidated the
Aghlabid grip on the island in addition to conquering new parts
of it.1 Before the appointment of Abfi al~Aghlab Ibr3him, two
individuals who appear to have been his son and grandson had
ruled the island. The son was Qurhub b, Abi al-Aghlab, who was
sacked from his post in Sicily in A.H.217,2 The sequence of
these incidents is not entirely clear, but up to that time the
only member of the Aghlabid family to have both the connection

with Sicily and the ‘kunyah Abd al=-Aghlab was IbrZhim b, ‘Abd

1 ipn *Idgh&xi, vol. 1, p. 111,
2 1pid., p. 104,



587

All3h, The grandson of AbQl al-Aghlab was ‘Uthmin.

In addition to ‘Uthmian, Qurhub b, Abl al-Aghlab had
two sons, Muhammad and Ziyadat Alldh, Muhammad was a chamber-
lain to Ibr3dhim b, Ahmad. He led an army against the

1 Another Aghlabid

Kharijites and was killed in A,H.268,
chamberlain was Qurhub, whose nasab has not been recorded,
but who was clearly a member of the Qurhub b, Abi al-Aghlab
fanily (C. 756). He may have been the son of Muhammad b, Qurhub
who, as mentioned above, was a chamberlain killed in action
fighting for the Aghlabids; his descendants would undoubtedly
have had a claim to succeed him in his post,

The third son of Qurhub b, Abi al-Aghlab was Ziy&dat
Al13h b, Qurhub of whom nothing is known except that he was
the father of Ahmad b, Ziyddat All3h, who was installed as.
amir of Sicily by the people of the island. By this means he
preserved Sicily from FAimid domination.” He fought the
F&timids and defeated them and burnt their ships, and he appar-
ently established a successor Aghlabid state owing allegiance
to the caliph of Baghdad.3 This situation was not to continue,
because he was eventually abandoned by the people, who sent for

tUbayd Allah to come and take the island, which he did. Ahmad

was captured and executed, together with his son Muhammad, in

A H.304.%

The third son of ‘Abd All3h b, al-Aghlab was al-Aghlab
(ox Ghalbiin) (C.339). He was a military commander for Ziyidat
Allih I, and was dispatched to fight Mang{ir al-Tunbudhl, He was

'however defeated, in A.H.209.5 Nofhing more is known about

1 Al-Nuwayri, vol. 22, pt, 2, p. 84.
2 Amari, pp. 251253,

3 1bn ‘1chixi, vol, 1, p. 168. The caliph was quick to give his
approval of the action taken by Ibn Qurhub: Amari, p. 252,

4 Jpn ‘Idh&ri, vol. 1, p. 174,
5 1pid., p. 100,
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Ghalbiin except that he continued to serve the Aghlabid dynasty,

probably until his death. His family continued to occupy key
positions in the Aghlabid imfrah, but they must have been
deeply involved in the struggle between Muhammad b, al=Aghlab
and his brother Ahmad, When Ahmad lost his fight against
Muhammad, the latter understandably dismissed all those who
were loyal to his brother, and the son of Ghalbin, Salim, the
wili of al-Z3b was one of them. He was dismissed in A.H,233,
but refusing to accept the amirt!s decision he marched on
al-Qayrawan in an attempt to take it. On the way he changed
his destination to al-Arbus, but the inhabitants successfully
resisted him. He then marched on B3ijah and took it.1 The amir,
Muhammad b, al-Aghlab, dispatched one of his leading generals,
Khafijah b. Sufydn (A. 167) with a large army to oppose Silim.
The two armied were locked in battle for several days, after
which S3lim fled under the cover of night from the battlefield,
Khafijah followed him in the morning and was killed. His son
Azhar who was in prison was executed on the orders of Ziyadat
All13h in the same year A.H.233.2 Nothing more is known about
the fanily of Ghalbiin, These inter-family conflicts did not
affect the relations of the rest of the family of ‘Abd Allih b,
al-Aghlab with the Aghlabid family.>

The other son of Ghalblin was ‘Abd All3h, who is
mentioned in connection with the fighting against Mangir
a]_-’;unbudhi;4 nothing further is known about his life or what

becane of him or his immediate family.

1 por the town of Bijah, see Map no.® and see al-Bakri, p. 56.
2 1pn ‘Ichiri, vol, 1, p. 110,

3 Two menbers, at any rate, continued to hold posts in the
Aghlabid administration as governors of Sicily. See Ibn

al-Abbir, op. cit., vol, 1, p. 181,
4 Al-Nuwayri, vol, 22, pt. 2, p, 70,
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Vi

VII

VIII

(B.I1) Ibrihim b. al-Aghlab = Marijil (B. 50)
1

Mubammad ‘*Abd Allah Ziyadat Allah al-Aghlab
(C.326) (A. 87) (A.118) (A.121)
1 1
1 1 1 1 1 1 '
Muhammad Ibr&him ‘Umar Muhammad Ahmad Muhammad al-Hasan
(C.382) (A.135) A.142) (C.487) (A.130) (C.121)
t ! '
) T ! 1 1 1 '
Ahmad Ya'qtb Ziyadat Allah Abhmad = Ater2 al-Aghlab Mahriyyah Ghalbin
(C.687) (A.158) (A.153) (A.197) (C.429) (A.305)
: ! ! ' !
' 1 1 ) ' 1 1
Ibrahim Ahmad Muhammad  Muhammad Ibr3dhiIm al-Aghlab Ahmad
(C.746) (A.257) (A.186 (A.279) (A.196)
' ! '
: ' ‘
1 ' 1 1 0 1 ! 1
Abl *Iqal Abli al-Aghlab AbG al-Aghlab *Abd All3h Ahmad Ziyddat Allah Abl Bahr Abmad
(C.604) (A.289) (A.293) (C.683) (C.716) (C.702) (C.599)
' 1
/ . ' i
Abi ‘*Abd Allah Ziyadat All3dh Ibrahim
(A.290) (A.362) (C.745)

1 Mariajil was the mother of Ziyadat Allidh 1 only.

2 Atrab (B.105) was the wife of Ahmad b, Muhammad b. al-Aghlab and the mother
of his son Ibrahim b, Ahmad., It is not certain if she was the mother of the
rest of Ahmad!s sons,

AHRAC
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(B.II) Ibridhim b, al-Aghlab b, S3lim al-Tamimi

(I1) The second son of al-Aghlab b. S3lim al-Tamimi
al-Murwazi., He was dispatched from Egypt to take command of
the Abbasid army in al-Z&b at about the same time as al-Fagl

b. Rawh was appoinfed wall of Ifriqiya (A.H.176). He kept

out of the hostilities between al-Fagl and his rebellious army,
In A.H.184 the Abbasid army and the Tunis garrison decided,
with the support of the people of al-Qayrawan, that they could
no longer tolerate al-‘Akki, The army advanced on al-Qayrawan
and seized it after some fighting, and al-‘Akki was.deposed,
being exiled to Tripoli, Ibrihim Ibn al-Aghlab seized this
opportunity to curry favour with the caliph by restoring the
wili to his post. 1In the end, however, the caliph found it
impossible to keep Ibn al-‘Akki as a wili, because the people
and their leaders resented him, He was replaced by Ibrihim

in Jum3idi II, A.H.184. Ibxdhim was the second individual from
this family to govern Ifriqiy3d (the first being his father), .
and the first amir in the new dynasty which was to dominate
Ifriqiya for more than a century,

(I1II) Ibradhim had four sons, The fourth, Muhammad Ibn
Ibrihim is something of a mystery, because his activities are
connected solely with the east. He was one of the Caliph .
al-Mahdits commanders, and his remaining in the east may have
been due to his high rank in the Abbasid army.1
(III) The second son of Ibr&him b. al-Aghlab was ‘Abd Allih
who was the governor of Tripoli when his father died in A,H.196.
He was then proclaimed amir. His financial policies proved

" 5
disastrous for the peasants. He died in A.H.201 after a

1  Aj-Tabari, Tarikh, series
III, vol. 2, p. 911, He calls him Muhammad b. Ibrihim b.
al-Aghlab al-Ifriqi.

2 Al1-Maliki, vol. 1, p. 238; Julien, p. 47; Ibn ‘Idhiri,
v°1. 1, p' 96'
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brief illness.

‘Abd All3h had three sons, Muhammad, Ibr&him, and
‘Umar, (IV) Abii Fihr Muhammad was taken by his uncle al-Aghlab
to the east, together with his brother Ibr3dhim, to avoid any
retaliatory measures on the part of their uncle (a half brother
of their father), Ziyidat Allih, who was not on good terms with
their late father.1 Al-Aghlab, a full brother of the late
amir, gave the Pilgrimage as the excuse for his journey to the
east. Thi§ occurred at the beginning of the third century,
and the next time we hear of the two brothers is when Abd Fihx
was despatched by his uncle Ziyadat Alldh to fight the rebels
in Tunis in A,H.218, and of his expedition to Sicily in the
previous year.
(IV) Abu al-Aghlab Ibrahim was appointed governor of
Sicily and almost completed the conquest of the island. He
remained amir of the island until he died, i.e., from A,H.221°
to A,H.236, His son, Ahmad b, Ibrahim (C. 485), was a scholar
and a man of letters who was versed in astrology.2
(IV) The third son of ‘Abd All3dh b, Ibrdhim was ‘Umar b,
‘Abd All3ih, of whom we know nothing except that he had a son,
Apmad. (V) Abhmad was known by the lagab Habashi. He was
amir of Sicily from about AH.261 and was later dismissed, to
be reinstated in A.H.274.3 He was captured by the Byzantines
in A.H.286, but the date of his death is not known, The great-
est achievement attributed to him was the conquest of Malta
in A.H.255, during the rule of Abfi al-Ghardniq Muhammad b,

Apmad (A. 186).% Ahmad had a son called Ab@l Ishiq Ibrihim

T Al-Miliki, vol. 1, p., 97,

2 Ibn al-Abbir, op. cit., vol. 2, pp. 379-380,

3 1bn al-Khatib, vol. 3, p. 117,

4 Amari, p. 471; Ibn Khalddn, op. cit., vol, 4, p. 430.
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(C. 746), who like his father was a military commander, He was
involved in the fighting against the Fifimids in A.,H.294, when
he led an army against them.1

(II1) The third son of Ibrahim b, al-Aghlab was Abl
Muhammad Ziy&dat Allah, who was born in A/H,172 and assumed
power in A.H.201. His mother was a slave girl formerly owned
by the famous Egyptian jurist and scholar al-Layth b. Sa‘d, - -
who presented her to the father of Ziyadat Allih, Ibr&him b,
al-Aghlab.2 Her -name was Mar&jil. She lived well into the
second decade of her sont's rule, but the exact date of her
death is not recorded. 2Ziyaddat All3h died in A.H.223/A.D.838
(A.118). Nothing is known about Ziyadat Alldh's immediate
family, or indeed whether he had children at all, since most
of the offices of state were filled by his nephews.

(II1) The fourth son of Ibrdhim b, al-Aghlab was Abi ‘Iq&l
al-Aghlab (A, 121) who had the lagab of Khazar. From his off=-
spring descend all the Aghlabid amirs after him, although he
was the youngest of his brothers to rule IfrIqiya. Al-Aghlab
was born in A,H.173 (and therefore clearly one year Ziyadat
Alldh's junior)., The age gap between him and his full brother
tAbd Allih is not known; it cannot, however, have been very
great, He ruled the country for three years and died in
A.,H.226, He was succeeded by his son Muhammad, although real
power was wielded by his second son Ahmad. In addition to
these two he had another son Muhammad, with the kunyah Abii ‘Abd
Alléh,3 and a fourth son al-Hasan (C. 121).

(IV)  The first son of al-Aghlab b, Ibrihim was Abil

al-‘Abbas Muhammad (A, 142), who was his heir. Muhammad's rule

1 Ibn ‘Idharl, Vol. 1 F] p. 143.
2 1bn al-Raqlq, p. 212; al-Dabbigh, vol. 2, p. 45.

3 1bn al-Abbir,op. cit., vol, 1, p. 169; Ibn ‘Idhari, vol. 1,
P- 112,
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began in A,H.226, but he was amir in name only as real power
was in the hands of his'bxother Ahmad and the latter's party.1
Ahmad circumscribed the authority of Muhammad's -appointees and
eventually he succeeded in having some of them executed (see
A.,123, A,126)., He also tried to force the people to accept
Muttazilism, and so many jurists and scholars were forced to
flee. In A.H.2322 Muhammad b, al-Aghlab and his party succeeded
in overthrowing Ahmad and his supporters, and he was sent to
exile in Baghdiad, Muhammad b, al-Aghlab then ruled until his
death in A.H.242/A,D.956. He was only thirty-six years old
when he ‘died. He did not have any children of his own, and the
chroniclers state that he was unable to have any.3‘ He was suc—~
ceeded by Ahmad b. Abi ‘Abd Allidh Muhammad (the latter being

the brother of Abd ‘Abbias Muhammad) in A.H.242,

(IV) The second son of al-Aghlab was Ahmad (C. 487) who

was mentioned above in connection with his brother Muhammad,

As stated, he was exiled to the east, where he settled in Egypt

4 but the date

with his family and children. ' He died in Egypt
of his death is unknown,

(IV) The third son of al-Aghlab b, Ibr&Zhim was Abd ‘Abd
Alizh Muhammad (A, 130) who was the wdll of Tripoli during the
reign of his brother Abui al-‘Abbas Muhammad, and he died in the

> The cause of

1ife-time of his brother Muhammad in A, H,233,
his death is uncertain; - it may have been natural causes or from
involvement in the inter-family fighting, the date of which cor-

responds with ‘the date of his death, i.e., A.H.233,

Al-Nuwayri, vol. 22, pt. 2, p. 78.

Ibn ‘Ic¢hari, vol. .1, .p. 109, s -
Ibid., p. 106,

Ibn al-Khatib, vol. 3, p. 22,

Ibn al-Abbdr, op. cit., vol, 1, p. 169,

& W N =



564

(V) Muhammad left three sons, Ahmad, Ziyadat Alldh, and
al-Aghlab. Ahmad succeeded his childless uncle when he was
twenty years of age, in A,H.242, He initiated many architec~-
tural projects all over Ifrigiyd and he was well liked by his
people. At the age of twenty-eight he died, and was succeeded
by his brother (V) Ziyddat Alldh II (A, 158). Ahmad b,
Muhammad had three sons: Abi al-Gharaniq Muhammad b. Ahmad
(A. 186), Ibrshim (A. 279), and al-Aghlab (A.160).
(V1) Abli al-Gharaniq Muhammad succeeded his uncle Ziy&dat
Al13h II in A, H,.250, His era was prosperous, according to Ibn
al-Khatib, and it witnessed a surge in the activities of ‘the
Aghlabids in the islands of the Mediterranean.! Abi al-Gharaniq
died in A.H.261 after ruling Ifrigiya for ten and a half years.2
He was succeeded by his young son (VII) Abli ‘Iqal for a short
while, after which Ibr&him (A. 279), the brother of Abid
al-Ghar&nilg, under great pressure from the people and despite
the vows he had given his late brother not to seize power from
his son, took charge of the imidrah and was installed as amir
by the population with the blessing of the Aghlabid ruling
family, with some dissentigpts.3
The second son of Muhammad was Ziyadat All3dh II, who
succeeded his brother Ahmad b, Muhammad, He ruled one year
only, from A ,H.249-250, He then died and was succeeded by his
nephew Abl al-Gharaniq Muhammad b. Ahmad. Ziyadat Alldh had
one son, Muhammad, who was a leading scholar and historian. "He
was wili of Tripoli before being murdered by IbrZhim b. Ajmad
following a threat by the caliph that if he, Ibrihim, did not
behave himself he should hand over power to his cousin Muhammad

1 Ibn al=-Khatib, vol. 3, p. 26,
2  1pid.
3 1bn ‘Idhiri, vol, 1, p. 116; Ibn al-Khatib, vol. 3, p. 115,
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b. ziyaidat Alldh (A. 257).]

(V1) The third son of Ahmad b. Muhammad b, al-Aghlab was
al-Aghlab (A. 196) who did not agree with his brother'!s seizure
of power, and with other dissidents from the family challenged
Ibrihim. As a result, al-Aghlab was captured and exiled to
Sicily, where he together with his uncle of the same name
seized power and stirred up trouble for Ibrdhim b, Ahmad, which
resulted in their re-capture and eventual execution in A,H,265,
(VII) Al-Aghlab had a son called Ahmad of whom we know
nothing, except the fact that he was the father of

(VIII) Ibx&him b. Ahmad b, Abi ‘Iqal al-Aghlab b. Ajmad, who
was one of the commanders of Ziyadat Alldh III in his fighting
against the Fatimids. He was appointed by Ziyadat Alldh over
the army in al-Arbus in A.H.294.2

(V) The third son of Muhammad b. al-Aghlab was al=Aghlab
(A.197) whowas one of the dissidents against the rule of his
nephew Ibrdhim b. Ahmad and this opposition cost him his life:
he was executed following his seizure of the post of wili of
Sicily. He had a son by the name of Ahmad, but we know nothing
about him'.3

(1IV) Al-Hasan b, al-Aghlab (C.121) was the fourth son of
al-Aghlab b, Ibrdhim b. al-Aghlab and the least known, He is
not mentioned by the chroniclers and most of the data regarding
him is connected with his descendants, for he had a daughter
and a son. The daughter, (V) Mahriyyah (C. 429) was one of the
well-known ladies of the Aghlabid court, She was benevolent

and had a mijil bearing her name,4 and she had her own mawili,

Ibn al-Abbar, op. cit., vol. 1, p. 180,
Ibn ‘Idh3ri, vol. 1, p. 142,

Ibn al-Khatib, vol. 3, p. 116,

*Abd al-Wahh&b, Waragat, vol, 1, p, 96,

N =
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One of them was a famous jurist in al-Qayrawin (A.455).1

v) - The son was Ghalblin (al-Aghlab) b, al-Hasan b.
al-Aghlab (A. 305), a jurist and devotee who preferred to leave
Ifriqiyd for Mecca, where he lived the rest of his life and
where he died in A.H. 201 (A. 305).°

(VII) Ibrdhim b, Ahmad b. al-Aghlab, the longest ruling
Aghlabid amir, apparently had many children from many wives.,
Their names are mixed in a way which makes the distinguishing
of individuals very difficult.

Ibrahim b, Ahmad had at least six sons and probably
more than sixteen daughters.3 The first son of Ibrdhim was
Abii al-Aghlab, and this is as far as the references can go in
regard to his name. Abli al-Aghlab was very eager to succeed
his father and he even consulted an astrologer called Hamdis,
Ibrihim b, Ahmad was angry on hearing this, and summoned the
astrologer and his son Abi al-Aghlab to him. After asking the
astrologer about what was in store for himself he ordered them
to be executed.4

The second son of Ibrdhim b, Ahmad was ‘Abd Allidh,
who turned to study and the sciences of religion, ‘Abd Alldh
was appointed the governor of Sicily for his father. However,
Ibrihim decided to take charge of the command in Sicily, and
from A,H.284 he began an assault on the unconquered part of the
island which continued until he died in A,H.289., ‘Abd Allih

b. Ibrihim, meanwhile, was in charge in al-Qayrawan.5 He tried

1 A1-Dabbich, vol., 2, p. 353, ~ ‘

2 Ibid., vol. 2, p. 214; al-Miliki, vol, 1, p. 427,

3 Ibn al-Kha}ib, vol. 3, p. 30, The truth about the atrocities
which were committed by ;brahim II against his own family and
against the members of his court cannot be proved in the light

of the available references, especially in the instances where
no names are named.

4 1pn al-Khatib, vol, 3, p. 32,
5 Ibn ‘Idhdri, vol. 1, pp. 131-132, 1Ibn ‘Idhiri disagrees
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to discipline the ruling family including his son Ziy&adat Alldh
whom he imprisoned. Two servants, in ordexr to gain favour with
Ziyadat Alldh III, asked him if he wanted them to kill his
father and to get him out of prison, He replied that he did,
and they killed his father in A, H,289, The killing of ‘Abd
All3h b, Ibrdhim was the beginning of the end of the Aghlabid
state. (VIII) ziyddat All3h III seized the post of amir
despite the severe opposition from his family and his uncles

in particular, It seems they did not forgive his involvement
in the murder of his father. Ziyadat All18h faced the F&timid
threat apathetically, realizing he could do nothing effective.1
He appointed his friends, most of whom were with him in prison
when his father.was killed. He appointed them to the key
positions in the government and the army and accepted their
advice regarding his family, which he tried to control by force.
He sent his uncles to Jazirat al-Kurrath where they were murdered
on Saturday, 3 Ramadan A,H. 289/A,D.902, He also killed an
uncle of his who was a devotee in Sousse, His brother

(VIII) AbQ ‘Abd Alldh al-Ahwal, the wall of Tabnah, was sun-
ﬁoned to the city of al-Qayrawan where he was executed.2

(VII) The third son of Ibrdhim b. Ahmad was Abll al-Aghlab
who was a devotee and pious man in Sousse., He was the second
son of Ibrahim b. Ahmad to have this kunyah, His ism is not
recorded. The fourth son of Ibrdhim b, Ahmad was (VII) Abi
Manglir Ahmad who held the post of wdli of Sicily in A,H.283,

His date of death is not recorded; he may have been killed

with Ibn al-Khai{ib on the subject of the date of Ibrihim!s
taking the command of Sicily., Ibn ‘Idhari is probably right
when he puts it at A.H.289, instead of the A.H,284 given by
Ibn al-Khatib (vol. 2, p. 119),

1 1pn *Idhiri, vol. 1, p. 143,
2 Ibid., p. 136.
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when his nephew Ziyadat All3h seized the country,

(V1iI) The fifth son of Ibr&him b. Ahmad was Ziy&ddat Allih
who served as a military commander in Sicily during the
expedition which was led by his father in A,.H,.289,

(VII) The sixth son of Ibrihim b. Ahmad was Abl Bahr, who
was a military commander in his father!'s army like his other
brothers, each of whom had a taste of the military life in

SiCily.
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(C.420)
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al~Husayn

Ibn al-Athir, al-Kimil, vol, 5, p. 341,

2
3

Ibn ‘Idh&ri, vol, 1, p. 119,
Ibn al-Athlr, op. cit., vol. 5, p. 364,

b}
Talib
]

Ahmad
1
:
1

*Abd Allih
(A.222)
1

i
AbQ Ibrahim

The life data of Ahmad b, Ya‘'qlb

(b. al=Maga?) have been confused with those of another Ahmad b, Ya‘*qgib (b.

Fiz&rah);

it is therefore possible that Ahmad (and of course his son
al-Husayn) were members of the Fiz&rah family, and not of this one,

665
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(A.II) Sufydn b, Silim b, ‘Ig3l

(1) Hothing is known of Sufy&n, the brother of al-Aghlab
b. Silim al-Tamimi, except that he was the father of three men
who were associated with their Aghlabid kinsmen in founding

and securing the new imdrah. They were probably part of the
seventy or so people, all of whom were warriors, who joined

in the expedition of Ibrihim b, al-Aghlab which resulted in

his appointment as wall of Ifrigiya, and eventually enabled him
to establish a ruling dynasty in Ifriqiyd. The sons of Sufyan
were, Sawadah, Ismd ‘il and Talib.

(I1) The first son of Sufyan was Sawddah, of whose career
nothing is recorded. He had three sons who were prominent in
the Aghlabid establishment. They were: S&lim, Sufyin, and
al-Maga’.

(III) The first son of Sawddah was S3alim, who was one of
the commanders of Ziyadat All3h I, and he led an army in the
first year of Ziyadat Alldh's rule in A.H.201 against the rebel-
lion of Ziyad b. Sahl.' Apart from this, little has been
recorded about Salim b. Sawadah,

The second son of Sawiddah was Sufy&n, who was a
military commander; he was the father of the biggest and the
most influential family in IfrIiqiyd apart from the Aghlabids
themselves. Sufyan b, Sawddah had five sons: Khafijah, Ahmad,
Ibrahim, Abd ‘Abd Alldh, and al-Hasan. Furthermore, Sufy&n
b. Sawddah was portrayed by the historians and chroniclers as
the protector of . the Aghlabid state; without him it might
have disintegrated under the pressure of the rebellious army
and the angry Arab aristocracy which responded to ziy&adat

Allah!'s cruelty with a revolt which left Ziyidat Allih with

1 1bn ‘Idhari, vol. 1, p. 97.
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only a fraction of Ifriqiy5.1 In this situation Sufy3n was
given the command, and in a short time he reversed all the vic-
tories of the rebels and restored the authority of the Aghlabids
to most parts of Ifriqiya.

(IV) The fourth son of Sufyan b, Sawdadah was Abld ‘Abd
Allih (C.589), who was a military commander for Abll al-Ghardnlq
Muhammad b. Ahmad b. al-Aghlab., The fifth son of Sufyan b,
Sawidah was al-Hasan (C, 587), who was the wili of the town of
Wardé.jah.2

(III) The third son of Sawddah b. Sufydn was al-Maga! of
whose career nothing is known except that he was the father of
(IV) Ya‘'qlb b. al-Magi’; the latter acted as an adviser to

the Aghlabid amirs, probably because of his age and experience.
He wielded great power in the Aghlabid state, especially during
the rule of Mubammad b, al-Aghlab> and his brother Abmad.
Ya'qiib was asked to arbitrate between the two, which he did;
However, he took Muhammad's side when the conflict was xenewed
and this ensured the success of Muhammad in his struggle to retain
his authority.4 4
(V) Yatqglib b. al-Magi’ had one son, Ahmad b. Ya‘qlb, who seems
to have held the post of walil of Sicily. However, it is dif-
ficult to distinguish between him and Ahmad b. Ya‘qlb (b.
Fiz&rah) who is reported to have been wdll of Sicily during
roughly the same period. This possibly suggests that the two
persons were really one, the nisbah having been confused and
1ater authors having interpreted it to suit the nisbah with

which they were dealing. What makes this likely is that both

T Ipbn ‘Idhiri, vol. 1, p. 101,
2 Al-Nuwayri, vol, 22, pt. 2, p. &4.

3 A31-Maliki, vol. 1, p. 284,

4 1pn al-Abbar, op. cit., wvol. 1, p. 182,
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are stated to have had a son by the name of al-Husayn who each
became a wadlil of Sicily in turn.!
(II) - The second son of Sufyan b. Sdalim b, ‘Iqdl was Isma‘il
(A. 96) who was a military commander of Ziy&dat Alldh I. He
fought against the rebellion of al-jund. He was the will of
Tidnis when the insurrection of al-TJunbudhi broke out, and he

was killed by the insurgents together with his son

(II1) Muhammad b. Ismi‘ll (A.97).2

(IV) The first son of Sufyin b, Sawiddah was Khafdjah
(A.167), who was as important to the Aghlabid state as his
father., He supported Muhammad b. al-Aghlab, the lawful amir,
against his brother Ahmad b. al-Aghlab, and he succeeded in
inflicting a defeat on Ahmad!s army. He was posted to Sicily
where he played an important role in completing the conquest of
the island, but in the end he was assassinated (A.H.255).3

(V) Khafijah had two sons, Muhammad and Ismi‘il, Muhammad
b. Khafijah (A. 171) succeeded his father as wall of Sicily
A.H.250., He continued the policies of his father in the island
until he was assassinated by his servants A,H.,257., The second
son of Khafijah b, Sufyan was Ismd&‘'1il, about whose career
nothing seems to have been recorded.

(VI) Muhammad b, Khafijah had a son, who served in his
turn as a wali of Sicily (A.H.271). He was Sawddah b. Muhammad
p. Knafijah (C. 621), 1Isma‘il b, Khafijah had a son by the

pname of Muhammad (C. 540). He was one of the generals of Abil
al-Char&niq Muhammad b, Ajmad b. al-Aghlab (A, 186),

(1IV) The second son of Sufydn b. Sawddah was Ahmad (A.180).

He was the wili of al-Zab, and later Tripoli, for many years.4

T Ipn al-Athir, op. cit., vol. 5, p. 364,
2 1bn ‘IdhAri, vol. 1, p. 99,

3 1pid., p. 115.

4 Ipn al-Abbir, op. cit., vol. 1, p. 183.
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He, like his brother, Khafdjah, was one of the lieutenants of
Muhammad b. al-Aghlab, and he achieved a high reputation
through leading the Aghlabid forces in many battles.1

‘The third son of Sufydn b, Sawddah was Ibr&him, of
whose career nothing is rxecorded., He was the father of an
Aghlabid general whose name was Mujbir b, Ibrdhim,
(V) Mujbir b, Ibrdhim b, Sufydn was a poet, a singer, and
a military commander. He used to entertain the Aghlabid amir
and was very popular with him, His first recorded public post
was that of the walli of al-Arbus, After that he was given a
command in Sicily when the Aghlabid forces were fighting in the
south of mainland Italy and the north of Sicily, His appoint-
ment may have been a direct result of the battle of Mil&s2
between the Aghlabid forces and the Byzantines, Mujbir took:
charge of operations but was captured while crossing from

Sicily to '‘mainland Italy. He was taken as a prisoner to

constantinople where he was kept until his death at an undeter-

mined date.3

(xx) ~ The third son of Sufyan b, S3dlim was T&1lib (although

a minority of authors of the biographical works make' him a
grandson of Sufydn, giving Sa‘'id as the name of the son of
Sufyan,4 and the father of Talib)., Nothing is recorded of the
life of T&lib b, Sufyan, except the fact that he had a son called
(I1I) Ahmad, Fxrom the biography of Ahmad's son Abd al-‘Abbis
tAbd Al11ih b. Ahmad, who grew up as an orphan, we can gain an
idea of the life of the father (Ahmad), who seems to have died

a young man.” (IV) Abd al-‘Abbis ‘Abd Allih b, Abmad b. TAlib

Amari, p. 328; for the town of Milis in Sicily, see Map no, 2,
Ibn Farhin, p. 135; al-Maliki, vol. 1, p, 375.
Ibn Farhin, p. 135,

AL N EVI & B
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as an orphan went to school and was taught by Malikl scholars,
one of whom was Sahniin b, Sa‘id (A.140), Despite being from the
ruling dynasty he seems to have had no share in the privileges
which that might have entailed. The princes of the family,
particularly the young had their own tutors who were among the
outstanding Hanafl jurists.1

Sahniin was the first to notice the brilliance of Abd
al-*Abbis in a session of study of hadith, Ab{l al-‘Abb&s became
a leading MiAliki jurist in his own right; that is strange in
regard to a family which supported the Hanafl madhhab, since
the official madhhab of the state was the Hanafi, and the
Miliki madhhab was mainly that of the ordinary people.

Abd al-‘Abb&s ‘Abd Allih's prominence as a jurist
together with his relation to the ruling house made him a danger
in*fhe eye of the amir, especially at the time of Ibxr&hlm b,
Ahmad, who came himself as a result of an unlawful seizuie of
power.2 The first office to be held by AbO al-‘Abbis was the
post of the imdam of the great mosque of al-Qayrawdin. He faced
the Hanafl school leaders who objected to the appointment and
put forward- - their own candidate, ‘Abd AllSh b, Abl al-Haw&jib
(C. 553). They sent a deputation to the court of the amir to
ask him to instal their man, but they were not allowed to see
him because the chamberlain, a friend of Ibn T&lib, told them
that it was unwise of them to expect the amir to listen to what
they were going to say especially when it was against a member
of his family, whom he honoured by appointing him the imim of
the great mosque.B'AThe second appointment of Ab{l al-‘AbbAs was

to the post of Judge of al-Qayrawan in A,H.257, replacing the

1 H.H. ‘Abd al-wahhab, op. cit.,vol, 1, p. 226,
2  Ipn‘Idhiri, vol. 1, p. 116.
3 A1-Maliki, vol. 1, p. 377; al-Dabbigh, vol, 2, p. 161,
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former judge Sulaymin b, ‘Imnran, He remained in the post for
two years, i.e., until A.H.259, when he was dismissed. He was
tried after his dismissal and eventually released,

Abli al-‘Abbas ‘Abd Alldh was very ambitious and he
seems to have been cut out to be a politician.1 He built up
a reputation among the people of al-Qayrawan and he was very
generous, He acquired considerable wealth and prestige. His
authority in his second term in the office of judge was unchal- .
lenged and it can be said that he misused that authority because
he tried to silence his opponents and he even executed one of
them for allegedly being a heretic (zindig). He maltreated
the Christians and Jews.2 All this made him a controversial
person among the peocple of his time,

In A,H.275 he was arrested and brought to trial on
a variety of charges. One of them was that of conspiring to
overthrow the amir, The second was giving alms (gadaqah) to
pecple who were not entitled to it according to the shari‘ah,
The people of al-Qayrawdn were split on the issue of these
charges and the divisions were not along sectarian lines., Some
of the jurists who were summoned to brief the court which was
trying him, spoke in his favour, while others spoke against him
and accused him of aiming for the throne.? Abd al-‘Abbas was
condemned to death and was executed by poison in A, H,275,
(V) Abli al~-‘'Abb3s ‘Abd Alldh b. Ahmad had a son by the
name of Ahmad., Ahmad was with his father when he was in prison

during the trial which resulted in the execution of the latter.?

1 He was opposed to the policies of Ibrihim b, Ahmad; see
al-Dabb3gh,vol, 2, p. 386; Abl al-‘Arxab, Kitib al-Mikan, fol,
178a.

2 pAj-Maliki, vol. 1, p. 381,
3 1pid., p. 286.
4 Apa al-‘Arab, op. cit., fol. 179b.
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AbQl Ibrdhim b, ‘Abd Alldh was another son of Abli al-‘Abbas ‘Abd
All1gh, However, one cannot be positive whether the two names
are of separate sons or the names of one person because in the
latter name the ism is missing, and it might have-been Abii
al-‘Abbis Apjmad, If it was, this means they are theé names

of one person, Abi Ibr&him b, 'Abd Alldh ran the estate of

his father, and he does not seem to have had an interest in

the fields of jurisprudence or the religious sciences,



IX

I1I

iv

VI

VII

Hamid al-Tamimi
1

1
1

‘Al1 b, Hamld (B. 66)
1

t
*Abd All3dh

(A. 123)

Abu Muhammad

(A. 126)

Abu Ja‘far Abl al-Fagl
Muhammad Ahmad
(A, 141) (A. 160)
: :
t 1
Ja‘*far Abi ‘All
s Muhammad
Ahmad
i
]
Jatfar

Abld Muhammad al-Fagl

Abl Ishaq Unnamed
Ahmad daughter
(C. 383)

1

1
t

Abl al-Hasan
‘Al1 (C. 386)

el-Te pIweH °¥i

Turu

L09



608

Hamid al-Tamimi

Information regarding the beginning of this family is
sparse. The family is not mentioned before the beginning of
the third century, Their nisbah relating them to Tamim must
have given them considerable prestige, and although the details
of their descent have not been recorded they wexe clearly
related to the Aghlabid family.1

The first mention of the family occurs in the reign
of zZiyadat Alldh I (A, 118), when ‘All b, Hamid, as an adviser
and wazir to the new amir, advised him to appoint Asad b,
al-Furit a judge in A,H.203. From then on the authority of
‘A1i b, Hamid, as a minister (wazir) to Ziy&dat Alldh, grew
from strength to strength. In addition to his position in the
Aghlabid state he was one of the biggest merchants in
al-Qayrawan, dealing in ivory.2 The members of ‘All b, Hamid!s
family acquired great authority, coupled with considerable
wealth (one of them was rich enough to bring his furniture
especially made from Baghddd). The cuisine of ‘All b. Hamid
was famous in the city and people considered it the epitome of
good living.3 The date of death of ‘All b, Hamid is not known
put he must have died at some time in the third decade of the
third century,

After the death of ‘All b, Hamid two of his sons
replaced him, concentrating great power in their own hands,
The twowereAbld ‘Abd Alldih (A, 123) and Abl Hamid (A. 126),
These became the envy of the Aghlabid princes. Ajmad b,
al-Aghlab accused the two brothers of taking the power of the

amir into their own hands; because of this he resolved to seize

Al-Miliki, vol. 1, p. 307; al-Dabbigh, vol, 2, p. 45.
Al-Miliki, vol, 1, p. 388,
Ibid.,; al-Khushani, p. 240,

w(\)"‘
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power from his brother Muhammad and put an end to the author-
ity of ‘Ali b, Hamid's family. In this he succeeded, and the
two brothers were executed,1 despite the undertaking which
Ahmad had given to his brother Muhammad for their safety.

The rest of ‘Ali b, Hamid's family were not promin-
ent in public life. One of them was Abi Ja‘far whose-
descendants continued to live in al-Qayrawdn until the last
half of the fourth century, or later,

The fourth brother was AbG al-Fagl Ahmad (A.160),
who was a Maliki jurist, He, unlike his brothers, rejected
politics and lived the life of a lawyer and merchant, He had
a taste for luxury andpossessed a big 1ibrary.2

Abl Ishiq Ahmad (C. 383), the fifth son of ‘All b,
Hamid was a contemporary of Ziyadat Alldh I, He reported the
events that followed the insurrection in the city of Tunis in

A.H.218.2 He had a son called Abi al-Hasan ‘'All (C.386), of

whom we have no .record except his dateiess tombstone.4

The females of the family are not mentioned; however,
it seems highly prdbable that Ahmad b, Muhammad b, Hassan
al-Baghdidi was the son-in~law of ‘All b, Hamid, which fact
enables us to add to the pedigree of the family an (unnamed)
daughter of ‘Ali.

Ahmad b, Muhammad al-Baghdidl (C. 507) was, like
*Ali b. Hamid, a rich individual. He is mentioned in a trans=-

action involving a slave, which may throw some light on his

occupation.5 He had considerable influence in al-Qayrawin.

Al-Nuwayri, vol,., 22, pt. 2, p. 76.

Al-M5liki, vol, 1, p, 388,

EEEQ" vol, 1, p. 170 (C. 383),

See Fig. No, 29,

\Iyig, al-Madirik, vol. 4, pp., 413-414 (M, ed.).

th » L =
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The name of Ahmadt's wife is, however, not known nor the date
of her death.

With the executions of Abi ‘Abd Alldh and Abd Hamid,
the influence of the family was destroyed, and they are not
mentioned again in connection with the administration of the
state. They must have turned to a more secure profession,

The fourth generation of the family is represented by
the offspring of Abl Ja‘far Muhammad, who had two sons, Ja‘far
and Abu ‘Al Muhammad. Ja‘fart!s life data are not recorded and
his nane only occurs in the chain of the nasab of one of his
descendants., Abl ‘Ali's tombstone is recorded as epitaph No.
52 in Roy and Poinssot's collection but the date of his death
is unknown because the tombstone has suffered damage and
the date is missing.1

The subsequent descent of the family may be traced
to the seventh generation, represented by Abli Muhammad al-Fagl,
who died in AH.372, The continuance of this family in
al-Qayrawan shows that the Fatimid takeover of the city did not
necessarily produce a migration of the prominent people from
it, and that even families who had been most loyal to the
Aghlabids were able to continue and indeed thrive under the

new regine,

Some members of the Aghlabid family remained in

al-Qayrawin, contrary to the assumption of some authors.3

1 Roy, vol. 1, pp. 113-114,

2 One of them was the family of AbG Muhriz al-Kinini (Pedigree
No. 21), and the family of Ibn al~Munhdl (Pedigree No, 3),

3 The Aghlabid family did not all leave Ifxiqiy&, as assumed
by Abl al-Fidi; Annales Muslemisi (Hafiniae, 1890), vol. 2,

, 306; a number of its leading members stayed behind. See
ibn ‘Idhdri, vol. 1, p. 150; al-‘Uyin wal~Hadi’iq, vol. 4,
pt. 1’ p. 163.




611

45, Banil Hisham al~Tamiml

Hish&m al-Tamini

]
1
]

Hajib
t

' : ' o
Hishim (C.329) $alih (C.335)  Sahl(C.292)
1

t 1
Najm Nagr
' '

Hajib (A.134) Hablb (A.266)

This family seems to have combined commercial wealth
with religious scholarship. They belonged to the Arab aris-
tocracy of al-Qayrawdn and were of the jund class but they must
have arrived in the city earlier in the second century. The
founder of the family left his mark on the city in the ‘shape
of a commercial centre which he established and which was
called the siig of Hisham or Bani Hisham.1

The second generation is represented by Hijib b.
Hishim, of whom we know little except that he was the father of
four sons, two of whom were traditionists, these were Hishim
(C.329) and $alih (C.335). Their secular occupations are not
given but they could well have been merchants. This is sug-
gested by the fact that the family was known for its comnmercial
activities. The relative ages of the four brothers cannot be
determined, except through the fact that Abll al-‘Arab puts
Hishim first; this suggests he was the eldest of the
brothers. The remaining brother was Sahl (C.292).

Sahl b, Hajib's name has been preserved in the chain
of the nasab of his grandson, Hajib b. Najm b, Sahl b, Hijib

al-Tamimi (A.134) (see Fig. No. 1) who died a young man in

1  Abd al-‘Arab, p. 180,
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A.H.235, and also in the name of his other grandson, Hablb
b. Nagr b, Sahl al-Tamimi (A.266) who was a prominent jurist
of al-Qayrawan. He was the first individual in Ifriqiyd to

be appointed to the post of judge of al-magalim,1 and was

appointed by Sapniin b. Sa‘'id shortly after the latter's appoint-
ment as Judge of Ifriqiya in A,H.234, Hablb was an author and
wrote a book, which is believed to be lost, called Kitdb

al-Aqdiyah2 which concerned the fatiwd he received from Sahniin

which were connected with his post. Hablb died later in the
third century at an advanced age, The other two members of
the family, i.e., the two sons of Sahl, Najm and Nagr, are
ignored by the biographical dictionaries and works of history.
Sahl b. Hajib was also an influential figure in
Ifriqiya. He was a military commander during the Muhallabid
period and was one of the important Abbasid generals, He was
entrusted with the rule of Ifriqiyi by Ibrahim b, al-=Aghlab
during the intéfregnum which followed the unseating of Muhammad
b. Mugitil al-‘AkkiI from the post of wdli of IfrIqiyi in
A.H. 183--184.3 The choice by Ibx&him of Shih&b points to the

social status and influence the family had reached in the cyes

of the people of the city.

1 ‘Iy&3, al-Madarik, vol. 4, p, 370 (M. ed,).,

2 1bid.
3 A1l-‘UyGn wal-Hadi'’iq, vol. 3, p. 302, 1Ibn al-Raqiq, p. 221,
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46 . Al—TanﬁKh i

Habib al-Tanilikhl
1

Satid (B. 39) (Abii) Labdah
1 1
) i i
Habib Sahnin Ahmad
(C.269) (*Abd al-Salam) (A.140) (A.184)
1
1 [}
Muhammad (A.168) Khadijah (B.97)
1 ' ~

' 1
Abl Bakr (C. 477) Muhammad (A.410)

Satid b, Habib al-Tanikhi

The history of this family in al-Qayrawan began with
the arrival of the expedition led by Muhammad b. al-Ash‘ath b,

‘Ugbah al-Khuza'i in A.H.144,1

which brought with it the
founder of the family in Ifriqiy3, Sa‘id b, Habib b. jassin b,
Hili1l al-Tandkhi, He was a soldier from the jund of Himg in
Syria, and his small family seem to have had deep roots there.
The evidence for this comes from information concerning the
dignity and statusiwhich Sahniin, the son of the founder, had
from a person who was acquainted with the family in 5im$.2

wWhen Sa‘id first came to Ifriqiyd with the Abbasid
expedition, which was aimed at restoring the Maghrib to Abbasid
control, he was stationed at a village called Maryinah al-Sharq,3
where his son Sahniin was born in A,H,160, Another son of Sa‘'id
was Habib. b. Sa‘id, who was born before Sahniin, and he was
considerably older than Sahnin (the latter studied under him).

Habib like Sahnin was a jurist., In the second century, jurists

in Ifriqiya were not comnitted to a specific law school. It was

1 Apd al-‘Arab, p. 184,
2  «1y&d, al-Madarik, vol. 4, p. 45 (M. ed.)
3 1pid., pP. 249.
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Sahniin who devoted himself to promoting the madhhab of MZilik.1

In his search for knowledge, Sahnin travelled a
great deal and in A.H.188 he set out for the east, meeting
scholars from different schools of law and hadith, He spent
three years on his journey, returning to Ifriqiya in A.H.191,
and stopping on his way in Ajdabiyah and probably some other
places, where he taught pe0p1e.2

The epithet Sahniin was the lagab of ‘Abd al-Salanm
b. Satid; the word sahnun denotes a type of sharp-eyed bird
and doubtless was a reference to the intellectual sharpness of
its bearer.3 The first achievement of Sahniin was his challenge
to Asad b. al-Furdt and the jurists in al-Qayrawdn. He proved
the inaccuracy of some of Asad's work in his collection of the

traditions of Mialik. The second achievement of Sahnfln was his

composition of al-Mudawwanah, a collection of thousands of
hypothetical cases and his fatiwd regarding then,

People came to al-Qayrawadn from far and wide to study
under Sahniin, and his fame inside and outside IfriqiyX opened
the way for a major change in the MAlikI attitude towards
cooperating with the secular authorities.4 The appointment of
Sapniin to the post of Judge of Ifriqiyi put the Malikis in no
doubt about the determination of Sahnin to influence the situ-

ation in Ifriqiya. His acceptance of the post of judge did not,

1  The Hanafi madhhab continued to be the madhhab of the ruling
class and the aristocracy, and what C.A, Julien describes as a
mass change in favour of the MAlikI madhhab is a considerable
exaggeration, The post of Judge of al-Qayrawdn did not become
a MAliki monopoly as he tries to maintain, and even Sahnin hin-
self shared the post of Judge of al-flayrawdn with a Hanafl
called Ibn al-Tabnl; Julien,p.46; al-MiIliki, vol. 1, p. 284,

2  apd al-‘Arab, p. 186.
3 A1-Dabbich, vol. 2, p. 77.

4 A1-Maliki, vol. 1, p. 274. The reaction to the acceptance
py Sahnin of the appointment was mixed,
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however, mean his acceptance of the status quo, He kept his

court during his term independent from the secular authority,
especially financially, by financing staff salaries from the
legal taxes like the poll-tax,1 for he believed the taxes which
were levied by the government were mostly not according to the
rule of the shari‘ah, Other MZ1likiI judges tried to copy
Sahniints policy with varying degrees of success, In short,
Sahniin was the first Maliki judge to institutionalise a M3I1liki
court system, especially in the Islamic west.2

Sahniin is known to have had two children, Muhammad
and Khadijah. Theupbringing of Muhammad b. Sahniin by Sahniln
and the concern of Sahnin for his son's future is described in
most of the biographies of Sahniin, Muhammad b, Sahnlin himself

sjncluded in his book Adib _al-Mu‘allimin quotations from his

father in the field of education.3 Sahniin himself asked his
sonts tutor not to use corporal punishment on his boy,for only
encouragenent would help him, and he had great expectations of
him.4
Muhammad's brilliance showed at an early age and he
was ranked among the outstanding MalikI jurists in his early
twenties. After the death of Sahniin, Muhammad's status and
prestige created many friends for him, but they also made many
encmies of persons who had been personal friends of his father,”

His arrest was sought by the Judge of al-Qayrawin on an unnamed

charge, and because of this he went into hiding for a time

1 aAj-Maliki, vol. 1, p. 275,

2 si1-pabbiagh, vol. 2, pp. 87-88.

3 RdAb al-Mu‘'allimin, ed. H. ‘Abd al-Wahhib, p. 12.

4 Aj-MAlikI, vol., 1, p. 345; Ibn Farhin, p. 234; ‘Iyad,
al-Madirik, vol. 4, p. 205 (M, ed.).

5

Al-Dabbigh, vol. 2, p. 131,



616

until the amir himself came out in his support,
Muhammad b. Sahnin shared the leadership of the

Maliki school with his fellow student Muhammad b. ‘Abdus
(A, 174). Despite Muhammad's qualities, he could not cbtain
the post of Judge of .al-Qayrawan because there was another
outstanding Hanafi jurist who was older and possibly of higher
quélifications than Mubammad. He was Sulaymin b, ‘Imrdn
(A. 212), who worked as one of the judges appointed by Sahnin
to one of the provincial cities.1 Another reason was the
inclining of the amir back to the side of the Hanafi jurists,
This was clear even in the life of SahnGn when the amlr
appointed a Hanafi jurist, Ibn al-Tabni (C. 489), to share
the post with Sabnﬂn.2

Muhammad, unlike his father, enjoyed his eminence,
He acquired vast wealth and surrounded himself with concubines
and slaves,3 a state of affairs hardly appropriate for a jurist
let alone a judge. He acted like a prince and was in the com-
pany of the Aghlabid amir for most of the time. People were
as much dazzled by his outward show and new status as they were
compelled to admire his intellectual abilities and his fatwis.

4 and is said to

Muhammad b. Sahnin died in A,H.256,
have been mourned for four months. The amir had to intervene to
stop those who camped beside his tomb.® The works of Muhammad
b. Sapnlin are numerous, some authorities putting them as high

as two hundred volumes. This number may, however, rest on a

misunderstanding of the word kitdb, which may sometimes only be

! Ibid.

2 pA1-Maliki, vol, 1, p. 284

3 ‘1yagd, al-Madarik, vol. 4, p. 217 (M. ed.),
4

5

Al-Dabbigh, vol, 2, p. 134,
Ibid., vol, 2, p. 136,
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used for a section of a book., Among the works by him which are

apparently lost is his commentary on al-Mudawwanah,1 the book

written by his father. 7Two other books by Muhammad were his

Ad3b al-Mu‘allimin (which has been printed), and the Fatiwi

which is still in manuscript.2

The vacancy caused by Muhammad b. Sahnints death was
filled by another member of the family, from the branch of
Labdah or Abii Labdah., This was Ahmad b, Labdah who was a
cousin of Sahnin (A. 184). Ahmad was nicknamed '"the scholar
of the amir' because he was not rated among the outstanding
jurists of‘al-Qayrawén, and he had to ask for help from other
scholars when questions were directed to him., The aim of the
amir may have been to preserve the balance between the two
major madhhabs in the city by treating him as the head of the
Malikl madhhab-~he was aperson acceptable to all parties,

The first action of Ahmad b. Labdah was to disperse
the crowds of mourners of Muhammad b. Sahnlin, who were
threatening to disrupt life in al-Qayrawdn, He did this after
being urged to intervene by the Aghlabid gﬂi;.s

He does not seem to have had a wife, but at least
nine concubines of his are mentioned. He is only known to have
had two children: Abld Bakr and Abfl Sa‘'ild Muhammad, Abfl Bakr
died in his childhood during the life of Sahniin, and Muhammad
was born much later. He appears to have been the only child
of Muhammad or at least the only son, and the joy that accom-
panied his birth is clear from the fact that Muhammad (the
father) emancipated the slave who announced the news of the

boy!s birth, He was born in A,H.256, the same year his father

1 1pid., p. 134.
2 rhis M5. is under no, 18668 in the Archives section of
pair al=-Kutub al-Wataniyyah in Tunis,

3 A1-Dabbich, vol. 2, p. 136,
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died., The mother of AbGi Sa‘id Muhammad was a slave girl called
Qaritis, whom Muhammad b, Sahnin had brought from Egypt to
IfriqiyA, where her family was living. As he put it, he wanted
to reunite her with her parents.1 Eventually she became his
unm walad.

Abli Sa‘ld Muhammad continued the family tradition in
the field of jurisprudence. He became a famous Milikl jurist,
When the Fitimids seized power in Ifrigiya, Abll Sa‘id was in
the front like of thé MA1liki resistance to the new doctrine,
al—Murwazi; the Shi‘ite judge of the city, punished him for
his resistance to Fatimid authority but was quoted as saying
that "I have never punished anyone more leniently than him,
foi thé sake of his grandfather."2

Abd Sa‘id Muhammad died in A,H.307 and was buried
beside his father in the cemetery of Bib Nifi‘, not far from
his grandfather, and no doubt the rest of the family,

Khadijah, the second child of Sahniin, is described as

3 It

a wise woman, Her father Sahniin used to seek her advice,
is not clear why her brother Muhammad objected to her marriage
to Ahmad b. Labdah, the cousin of her father. Ahmad b, Labdah
had unsuccessfully asked for her hand from her father before,
and he asked her hand from Muhammad after Sahniin's death, Aftex
the death of Muhammad b. Sahniin, Ajmad b. Labdah asked Khadljah
herself for her hand, but by then it was apparently too late and
she did not want to accept something refused by both her father

and her brother., She died an unmarried woman, but the date of

hexr death is not recorded.

-d

Ibid., vol. 1, p. 346.
Ibid., vol. 2, p. 348,
3 a1-Miliki, vol, 1, p. 273,

[\V)
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47 ., Wuhayb al-Tanikhi

Wuhayb (A. 117)
1

Yazid
1

‘*Ubayd
]

*Abd al-Kh&8liq (A. 448)

The founder of this family is known to us largely
through Sahniin b, Sa‘id's (A. 140) biography. He was the
foster brother of Sahniin, From this relationship we know the
approximate date of birth of Wuhayb, viz, A,H, 160 (plus or
minus a year to allow for the period of weaning as recognised
by the shari‘ah). Wuhayb died in A.,H.221-223 and Sahniin led
the prayers over his corpse.

Yazid, the son of Wuhayb, is not mentioned in his
own right, but is known from the recorded descent of the family,
The same applied to ‘Ubayd, his son.

AbG Bakr ‘Abd al-Kh3liq who represents the fourth
generation of the family in al-Qayrawdn is known to us from
his tombstone, which is dated Tuesday, the fifth of Muharram,

of the year three hundred and eight of the Hijrah.2

—_-—-—---—--——_———-———-———-—--—--————-------—-------_---------
- -

48 . Sinan al-Tayni

Al-Mu‘tammar b, Sindn (A. 61)
1

‘Amir (C. 291)
!

Ahmad (C. 300)

The first known member of this family in al-Qayrawin
js al-Mu‘ammar b. Sinan. He served as an adviser to Yazid b,

Hatim al-Muhallabi and died about A,H,177,i.e., before the

T A1-Dabbich, vol. 2, p. 93.
2 Roy, vol. 1, pPP. 204-205,
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struggle for power between the Muhallabl family and the rebel-
lious leaders of the jund.

‘Amir b. al-Mu‘ammar b, Sindn did not play any part
in the civil strife either, and the first mention we have of
him is as chief of police for Ibrdhim b. al-Aghlab, Their
loyalty to both the Muhallabids and the Aghlabids was absolute
and this nay be interpreted as a sign of the small size of the
family; Taym itself was a small tribe, even in its original
form in Arabia,1 and those who settled in al-RQayrawadn were
undoubtedly even fewer in number,

‘Anir was appointed by the Aghlabid amir as w&Zll of
Qastiliyah,? and fron there he and other commanders of the
original army, which helped Ibr&him establish himself in Ifriqiy3,
rebelled against their ex-colleague and new master. They might
have been antagonized by the policy of Ibr3ihim towards the army
and its leaders, which he was in the process of replacing by an
army of black mercenaries and slaves. The rebellion was crushed
by Ibrihim b. al-Aghlab and ‘Amir and the leaders of the rebel-
1ion fled to the province of al-Zdb. They asked IbridhiIm to
forgive them for what they had done and he agreed,

The third generation of the family in al-Qayrawin is
represented by Ahmad about whom we know nothing. Ahmad had a
son who was an author.3 Apart from this, nothing is known about

Ahmad, or indeed about Hamzah b. Apmad b. ‘Anir.,

1  1pn Hazm, p. 199. Taym was a sub-division of Mugar.
2  Ipn al-Abbir, op. cit., vol. 1, p. 106,
3  1pid., p. 107.
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49, Al-Wakil

‘Ubayd b. Ahmad ~ Unnamed sister (C. 794) of Yazid b, Sinin

1
t
t

Abd Bakr (C. 796) Abl Sa‘id ‘Abd al-Rahm3n (C. 792)
'
' i
al-Husayn (A. 464) al-Hasan
(A. 800)

The nasab of the family is as follows: ‘Ubayd b,
Ahmad b, al-Hakam b. 'Isd b. ‘Abbid al-Bagri al-Wakil. The
fanily seems to have been well established in al-Qayrawin from
a very early period, but biographers are not very clear on
this point. The above pedigree starts with ‘Ubayd, as being
the first member of the family who can be proved to have been
a resident of al=-Qayrawédn, but it is quite probable that the
fanily had already been settled there for several generations,

The family came originally from al-Bagrah and was
probably connected with either of two famous jurists whose
families had come to al-Qjayrawdn and bore the name ‘AbbAd
al-BagrI. They were 'Abbad b. Kathir' and ‘Abbad b. ‘Abd
al-Samad al—Basri.2 The nisbah al-Wakil (agent) indicates the
family occupation. They may have been working as middlemen
in the trade between Ifrigiya on one hand and Egypt and the
east on the other. The occupation of wakll is attested else-
where in al-Qayrawdn since we know of several other people who
acted as agents for Egyptian merchants,

The first member of the family to have part of his
1ife data recorded was Abl Sa‘'id ‘Abd al-Rahm&n b. ‘Ubayd

(C.799) who was a very rich man, He was a well-known traditionist,

1 «Abb&d b. Kathir, a traditionist d. A,H.150; 1Ibn Hajar,
Tahdhib al-Tahdhib, vol. 5, p. 100,

2  «pAbbad b, ‘Abd al-Samad al-Bagri, He settled in al-Qayrawin
for a time before moving to the south of Ifriqiyi and the city
of Qastiliyah; al-Maliki, vol, 1, p. 87,
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The second son of ‘Ubayd was Abi Bakr (C., 796) al-Wakil, who
was living in the same neighbourhood as the AbG Sa‘id who seems
to have been his brother, but he'was less well known than the
latter,

The mother of Abii Sa'id was the sister of Yazid b,
Sinin, a member of what seems to have been an influential
family, about which little is recorded.1

AblT Sa‘'id ‘Abd al-Rahmin died during the early years
of the ﬁatimid state, and left a fortune for his two sons, How-
ever; the authorities decided to confiscate part of the legacy.
The minister responsible for finance took forty thousand
mithgals,z probably in gold, in addition to jewellery and
clothes.

The two sons of Abd Sa‘id 'Abd al-Rahmin were Abl
Muhannad al-ljasan and Abld ‘Ali Husayn. AbU Muhammad al-Hasan
(A.464) waé the man who was in charge of the family wealth when
his father died. He was an author and a man of letters, but
other than this information provided by a:L-Khusl'Aan’;i.,:'3 we know
very little about him.

The second son was Abli *All Husayn b. AbI Sa‘ld ‘Abd
al_Rahman, who was an iméortant authority on the history of

North Africa. His book al-Kitib al-Mu'rib ‘an Akhbir al-Machrib®

4s widely quoted by the authors of biographical literaturxe, but

the book itself is, sadly, believed to be lost.,

1  pAjl-Khushani, pp. 228-229; see also Ibrdhlm b. Sini&n (C. 437).

2 Aj-Khushanl states that the three government officials who
took the goods from al-Hasan b, 'Abd al-Rahmin did this by
force, which suggests illicit confiscation, However, it may
well be that some kind of regular death duty was being levied,

3 Ibido, P- 229'

4 1bn al-Ab?ar{ 22;_%%32% vol. 1; P. 50; ‘Abd al-wahh3b,
i . tnote :
S?_B_.'_C_]_-_!:_. 3 VOdi. ? p Q0 e
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50, Al-Yahsubl

Masriiq al=Yahgsubl
?

t
1

t !
Yazid (C. 15) Muhammad (C. 29)
'

‘Unar (C. S2)

Masriiq al-Yahgubi was a military commander in Mdsi b,
Nusayr's army. He was very close to Misa, who made him his
deputy and governor in his absence. From the data available
about C.29 the extent of the family wealth may be realized.1
How this wealth, which included entire villages, was acquired
is not at all clear. Ibn Qutaybah is the first historian to
hint at the answer, He states that the basis of the family
fortune was the salvage of the ships of the naval expedition
of ‘*Ata! b. Rafi‘, which were wrecked in A.H.84.2 Yazid the
son of Masrliq was despatched to the place where the wrecking
took place. He acquired many valuable items from the wreckage,
which made him and his family rich. Whether this was approved
by Misd b, Nugayr or not is not recorded.

The fortunes of this family,however, suffered a decline.
Misi b. Nugayr, the man behind the success of the family, was
disgraced and dismissed, and his family,agents, and friends were
persecuted.3 Their property was confiscated and they were lucky
to escape with their lives, This family is not likely to have
escaped the aftermath of Misa's disgrace, especially in view

4

of their role in his administration. The biographers record

the family's giving away their estate; this was done by

Al-Maliki, vol, 1, p. 126; al-Dabbiagh, vol, 1, p. 329,
Ibn Qutaybah, pt. 2, p. 57.

Ibn ‘Idhari, vol, 1, pp. 47, 49,

Ibn ‘Abd al-Hakam, p. 215,

AW N -1
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Muhammad b. Masxliq, to their tenants. It may be that they
were under pressure by the w3li to give their land back to the
wili but instead of doing that they preferred to leave it for
their emancipated slaves who were occupying it. Muhammad b.
Masriiq, who was nicknamed al-Zdhid (Ascetic) may have been
motivated to free his slaves and give away his inherited wealth
because of his religious convictions and because (as is clear
from the account of Ibn Qutaybah) the original source of the
wealth was somewhat questionable.

After this the family led a life of religious devotion,
Both branches of the family of Masrliq, i.e., ‘Umar b, Yazld
;nd Muhammad b. Masrlig turned to a life of asceticism, and
Muhammad eventually emigrated to Alexandria in search of a
quieter 1ife.1 Yazid b, Masriig, who was the son of Masrilq and
an important army commandex of Misa b. Nugayr, is mentioned
many times by historians and biographical authors in connection
ﬁith his hadith, which he related to Misi b, Nu§ayr.2 The fate
of ‘Umar the son of Yazid is unknown. After this the family
appears to have received no further rention on the part of the

biographers, and it is doubtful whether they continued to live

in al-Qayrawan,

T  A1-Maliki, vol. 1, pp. 126-127,
2 Ibn al-Faragi, vol. 2, PPR. 18-19,




Chapter IX

CONCLUSIONS

The present dissertation has sought to study the
people of al-Qayrawan in the first two and a half centuries
of the city'!s existence, first from the aggregative point of
view, in regard to the size and growth of the population, ang
secondly from the point of view of all known citizens, against
the geographical, historical, and economic background of the
city.

In regard to the geographical background it can ba
shown that much more of the early plan of the city can be
reconstructed than has hitherto been attempted. This involves
the use of the information regarding features of the city to
be found scattered through the works of biographical literaturec,
The surviving monuments of the city helped us determine the
. locations of these features,

The economic background of the city is highlighted
here by the role of al-Qayrawan as a commercial centre and
as the centre of all the trade routes which converged from
all over the Islamic world and the old world. The econonic
packground to the people is studied in Chapter VII, and rec=-

flects the trades and occupations for which the city was
renowned,

The study here presented of the historical background

625
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deals with the political atmosphere which the people were living
in. This includes historical events which must have had effects
on the growth of the city.

In regard to an aggregative assessment of population
it is clear that previous attempts to arrive at the approx-
imate size of the population must be adjudged failures, All
have failed to take into account the diversities of the city
and its population. A tentative assessment may however be
made which takes into account all the results of the population
assessment procedures, adding to this the approximate number
of the population which seems to have been given by a conten-
porary authority, and also making allowances for the loopholes
in the procedures mentioned above (pp. 89-97), The number
reached is around 60,000 inhabitants,

In regard to the known citizens of the city, we have
- compiled the names of over 1,600 individuals who are assumed
to have been permanent settlers., The majority of these
individuals represent the continuous presence of large families
about whom we know very little.

Despite this apparent difference between the
approximate size of the population and the known citizens of
the city (the ratio of the known inhabitants to the estimated
© total is around 1 : 20 in the third century, and 1: 100 over
the whole period of two and a half centuries), this figure
is representative of the trends of the population changes
especially the fluctuation of the death rate in list A,
especially during the plague epidemics. This figure is high
“compared not only with the European cities of comparable siza

and time, but also with other Islamic cities which wore mora

>‘prominent than al-Qayrawan.
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In the listing of known citizens of the city, it
has been demonstrated that a simple abstracting of the relev-
ant names from biographical and historical works is quite
inadequate, and may in many cases be totally misleading. It
is only through a procedure which involves comparison between
the data of different works of biographical literature and
through the use of epigraphical evidence, where available,
that the valuable evidence contained in them can be exploited.
The crucial problem here is the identification of individuals
in the past, and space corresponding to the importance of this
problen has been'accorded it (Chapter V). The chief function
of the procedure of identification is to avoid recording the
same individual under éifferent forms of his name or in
different contexts.
Study of known individuals shows that we can discover
a great deal regarding the ways in which men made their living
in al-Qayrawan. The bias in the sources in favour of ‘ulanX’
has by no means excluded the recording of a very wide rango
of occupations, trades and professions: 115 different occu-
pations are recorded here as having been pursued at some time
during the period A.D. 667-909. This compares with the figura
of 410 given by H.J. Cohen for the occupations of jurisprudents
during the first five centuries of Islam (i.e,, to circa A,D.
1100) throughout the whole of the east, including Egypt.
| The analyses of the people's racial and geographical
packgrounds gives us an insight into the racial formation of
al-Qayrawin. Many factors played their role in this formation,
such as the importing of slaves from Europe and the Sahara, the
| armies of the conquest, which itself had a variety of racial

formations, and the rural migration to the city coupled with
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a flow of people from all parts of North Africa to the city
in search of knowledge or to make a living,

The study of the population and the known citizens
leads to the study of the most important unit in the community,
+i.e., the fanily., This includes establishing the connections
ahd relationships, and from there sets out to reconstruct the
individuals with common backgrounds and data in separate
family pedigrees. To each pedigree there has been appended
a history of the family, its status, and its duration in the
social scale through many generations and different political
climates, The short history of each family includes if possible
the origin of the family and its religious affiliations, the
history of its settlement in the city and the circumstances
which led to its settlement., It élso takes into account the

"duration of the family in the same occupation, and the causes

behind the changing of occupations.
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Appendix I

Tribal Affiliations of Individuals listed in Chapter VI

Name Yamanite Qaysite Berber No, of mentions
1. 'Abd al-Qays - * - 1
2, ‘Abs - * - 2
3. ‘Akk - * - 2
4, al-Angar * - - 18
5. - Asad - * - 6
6, - Ash‘'ar * - - 8
7. Aslam - *7 - 2
8., Azd * - - 52
9, Bahilah - * - 1
1 Oo Bali * - - 2
11, Bujaylah * - - 3
12, Butmah - - * 1
13, Daghash * - - 5
14, Rabbah * - - 2
15, Fizarah - * - 18
16, Ghafiq - * - 7
1, For the early history of this tribe, see Ibn [azm, pp, 295-296,
2, Ibid., p. 250,

3, 1Ibid., pp. 328-329,

4, 1Ibid., p. 332,

5 [ ] Ibid. F) p * 1 92 .

6. Ibid., p. 397.

Ibid., pp. 240-241,
Ibid., p. 267.
Ibid., p. 245.
Ibid., pp. 441-442,
Ibid., pp. 387-388,

Ibn Khaldidn, vol., 7, pp. 248-250,
Ibn al-Athir, al-Lub3b, vol, 1, p. 503.

Ibn Hazm, p. 203,
Ibid., pp. 255-259,

Ibid., pp. 329, 440,
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Yamanite
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Qavsite

Berber

No.

of mentions

17. Ghasséan

18,
19,
2cC,
21,
22,
23,
24,
25,
26,
27.
28,
29,
30.
31,
32,
33.
34.

35.

Ghifar
Hadramawt
Harash
Hamadan
Banli Hanlfah
Hawwarah
Himyar
Hudhayl
Jaxr&wah
Judhan
Juhaynah
Kalb
Khatht'anm
Khawlan
Khushayn
Khuza‘ah
Kiia®

Kindnah

*

*

11
1

O N W b = A h O

-

17.
18.
19,
20,
21,
22,
23.
24,
25,
26,
27.
28,
29,
30.
31,
32,
33,
34,

35.

Ibid., ppo 472"4740

1bid.,, p. 186.

Ibn Hazm, p. 479.

Ibn al-Athir, al~-Lubdb, vol.

Ibn Hazm, pp. 392-395,

Ibid., p. 309.
Ibid. ’ p. 500.

Ibid., pp. 432-438,
Ibid., pp. 196-198,
Ibn Khaldin, vol., 6, p. 432,
Ibn Hazm, pp. 320-321,
Ibid., pp. 444-445,

Ibid., pp.

455-460,

Ibid., pp. 390-392,

Ibid., p. 418,
455,
480,

Ibid., p.
ibid., p.

1, p. 357,

Kahhalah, Mu‘jam Qaba’il al-‘Arab, vol, 3 (Beirut, 1968),

P. 9900,

Ibn Hazm, p. 465.
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Berber

No, of mentions

36.
37.
38.
39,
40,
41,
42,
43,
44.
45.
46.
47.
48,
49,
50,
51,
52,
53.

54,

Kindah
Kutamah
Lakhm
Lawatah
Layth
Lihyan
Madhhaj
Malzuzah
Maharah
Miknasah
Mu‘*afir
Murad
Naffiisah
Nafzah
Nahshal
(deleted)
Qataban
Qays
Quda tah

*

*

20
1
31

20

36.
37.
38,
39,
40.
41,
42,
43,
44,
45,
46,
47,
48.
49,
50.
51,
52,
53,
54,

Ibid. » pp. 425"429.
Ibid., pp. 495, 501,
Ibig' 9 ppo 422"425.

Ibid., p.
Ibid., p.

448.
443,

Ibid., pp. 196-197.

Ibid., pp.

475-477.

ibid., pp. 496, 498,

Ibid., p.

485,

Ibid., pp. 496, 498.

Ibid., p.

485.

Ibid.’ pp. 406-4070

Ibid., p.
Ibid., p.
Ibid., p.

(deleted)

Kahhalah,
Ibid., p.
Ibid., p.

496.
497.
456,

vol. 3, p.
972,
957.

938,
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Name Yamanite Qaysite Berber No,. of mentions
55, Quraysh - * - 104
56, Rabi‘ah - * - 26
57. Ru‘ayn * - - 19
59, Sa‘d * - - 1
60. Saddinah - - * 1
61, Saliil - * - 3
62, Shayban - * - 2
63, Tamim - * - 145
64, Tanikh * - - 11
65, Taym (al-Rabib) - * - S
66, Tayy * - - 8
67 . Thaqif - I - 2
68. Tujib * - - 13
69, Warfajimah - - * 1
70. Yahsub * - - 1
71 . Z3k - - * 4
72. Zanatah - - * 3
73. Zawdawah * - - 12
55. Ibigo’ pp. 947-951 °

56, Ibid.

57, Ibn Hazm, p. 438,

59, Ibid., p. 515,

60, Ibn Khaldlin, vol, 6, p. 239,

61 . Ibn Hazm, p. 540,

62, Ibid., p. 622.

63. I(al}bala.h [ [ Clt *) VOl 3 pp. 1 25"'1 32 Py

64' Ibid-, P. 1 3.

65. Ibid., p. 137.

66, Ibid., vol. 2, pp. 689-691,

67. lbid., vol, 1, pp. 148-151,

68, 1lbid., p. 116.

69. Ibn Khaldiin, vol, 6, pp. 224-225.

70. Kahhilah, op, cit., vol. 3, p. 1260,

71 . Ibn Khaldun, vol, 6, pP. 284. ‘

72. Ibid., pp. 214-220,

73. Ibid., pp. 261-262,
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